## An engineering approach to personal protective equipment: An analysis of the PPE, noncompliance issues and the methodology to predict non-compliance

by

## Fatima Mgaedeh

A dissertation submitted to the graduate faculty

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

## DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Major: Industrial Engineering

Program of Study Committee: Richard T. Stone, Major Professor Kris M. De Brabanter Stephen Gilbert Cameron Mackenzie Kyung J. Min

The student author, whose presentation of the scholarship herein was approved by the program of study committee, is solely responsible for the content of this dissertation. The Graduate College will ensure this dissertation is globally accessible and will not permit alterations after a degree is conferred.

Iowa State University

Ames, Iowa

2024

Copyright © Fatima Mgaedeh, 2024. All rights reserved.

#### **DEDICATION**

#### I dedicate this dissertation to:

My parents, Mr. Zeyad Mgaedeh and Mrs. Iftikhar Abdel-All, who have been a constant source of inspiration and support throughout my life. Although my dad passed away before I began my graduate program at Iowa State University, his words of encouragement and his unwavering belief in my abilities still echo in my mind, giving me the motivation and drive to pursue my dreams. His guidance has been invaluable in shaping the person I am today, and I owe him a debt of gratitude that I can never repay. My mother has been my rock, my confidant, and my everything in this world. She has worked tirelessly to raise us by herself and has always been there to lend a listening ear, push me toward my goals, and provide me with endless love and support. Her unwavering faith in me and her constant prayers have been instrumental in helping me achieve my dreams. Without her love and guidance, the present study would have remained a mere dream.

I am grateful to my sisters, Sara and Ala'a, for their unwavering love and support. They have been my constant companions, providing me with encouragement during my highs and lows. I fondly recall how they lifted my spirits during my difficult times by singing, acting, and telling jokes, which brought a smile to my face and comfort to my heart.

My Special Husband, Mr. Mohammad ALZawateen. He has been my rock throughout this entire journey, providing me with the unwavering love, patience, and understanding that I needed to stay focused and motivated. During the many long days and sleepless nights spent working on this project, my husband was always there to lend a listening ear, provide a comforting presence, and offer words of encouragement. His belief in me and my abilities has never wavered, even when I was struggling with self-doubt and uncertainty.

ii

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	v
LIST OF FIGURES	vii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	viii
ABSTRACT	ix
CHAPTER 1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
Research Motivation	1
Dissertation Organization	1
CHAPTER 2. A REVIEW OF PPE USAGE AND ITS IMPACT ON RISK AND	
PERFORMANCE	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Background	
Issues	
Compliance	
PPE adverse effect	
Double masking	
Human Limitations and Capabilities	
Strategy to Select Personal Protective Equipment	
Discussion	
Conclusion and Future Work	
Disclosure Statement	
References	
CHAPTER 3. THE IMPACT OF DIFFERENT MASK TYPES ON HUMAN	
PERFORMANCE: A STUDY ON SURGICAL, COTTON, AND DOUBLE MASKS FO	
COVID-19 PROTECTION.	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Methodology	
Ethics statement	
Participants	
Independent and dependent variables	
Experimental tasks and procedure	
Statistical analysis	
Results	
Fine motor dexterity	
Gross motor dexterity	
The cognitive test	

Subjective feedback analysis	60
Discussion	
Limitations	64
Conclusion	65
Disclosure Statement	65
References	65
Appendix: IRB approval memo	69
CHAPTER 4. MODEL OF PREDICTING PERSONAL PROTECTIVE EQUIPMEN	NT NON-
COMPLIANCE (MPENC)	71
Abstract	71
Introduction	
Methodology	75
Design of experiment	75
Data analysis	81
Results	88
Participants	88
Initial screening (ANOVA model)	89
Multicollinearity	
Prediction results	
One-way ANOVA of MAE	102
Discussion	
Conclusion	107
Application	107
References	108
Appendix 1: IRB approval memo	
Appendix 2: VIF results for all iterations	116
CHAPTER 5. GENERAL CONCLUSIONS	121
Future Work	123

## LIST OF TABLES

	Page
Table 2.1. OSHA statement regarding PPE for the healthful work environment	26
Table 3.1. Pairwise comparisons using paired t-tests for fine motor dexterity	58
Table 3.2. Pairwise comparisons using paired t-tests for cognitive test	59
Table 3.3. Subjective feedback from participants after completing the Purdue dexterity tasks	61
Table 3.4. Subjective feedback from participants after completing the hand tool dexterity task	62
Table 3.5. Subjective feedback from participants after completing the turning dexterity tasks	62
Table 3.6. Subjective feedback from participants after completing the cognition task	62
Table 4.1. PPE ensemble	78
Table 4.2. Factors, levels, and treatment combination yields (Yij)	78
Table 4.3. Summary statistics of non-compliance data. The non-compliance is a count	82
Table 4.4. Hyperparameters of the machine learning models employed to predict Non- compliance	87
Table 4.5. Participants' characteristic	88
Table 4.6. Random effect predictions	90
Table 4.7. REML variance component estimates	90
Table 4.8. Fixed effect tests	90
Table 4.9. REML variance component estimates	93
Table 4.10. Fixed effect tests	93
Table 4.11. LSMeans Differences Tukey HSD	94
Table 4.12. REML variance component estimates	95
Table 4.13. Fixed effect tests	96

Table 4.14. VIF results for all predictors	97
Table 4.15. VIF results after removing correlated variables	97
Table 4.16. Performance analysis for different models on test data	98
Table 4.17. ANOVA of MAE for 100 iterations	102
Table 4.18. Means of One-way ANOVA	103
Table 4.19. LSD threshold matrix (Dunnett's Method)	103

# LIST OF FIGURES

Page
Figure 2.1. 16th century plague doctor uniform
Figure 2.2. Leather or metal helmet dating to the 9th century BCE
Figure 2.3. Metal casting of eye protection patent
Figure 2.4. Relative performance across temperature increase
Figure 2.5. Relative performance under different ventilation rate
Figure 3.1. The Purdue pegboard test
Figure 3.2. The Hand Tool Dexterity Test
Figure 3.3. The Minnesota Dexterity Test
Figure 4.1. Preferred and Accepted PPE by the CDC when caring for suspected or confirmed patients with COVID-19
Figure 4.2. IV practice arm [59]
Figure 4.3. Intubation mannequin [60]
Figure 4.4. Normality check for Non-compliance (right) and log(Non-compliance+1) (left) 90
Figure 4.5. Least Square Mean Plots by Workload (Top) and by PPE (Down)
Figure 4.6. Histograms, boxplot, and Normal quantile plot of temperature
Figure 4.7. Least Square Mean Plots by Workload (Right) and by PPE (Left)
Figure 4.8. Histograms, boxplot, and Normal quantile plot of humidity
Figure 4.9. Least Square Mean Plots by Workload (Right) and by PPE (Left)
Figure 4.10. Comparison of Actual vs. Predicted Values for Three Regression Models. LR (top), LASSO (middle), and RF (bottom)
Figure 4.11. Feature Importance of the best RF model
Figure 4.12. Normality checks of the MAE 102
Figure 4.13. Boxplot of MAE means for different models for 100 iterations 103

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I express my deepest gratitude to Dr. Richard Stone, my major professor, for enabling me to achieve my aspiration of studying under him at Iowa State University. I am also thankful to him for consistently providing me with guidance, motivation, and expert support throughout my graduate studies and for his enthusiasm for exchanging ideas and experiences. Additionally, I extend my special appreciation to him for standing by me during the challenging times that international students often face while being away from their families.

My appreciation also extends to my committee members, Dr. Kyung (Jo) Min, Dr. Kris De Brabanter, Dr. Cameron Mackenzie, and Dr. Stephen Gilbert, for accepting the invitation to review my dissertation. Your time reviewing this project and precious feedback is greatly appreciated.

I extend my heartfelt gratitude to my mother-in-law, Mrs. Rana Saadaldeen, for her boundless support and love, especially following the birth of my child, Zeyad. Her willingness to travel across oceans to assist me in completing my dissertation and to take care of Zeyad was an immeasurable help that I will always cherish.

I want to express my deep gratitude to Dr. Esra'a Abdel-All for her unwavering love, constant encouragement, and unreserved wisdom, which have been invaluable to me. I cannot thank her enough for all she has done.

Besides, I would also like to thank my colleagues, the department faculty, and the staff for making my time at Iowa State University a wonderful experience.

Finally, Thanks to the merciful Lord for all the gifts you have offered me.

viii

#### ABSTRACT

This dissertation focuses on Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) within the healthcare sector, particularly the emerging practice of double masking and compliance with its use.

The dissertation begins with a comprehensive literature review to map out the existing research on PPE, focusing on its adverse effects, double masking, and compliance. Extensive studies have shown that face masks negatively impact psychological, physiological, visual, motor, and cognitive functions, including changing breathing rates, raising blood pressure, and hindering communication. The review further revealed that these adverse effects, coupled with organizational issues, significantly drive PPE noncompliance in healthcare settings. The review also highlighted the emergent practice of double masking, recommended by healthcare organizations as a method to enhance protectiveness during the pandemic despite the potential for increased discomfort and non-compliance.

Consequently, the Second part of the dissertation presented an investigation into the impact of various mask configurations, including single and double masking, on human performance. This analysis demonstrated that wearing any form of face mask—be it a singular or doubled—resulted in higher errors during cognitive evaluation tests compared to a control scenario without a mask. Furthermore, this study highlighted that the practice of double masking significantly heightened the levels of perceived difficulty, discomfort, and anxiety among participants, mainly after they engaged in tasks requiring both motor and cognitive effort. This practice could lead to PPE noncompliance to relieve discomfort and increased thermal stress.

Therefore, the third study within this dissertation set out to define and measure noncompliance by creating a unique within-subject experimental simulation specific to a healthcare setting. A predictive model for non-compliance was constructed, identifying the key variables

ix

contributing to non-compliance called MPENC (Model of predicting personal protective equipment non-compliance). While PPE use and workload were significant predictors, the experience of discomfort and thermal burden emerged as the most critical factors in predicting non-compliance instances.

This work could be applied to healthcare organizations such as the CDC and OSHA as it provides insight into enhancing compliance with PPE by considering the contributing factors.

## **CHAPTER 1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION**

#### **Research Motivation**

With the progress of this dissertation, the value of proving and having a prediction model of PPE compliance will become more apparent, considering different levels of protection and workloads. During the COVID-19 pandemic, Master's thesis, a machine that imitates human breathing by controlling temperature and relative humidity. We investigated the temperature and relative humidity levels accumulated inside various face masks while subjected to different workloads. Our findings revealed significant differences in temperature build-up among different face mask types that were consistent with earlier research. In addition, we conducted a survey among retail workers, showing that workload adversely affected the heat build-up inside the mask.

Furthermore, our findings indicated that wearing glasses while donning the mask significantly reduced vision ability. Also, a literature review showed the reasons behind the non-compliance of the PPE and investigated the effect of the different face mask types on physiological and comfort aspects. Previous studies did not examine or measure compliance in terms of the frequency of violations such as touching, adjusting, or removing the mask. They also did not express compliance regarding time spent wearing different Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) levels while subject to varying workload levels.

Consequently, there is a compelling drive to study the impact of different levels of PPE protection and workload on compliance. Furthermore, we are inspired to construct a predictive model for compliance.

#### **Dissertation Organization**

This dissertation follows the format of a journal article presenting five chapters. The organization of this dissertation is as follows: A general introduction is provided in Chapter 1,

followed by a state-of-the-art literature review on personal protective equipment compliance, adverse effects, and strategy for selecting personal protective equipment in Chapter 2, which is presented in the format of a journal paper submitted to the *International Journal of Human Factors and Ergonomics*. The third chapter examines the impact of various varieties of face masks, in addition to double-face masks, on human performance, cognitive aspects, visual acuity, comfort, and anxiety. A method to measure and predict PPE compliance considering different conditions is presented in Chapter 4. The concluding chapter of this dissertation presents the general conclusions and suggestions for future research studies.

## CHAPTER 2. A REVIEW OF PPE USAGE AND ITS IMPACT ON RISK AND PERFORMANCE

Fatima Mgaedeh<sup>a b</sup>\* and Richard T. Stone<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Industrial and Manufacturing Systems Engineering, Iowa State University, Ames IA 50011, United States; <sup>b</sup> Department of Industrial Engineering, Jordan University of Science and technology, Irbid, Jordan.

#### Abstract

As stated by OSHA "use of personal protective equipment (PPE) – considered the last line of defense against worker injury and illness – is acceptable when controls higher in the hierarchy don't eliminate the hazard or are in development." Despite the importance of PPE to safety and protection, studies have shown that PPE has detrimental impacts on its users' psychological, physiological, visual, motor, and cognitive capacities. As a result, they are impairing the wearers' compliance with PPE. The effects of the impact of PPE vary depending on the type of PPE, level, and task. This article includes a detailed literature review of over 180 articles concerning the negative aspects of PPE. We present a comprehensive overview of the negative impact of PPE, compliance, and researchers' efforts to assign PPE better in order to identify the gap where we may minimize the negative effect of PPE and boost compliance. Thus, having a model or methodology that assists workers in assigning the proper PPE or assets and estimating the maximum time that a worker can comply before taking off the PPE will help protect the workers.

#### Keywords

Personal Protective Equipment, Compliance, Adverse Effect, Risk, Occupational Safety.

#### Introduction

PPE is "equipment worn to minimize exposure to hazards that cause serious workplace injuries and illnesses. These injuries and illnesses may result from contact with chemical, radiological, physical, electrical, mechanical, or other workplace hazards. Personal protective equipment may include items such as gloves, safety glasses and shoes, earplugs or muffs, hard hats, respirators, or coveralls, vests, and full body suits" as defined by Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) [1]. PPE had been used as a protective precaution for centuries and decades, even under other names, and was recently extended to the public in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. However, as practically anything has its benefits and drawbacks, research has demonstrated the detrimental impacts of PPE on its users, affecting their willingness to wear PPE for extended periods at work.

PPE is used in almost every field where other controls failed to prevent hazards, such as manufacturing, construction, oil and gas, healthcare, transportation, firefighting, food, etc. In 2021, the healthcare end-use segment dominated the market, followed by manufacturing and construction.

The PPE categories vary according to the body part to be protected, including hand and arm protection equipment, protective clothing, foot and leg protection equipment, respiratory protection equipment, and head, face, eye, and hearing protection.

In this work, we give a comprehensive literature analysis of papers on PPE in various domains, focusing on the impact of PPE on users and the most recent research on efforts to allocate PPE better. In addition to offering potential ideas, proposals, and insights for the future, the report includes these elements.

This paper has the following structure: Background, Issues that will explore compliance, and the adverse effects of PPE; the next part will cover human limitations and capabilities.

Section 5 will review the present efforts to select PPE, and Section 6 will give a general discussion. In section 7, the conclusion and future work are provided.

#### Background

PPE is the flip coin of the safety word, and it refers to all the meanings of protecting the wearer from hazards and the potential of transferring it to other individuals if it is attached to the wearer. PPE comes in a wide variety of kinds, but it is primarily classed by what it protects, such as protective clothing for the whole body, gloves for hands, respirators for breathing, and other forms of garments. PPE was utilized in wars before playing a significant role in the workplace. The historical discovery of gloves being used as protection for garden work, as documented in the eighth century B.C Greek poem called "Homers Odyssey" corresponded with the fact that humans have and always will respond to hazards by making a quick getaway or creating a physical barrier. In the medieval ages, gloves were a common trend that stood for the upper classes. However, when handling dangerous materials, masons must put on sheepskin gloves. The proliferation of diseases in the middle of the 18th century prompted doctors to examine patients while wearing gloves, some of which were made of sheep intestine, cotton, silk, or leather. After the severe hand inflammation of Dr. William's Halsted nurse, the first rubber gloves were introduced at Johns Hopkins Hospital in the 1890s. The development of the rubber vulcanization process by Charles Goodyear in the 1840s led to the introduction of rubber gloves.

Even though face masks have a wide range of designs, materials, and applications today, they have evolved and altered throughout history and worldwide. Face mask-like artifacts dating to the 6th century BC existed before the invention of the first face mask in the 16th century, and there are depictions of individuals covering their mouths with fabric on the doors of Persian tombs [2]. When serving the emperor a meal in the Yuan Dynasty of China in the 13th century, between 1279 and 1368, Marco Polo observed the servants covering their mouths and noses with

silk scarves to prevent their breath from altering the flavor and aroma of the food [2]. A French doctor named Charles de Lorme created the first face mask coupled with a full uniform as a plague doctor costume during the last waves of the black death epidemic in the 16th century, which started in the early 1350s [3]. Johann Mikulicz, head of the surgery department at the University of Breslau (now Wroclaw, Poland), donned the first surgical mask in 1897 in response to experimental findings of the German bacteriologist Carl Flügge that the culturable bacteria carried by the respiratory droplets could cause infection [4], [5]. Following this, the mask quickly expanded and developed as surgeons began donning them within the operating room. Doctor Lien-teh Wu created the surgical mask that prevented the transmission of a user's breath droplet into a more durable cotton mask that filtered the inhaled air by adding multiple layers of cloth and tightly wrapping around the face (Figure 2.1), which was the first step toward the development of the respiratory mask between 1910 and 1911 in Northern China during the Manchurian plague [6]. In the 1930s, single-use, disposable paper masks began replacing washable and reusable masks [7]. A brand-new bubble surgical mask developed by 3M was produced in 1961; it was later employed as a dust mask because it failed to stop infections [6]. The first single-use N95 "dust" created by 3M was authorized in 1972. The N95 was primarily utilized in industries for decades until the 1990s when N95 standards were modified to match healthcare environments [6]. Before the Manchurian plague (1910–1911) and the influenza pandemic (1918–1919), the usage of the face mask was restricted to the operating room. After these epidemics, patients and medical staff began using them as a form of infection prevention.

Helmets were created as a direct outcome of conflict since safeguarding one's head during battle is the most important task, as the head is the processing hub. A leather or bronze helmet that dates back to 900 BC is the earliest known helmet (figure 2.2)[8]. During the 1730s,

Jacobus Turck invented the first fire helmet made of leather. Later in 1836, Henry T. Gratacap created a modern-looking, leather-reinforced dome-shaped helmet with a front shied and a brim. Shipbuilders used tar-painted, reinforced helmets in the early 1800s to protect themselves from falling objects.

Another PPE that directly results from the battle is the protective coverall. The Japanese utilized leather-strapped iron plates for soldiers in the early fourth century. According to historical records, blacksmiths wore leather aprons, medieval knights wore armor, cowboys used leather chaps, and Eskimos wore parkas. With the industrial revolution and technological development, the concept of body armor translated into protective wear for different purposes of protection: biological, physical, and chemical hazards. However, the usage of medical apparel did not fully begin until the early 1900s. After that, medical personnel began donning it. In order to lessen eye strain and glare from white scrubs, light operating rooms, and wall colors, additional colors of scrubs weren't introduced until the 1960s.

Figure (2.3) depicted an ancient steel casing for Powell Johnson's 1880 "eye protector" patent for safety goggles [9]. The advancements made during World War Two facilitated the creation of impact-resistant or ballistic eye protection. The usage of safety eyewear in the industry didn't begin until the 1940s.



Figure 2.1. 16th century plague doctor uniform



Figure 2.2. Leather or metal helmet dating to the 9th century BCE



Figure 2.3. Metal casting of eye protection patent

#### Issues

### Compliance

Construction-based industries such as masons, plumbers, and carpenters are often considered one of the world's most labor-intensive industries [10], [11]. This fact makes using PPE in these professions' paramount for the longevity of a career and even a life. The PPE of a hard hat, safety glasses, and other various pieces of equipment are used to combat the risks, including but not limited to falling objects, malfunction of tools or materials, and falling from varying heights [12]. In a survey conducted by Mansoura University in 2020, of approximately 348 workers in construction, only 59.4 percent use PPE while on the job, and the other 40.6 percent of workers do not use it for various reasons. Of the reasons given for not wanting to wear PPE, the biggest reason they did not want to wear PPE was due to discomfort, with over 78.2% claiming this, followed by a lack of knowledge at 73%, and poor fit and heating, both at 69% [12]. These workers were also asked if they had ever experienced an occupational accident, and of the 84.9% who said yes, they had, 65.2% reported they were not wearing PPE at the time. Of these injuries, 45.3% required some form of medical attention. [12] Many of these injuries could have been prevented just by using PPE, but can someone monitor the usage or compliance of PPE?

The detection and monitoring of PPE compliance can be done manually or automatically. There are two types of automatic monitoring: sensor-based and vision-based. The large number of workers in the industry that need to be tracked, the various PPE requirements based on different assigned jobs, the movement of workers from one department to another within the company, the presence of visitors or managers, supervisors on the site, and changes in the types of PPE are available, and the supplier is just a few of the challenges that come with manual

monitoring [13]. Moreover, manual monitoring is costly, time-consuming, ineffective, and resource intensive [14].

The sensor-based strategy entails inserting a sensor into the PPE and, afterward, evaluating the signal. Such methods use radio frequency identification (RFID), ultrawideband (UWB), laser sensors, global positioning systems (GPS), and other wearable tracking devices. Tracking and locating essential materials and construction components frequently use RFID technology [15], [16], [17]. The chosen tracker component can be equipped with RFID tags. Tags come in three varieties: active, semi-passive, and passive tags. However, the antenna, transceiver, and transponder are the three major components of RFID that conduct the entire tracking operation. In the construction industry, there have recently been initiatives to use RFID technology to monitor employees' compliance with PPE. In order to verify that personnel is wearing the appropriate PPE at the gate before accessing the site, [18] used RFID tags on their PPE. In another study conducted by [19], in addition to detecting PPE compliance, RFID was utilized to locate and identify a worker's location in an authorized area and to alert them if they entered an unapproved workspace. Zigbee and RFID technologies were used by [20] for realtime detection of the right PPE worn by workers based on the regulations. Despite the promising outcomes, the RFID approach has some drawbacks, including the cost of purchasing sensors, the cost of installing them on each PPE, the cost of setting up the network, the inability to determine whether the worker is wearing the PPE or not, the suitability of the approach for controlled indoor environments, and its disadvantage in large-scale and congested sites [21].

UWB was employed to identify potential dangers from falling items or collisions with moving objects by putting tags on workers' helmets and moving objects [18]. The system locates employees and moving items in real time determines the likelihood of an accident, and then

generates a warning if there is a possible mishap. Also, detecting a collision of two moving constriction equipment was investigated [22]. Another research by [19] looked into whether it would be possible to use UWB to spot safety violations on construction sites. They investigated the illegal actions of stepping on a moving scaffold or on top or next to the top rung of a ladder. In each instance, a tag was attached to the worker's boot, the ladder, and the scaffold.

Researchers have proposed several ways to employ artificial intelligence (AI) to identify the presence of PPE because of the numerous difficulties management has in monitoring workers' compliance with PPE. Each effort utilized a different AI algorithm to detect various PPE types. Such algorithms, radiomics-based approach [23], vision-based motion detection [14], convolutional neural networks [24], YOLOv3 detector [25], [26] and transfer learning [26], fast R-CNN deep learning architecture [27], deep learning [28], low-power AI-enabled (object detection algorithm) cameras [29], Bayes rules [30], single shot multibox detector and MobileNetV2 [31], Histogram of Oriented Gradient and Circle Hough Transform [32], 2D pose estimation, MobileNetV2, Dense-and MobileNetV2 [33] and computer vision techniques [34].

Most of the AI-enabled approaches were extensively applied in the construction engineering area. For example, to detect safety helmets for preambulatory workers in a power substation [23], detect the hardhat in an indoor construction-like environment, indoor and outdoor dynamic construction environment, adverse lighting conditions in an indoor and outdoor environment [14], detect the presence of hardhat and the corresponding color [24], detect nonhardhat use considering the number of factors: visual range, weather, illumination, individual posture, and occlusions [35], detect the presence of hardhat and jacket with categorizing it as not safe, safe, no hardhat, no jacket [26], detect the presence of hard hat and if it worn properly [28], [36]. Other AI approaches not only detect the PPE, but also recognize the face to determine the worker's identity, such as detecting a specific helmet and face recognition [37], detecting safety vests and distinguishing construction workers from pedestrians [38], detecting the presence of hardhat and the corresponding color, shirt, belt, glove, pant, and shoes present in construction site [25]. Moreover, some approaches alert either the management or the person regarding the noncompliance, such as detecting the hardhat and issuing a safety alarm correspondingly [39], detecting full compliance of PPE ( helmet, mask, vest, glove) with a warning system to not full compliance under different conditions of light intensity and distance captured [27], detect if the worker's need to wear a helmet and provide a warning when it is dangerous and required helmet [40]. Studies in various sectors have shown that when employees are aware they are being watched, their performance improves [41]. On the other side, research has indicated that electronic performance monitoring has a detrimental influence on human attitudes, such as work satisfaction and emotional commitment. [42], [43].

On the other hand, a monthly audit of PPE compliance using a standardized sheet was performed individually on each nurse working in the infusion area by a clinical nurse specialist at Dana-Farber Cancer Institute [44]. As a result, nurses' PPE compliance significantly increased and remained high in succeeding months. Performing surgeries during the early stages of the latest pandemic (COVID-19) was crucial and challenging. However, specific procedures cannot be postponed due to adverse effects, including the impact on cancer patients. Thus, the best action is to do surgeries while taking all PPE measures. The COVID-19-specific briefing and debriefing forms were utilized to audit PPE compliance, nevertheless, because of the difficulty that PPE imposed [45]. It had three parts: the second component and step 1, which were used to record every piece of protective equipment a healthcare professional had on them. The PPE that

remained on at the end of the operation was documented in part 3. During COVID-19, a different strategy was used to check PPE compliance in healthcare facilities by creating PPE inspectors known as the "PPE police" [46]. The findings showed that compliance had increased from 56% to 89% during the inspection period, and the positive COVID-19 cases decreased from 31 cases/day to 5 cases/day.

The study [47] highlights the critical role of ergonomics in enhancing functionality and reducing the strain associated with medical tools. These ergonomic principles are equally applicable to the design of face masks. This application demonstrates the potential for extending ergonomic design concepts from medical instruments to personal protective equipment such as face masks, thereby improving both usability and comfort for the wearer. In addition, The [48] focuses on assessing the ergonomic risks associated with agricultural tasks, particularly through tools that evaluate lifting and posture in novice users. This approach can be paralleled in the context of face masks by examining the ergonomic considerations that influence their design, usability, and effectiveness, particularly for new or inexperienced users. The concept of training the nondominant hand to use a computer mouse and observing skill transfer to the dominant hand demonstrates that humans can adapt to new tools or methods and experience improvements even in untrained areas [49]. Similarly, wearing face masks can require adaptations in how individuals communicate or perceive social cues. People might develop heightened attentiveness to eyes and eyebrow movements for emotional and social cues, compensating for the covered lower face. This could enhance perceptual skills and non-verbal communication abilities even in contexts without wearing a mask.

#### **Compliance of construction workers**

There are two perspectives on PPE compliance among construction workers: the employees and the supervisors. Most of the studies were from workers' perspectives. Various

factors have been found to affect the use and compliance of PPE. According to [50], factors influencing PPE compliance among junior construction employees were separated into four categories: safety laws, junior staff attitude, site environment, and construction firm owners. Safety monitoring systems, company regulations, and policies are among the issues that need to be addressed to ensure that workers are protected from harm, as well as inadequate safety by laws and standards, lack of PPE training, and a lack of inclusion of safety practices in operative training. In conjunction with [51], management policy significantly impacted employees' compliance with PPE. It had been shown that the absence of incentives for compliance [52], [53], [54], and punishments for noncompliance [51], [53], [55], [56] affect the usage of PPE. Also, inadequate training on the proper use of PPE is a critical factor of compliance [51], [53], [57]. Management on-site supervision [52], [58], enforcement and reinforcement make the workers wear the PPE [53], [57], safety training [52], [58], and an inadequate safety performance review [57]. Indonesian cement workers and Nepalese welders' work experience was a factor in their adherence to PPE requirements [51], [59]. Another factor of inadequate PPE compliance is the discomfort [57], [60], [61] produced by PPE while working, which hinders job efficiency [52], [57], [62], [63] and thus affects the productivity where research by [64] showed that workers didn't wear PPE to push the productivity. Poor fit is one of the discomfort aspects of PPE [57], [60], [61], such as the finding that the PPE does not fit feminine construction staff [65]. The extent to which risks are perceived to exist at the work site is another factor in determining whether or not PPE is used. [52], [61], [66]. Other startling aspects include not wearing PPE to compete and proving expertise in front of coworkers [52]. Because there is either insufficient PPE for all the employees or non-available, these workers choose not to wear their PPE while on the job [52], [57]. A recent study by [67] 2022 investigated the factors that

contributed to the use or non-use of PPE from supervisors' perspectives. They found that there are 25 collective predictors of the use and non-use of PPE. However, only four significant characteristics independently predict the use of personal protective equipment (PPE): perception of risky circumstances' hazards, people equipped with safety training, supervision of site-specific safety measures, and the current status of employment.

#### Compliance of health care workers during infection disease

Literature showed that PPE compliance among healthcare workers (HCW) is low [68], [69], [70], [71], [72]. PPE compliance can be affected by various circumstances, including those at the individual and organizational levels. Studies revealed that improper PPE donning and doffing methods occurs in addition to noncompliance [73], [74], [75], [76], [77], [78]. Individual factors that are thought to influence compliance with preventative measures include perceived patient contact, knowledge of infectious organisms held by healthcare professionals, and risk assessments made with respect to those organisms [79]. Knowledge levels significantly varied among different HCW regarding the diseases found by [80].

Additional sinks [81], gloves, and gown dispensers made it easier for people to adhere to the protocols [82]. Research done by [83] to evaluate the influence of environmental factors on the compliance of doffing PPE found that it substantially impacts the safety of HCWs and patients. They categorized the design recommendations into equipment layouts and availability categories, such as color-coded zones, handrails, and safe spaces. Physical environment categories, such as smaller zones, should be considered for donning to minimize contamination and standardized communication aids. Insufficient supplies contribute to noncompliance with contact isolation precautions [82], [84], [85], [86], such as the accessibility of facial protection, which contributed to an increase in compliance [70]. Pressure on HCWs to comply with all contact precaution protocol measures in a timely manner is a further factor contributing to noncompliance [81], [82], [85], [87], [88], [89], [90], [91], [92]. The workload imposed on HCW made it difficult and challenging to adhere to some steps in the contact precautions such as hand hygiene [81], [85], [87], [88], [89], [90], [91], [92], [93], [94]. In addition, it had been discovered by [94] that the compliance of all components of the protocol declined when the contact isolation measures were raised. This was the case even though the precautions were essential for the safety of HCWs and patients. When healthcare workers believe that their companies place a high priority on their health and safety, they are more likely to comply with contact precautions [70], [95], [96].

#### **Compliance during COVID-19 pandemic**

When all other precautions fail to limit threats, PPE is the safety precaution that comes to the rescue [97]. The same is true during a respiratory pandemic; PPE is essential for shielding users from infections [98]. Therefore, healthcare professionals must wear the necessary PPE while doing their duties to safeguard their and others' lives. Self-administrative survey research that was undertaken in Egypt during the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic revealed that 215 out of 404 participants (53.2%) did not comply with the PPE requirements [99]. It was discovered that receiving appropriate training on how to wear PPE properly, coming into contact with infectious patients, and engaging in procedures that carry a high risk of COVID-19 exposure are the factors that predict PPE compliance. In terms of compliance, gender, occupation, and work experience [100] were all factors that showed a significant difference [99]. Regarding PPE, findings showed that HCWs complied more with medical/surgical masks and disposable gloves. Although 88% of respondents believed that personal protective equipment (PPE) was effective against COVID-19, a study that was carried out in Qatar found that only 53% of survey respondents showed full compliance with the use of PPE when interacting with patients who had suspected or confirmed cases of COVID-19 [101]. Robust compliance was

found to be predicted by high perceptions of the PPE's effectiveness [102], [103]. They showed that essential determinants of HCWs' complete compliance with PPE included age, nationality, health center region, field of employment, clinical experience, frequency of interaction with suspected or confirmed COVID-19 patients, and perceived efficacy of PPE [101]. During COVID-19, a number of studies they investigated compliance with personal protective equipment (PPE). Those studies found a noncompliance rate of 68.5% in Brazil, 54.9% in Congo, over 40% in Indonesia [104], but less than 20% in Germany and Ghana [100], [103], [105], [106], [107]. However, a study conducted by [45] found that the overall compliance of PPE was 96.3% during 183 surgeries of COVID-19-negative cancer patients. Due to the discomfort, reduced visibility, and frequent fogging it creates, they discovered lower compliance with the face shield. In a different type of study, researchers were concerned with adherence to the PPE donning and doffing procedure [108]. They discovered that 63.73 % consistently followed the donning and doffing process. As a unit and registered as senior, the emergency department adhered to the protocol best. Protective eyewear is the most frequently donned and doffed PPE wrongly, whereas gloves are consistently donned and doffed correctly in 90% and 93% of cases, respectively. Non-health care workers, such as nutritionists, pharmacists, pharmacy technicians, and radiologists, were the subject of another study [109]. The findings showed that challenges in utilizing PPE, lack of training and regular monitoring, and pain in donning PPE significantly impacted noncompliance with PPE requirements. Inappropriate PPE sizes, the design of the PPE and its complexity of usage, questions regarding the quality and efficacy of PPE, possible dangers when doffing, space arrangement between clean and contaminated areas, and discomfort with PPE use are examples of such obstacles [110].

There was a significant correlation between the number of PPE users per month, the duration of PPE use, smoking, BMI, and the occurrence of headaches (36.5%), breathing difficulties-palpation (25.1%), and dermatitis (20.3%) during the COVID-19 pandemic [111]. These results aligned with those of [112] during the SARS pandemic, which discovered for the first time that long-term use of an N95 respirator and a pre-existing headache are risk factors for headache development. A shorter wearing time is advised to prevent headaches since wearing an N95 respirator for longer than 4 hours is linked to headaches [112]. The results of [113] were consistent with [112] because combined PPE use (n95 respirators and goggles) for more than four hours is a substantial risk factor for de novo headache development in addition to a factor for headache diagnosis where 128 out of 158 developed de novo headache. 82.8% of the respondents reported a slight decrease in performance due to headache development [113]. Another research that looked at how de novo headaches formed while wearing various types of facemasks during the COVID-19 pandemic discovered that the filter mask (KN95 or FFP2) had a worse impact on occupational, familial, personal, and social aspects than the surgical mask [114]. 158 out of 306 people developed a headache during their study.

#### **PPE adverse effect**

The impact of various PPE kinds on human physiology has been well-researched and examined. Due to their importance for various occupations, face masks and respirators are among the most often researched PPE. Design fixation in the context of face masks refers to the phenomenon where designers or manufacturers persist in using a specific design approach or concept, even when it may not be the most effective or comfortable. This fixation can lead to adverse effects in face mask usage, impacting both functionality and user satisfaction [115]. Augmented Multisensory Interface Design (AMID) enhances user interaction with technology by engaging multiple sensory modalities. When considering the context of face masks, AMID can play a pivotal role in improving the functionality and user experience of masks, especially in mitigating some of the challenges posed by traditional mask designs [116], [117]. It had been found that the respiratory protective equipment had an effect on respiratory, breathing patterns, wave shape, anaerobic threshold [118], [119]. Alterations in one's heart rate, blood pressure, body temperature, rate of perspiration, and oxygen consumption are among the side effects of using a respirator. [120], [121], [122], [123], [124], [125]. Discomfort recorded by the subjects was mainly caused by the thermal stress burden [124], [126], [127], [128].

The effect of face masks on cognitive ability requires more research, as the majority of studies have found either no change or a little difference. They place greater emphasis on physical and physiological qualities than cognitive abilities. A study by [129] found that wearing face masks does not considerably influence university students' attention and executive functions, mental fatigue perception, reaction time, and time, and it can still be recommended during school lessons. On the other hand, [130] found that the use of surgical masks in physical education students produced a considerable increase in subjective stress perception, sympathetic modulation, cardiovascular response, and face and temple temperature while decreasing blood oxygen saturation. Eighty-one percent of 314 responding healthcare workers experienced cognitive impairment [131]. In another research [132], 5% of survey respondents experienced cognitive impairment. [133] found that 65 percent of respondents reported cognitive impairment when wearing PPE. This cognitive impairment may impact performance and threaten healthcare workers' and patients' health and safety. In a simulated healthcare setting, [134] found no changes in physiological strain, motor-cognitive function, or temperature discomfort between mask wearers and non-mask wearers. Additionally, 1999 research by Caretti et al. on the U.S. Army M40 respirator revealed no impact on mood or cognitive function when wearing the

respirator and engaging in low-intensity activities [135]. The study of social cognition, which evaluates how humans interact with one another, has been recently studied, and it has been found that masks can significantly decrease social cognition and negatively harm others [136]. Additionally, it was shown that individuals wearing face masks had lower speech discrimination scores than those not wearing a facial PPE (fit-tested filtering facepiece code 3 mask and head visor) [137]. Likewise, when two photographs of the same person were shown, one with a mask on and the other without, wearing a surgical mask had an impact on how easily the faces could be recognized [138]. The error rate in tasks and cognitive abilities, including decision-making and problem-solving, was found to be affected by using full-face and negative-pressure respirators [139]. As a result of the PPE, decision-making was an issue for surgeons as well [140].

The visual element is one of the characteristics that may change when wearing PPE, according to the research [141] [140], [142], [143], [144], [145]. The visual effect of wearing a face mask can significantly influence human perception and performance, particularly in contexts where facial expressions and full visual cues are essential for communication and task execution. This connection is rooted in how masks obscure parts of the face, primarily the mouth and nose, which are vital for interpreting emotions and intentions [146], [147]. One hundred thirty-four surgeons from 26 nations who responded to the survey indicated that 63% of them had vision impairment and 54% had communication difficulties. As the face shields and goggles produce glares, adding respirators to the mix fogged them up.

Wearing PEE compromised psychomotor abilities and manual job performance in a longterm care environment [140]. The results of [140] were consistent with those of [122], which showed that respirators had an impact on psychomotor activities such as maintaining a steady

work pace and performing motions that call for precise control to place items accurately. When comparing the assembly times for rifle and fault repair tasks, [148] found that the latter took 17% longer when respirators were used. Due to the importance of the physical and psychological stressors, a study of the interaction between them was conducted by [149].

According to [150], a review of the skin adverse events caused by personal protective equipment (PPE) found that three out of every four people could experience adverse skin events related to PPE and that, on average, skin-related PPE adverse events occurred in 75.13% of cases, with 57.71% of those cases involving face masks and 49.1% involving gloves and other personal hygiene products. Itching, acne, and contact dermatitis were the three most common skin reactions. The nasal bridge (67.22% of cases), the cheekbones (66.9% of cases), and the hands (62.6% of cases) were the anatomical parts that were damaged the most often. Wearing PPE for longer periods was the risk factor most connected with skin side effects [150], [151]. Healthcare workers had a higher rate of adverse skin events while using face masks, gloves, or poor hand hygiene than did non-HCWs. In a recent study conducted during the COVID-19 period, researchers discovered that 66 out of 137 survey respondents had 4 to 8 skin problems, and 62 out of 137 had 1 to 3 [151]. Concerning N95 masks, goggles, and face shields, 76.64% experienced nasal bridge scars, 70.07% reported skin soaking in perspiration from wearing latex gloves, and 71.53% reported excessive sweating and soaking from wearing protective clothes [151].

#### **Double masking**

Recently, during the COVID-19 pandemic, a new attitude of double masking emerged based on the recommendation by the CDC. Recent findings suggest that wearing double facemasks, specifically combining cotton and surgical masks, enhances protection against COVID-19 and its variants [152]. Research by Arumuru et al. and Sankhyan et al. has shown that

a two-layer cotton mask over a knotted surgical mask significantly minimizes droplet leakage, and layering a cotton mask over a surgical one offers more protection than a single surgical mask with lower filtration efficiency [153], [154]. Although there is data supporting the efficiency of double masking in enhancing protection, it is important to note that double masking may have significant negative impacts on human performance, including psychological, physiological, visual, motor, and cognitive capacities. As a result, there may be an adverse effect on the non-compliance with PPE.

#### Human Limitations and Capabilities

It is generally recognized that heat has a variety of harmful consequences on the human body. In addition, there are elements that influence performance under heat [155]. When at rest, the human body emits about the same amount of heat as a light bulb that has a wattage of one hundred. That is acceptable if the ambient temperature is equal to or lower than the body temperature of  $37^{\circ}$ C (98.6°F). As the ambient temperature rose, the body began to cool itself by perspiring to prevent overheating. However, when it is very humid outside, sweating may be less efficient due to the saturation of the air. Thus, the body's core temperature will begin to rise, triggering protective measures to safeguard key systems. The blood flow to the skin will increase, causing an increase in heartbeats. As every 0.5°C rise in core body temperature, ten beats per minute are added to a regular person's heartbeat. Also, the muscle will slow down, causing fatigue, and nerves will misfire, causing headaches, nausea, or even vomiting. This was when heat exhaustion started. Organ failure, cell death, and cardiac arrest (heat stroke) all occur when internal body temperature rises to 40 degrees Celsius or above. However, many people will cease sweating and experience dry skin as a result. When internal inflammation increases, the kidneys are the first to fail. An expert on the effects of heat on the human body, Jason Kai Wei Lee of the Human Potential Translational Research Programme at the NUS Yong Loo Lin

School of Medicine in Singapore, has said, "When the kidneys are messed up, all the toxins that have built up cannot be excreted, and your body becomes toxic." Consequently, this will have deleterious effects on other biological systems and hasten the onset of degeneration. Researchers in [155] categorized the factors that affect humans' performance in heat into controlled and uncontrolled factors. Uncontrolled factors are the level of acclimatization [156], [157], [158], degree of arousal [159], [160], [161], clothing worn [162], [163], [164], skill and training levels [165], [166], presence of other combined stressors [167], [168], [169], [170], [171], [172], [173], comfort [160], [174], [175], [176], [177], [178], [179], elevated core temperature [161], [166], [180], [181], [182], [183], [184], [185], [186], and physical work [166], [187], [188]. Controlled factors are thermal level, exposure duration, and task type. When the wet bulb globe temperature (WBGT) began between 30° and 33°C, it was discovered that performance under heat decreased for tasks requiring perceptual-motor abilities, such as tracking and vigilance tasks, regardless of the exposure time if it was less than 30 minutes or between 4 to 8 hours [155] which is coincided with the recommended exposure limits and recommended alert limits by NIOSH [189]. On the other hand, simple or mental tasks most likely exhibited little to no performance reduction due to heat.

Indoor environmental conditions, such as temperature, ventilation, indoor pollution sources, perceived indoor air quality, daylight, view, lighting levels, and quality, all contribute to and affect human performance. Several studies have investigated how these factors affect the efficiency of office workers and students. Despite differences in the best temperature for performance (at 21°C [190] (Figure 2.4), at 22.22°C [191], above 22.22°C [192], and at 17.22°C and 27.78°C [193], [194]), studies indicated the effect of temperature on performance. Factors including work environment, weather, clothes, and thermal comfort all play a role in these disparities.

The rate of ventilation has a similar effect on performance as does the temperature. However, there is not enough evidence to support the claim that performance improves along with increasing ventilation rate. Figure (2.5) was created to display the impact of the ventilation rate based on nine investigations [195]. Work type, external air quality, indoor pollutant emission rates, and other building attributes that affect indoor environmental quality are all factors that may significantly modify the effects of ventilation rate on productivity. The absence of air pollutants showed a significant increase in human performance in specific tasks, such as removing carpet increased the performance of typing, addition, and proofreading by 4% [196], [197], removing old personal computers with cathode ray tube (CRT) monitors decreased text typing errors 16% [198], removing of three-year-old linoleum flooring, shelves with books and paper, and three-month-old caulk sealant improved text typing [199], and reducing the volatile organic compounds improved various domain in decision making [200].



Figure 2.4. Relative performance across temperature increase



Figure 2.5. Relative performance under different ventilation rate

#### **Strategy to Select Personal Protective Equipment**

The instructions provided by the CDC for choosing PPE for healthcare workers may be summed up in three essential aspects: the type of anticipated exposure, the durability and appropriateness of the PPE for the task, and the fit [201]. NIOSH, in collaboration with the CDC's recommendations, produced a database that assists end users in making PPE selections [202]. Where the database is useful in determining the nature of the exposure, the patient's current medical condition, the appropriate PPE, and any applicable regulations. The database will then provide a list of potential personal protective equipment PPE options from which to choose. OSHA stated that cooperation between employees and employers is the best way to maintain safety and a healthy work environment, as shown in the table below [203].

Employers'	• Performing a "hazard assessment" of the workplace to identify and
responsibility	control physical and health hazards. Identifying and providing
	appropriate PPE for employees.
	• Training employees in the use and care of the PPE.
	• Maintaining PPE, including replacing worn or damaged PPE.
	• Periodically reviewing, updating and evaluating the effectiveness of
	the PPE program
Employees'	Properly wear PPE
responsibility	• Attend training sessions on PPE
	• Care for, clean and maintain PPE
	• Inform a supervisor of the need to repair or replace PPE.

Table 2.1. OSHA statement regarding PPE for the healthful work environment

For infectious disease, [204] developed a risk-based strategy that helps HCW select appropriate PPE ensemble. They demonstrated their method for the activity of intubation for methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) and severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus (SARS-CoV), which resulted in two distinct PPE ensembles. The strategy consisted of the following steps: (1) job hazard analysis (JHA), (2) infectious disease hazard analysis, (3) selection of PPE, and (4) evaluation of selected PPE. Step 2 consisted of the source of the pathogen, source strength, pathogen infectivity, severity of disease, and transmission route. In the fourth step of the process, PPE was assessed based on three categories: donning, doffing, and changing; usability; and fit for purpose. Questions that must be answered for each area were supplied. In another attempt to aid workers in selecting the appropriate PPE as it is defined, a complex process was proposed by [205] consisting of three main steps. The first step is to
analyze the conditions of PPE use: metabolism, climate conditions, and job requirements. The second step is to consider the laws and standards followed in the workplace. The third step has three stages: initial PPE selection, preliminary trial, and finally, the field trial. In each stage, PPE was evaluated based on four criteria: performance, supplies, physical comfort, and psychological comfort. Where each criterion is broken down into sub-criteria. As a result, the criteria are exhaustive in terms of their conflicts and encompass all industry participants' concerns [205]. Using live components or working in an open installation necessitated the use of arc protection. The intensity of the risks varies depending on the energy of the arc. The BSD corporation created a user-friendly program called the BSD Arc Calculator. This software calculates the energy level in the shortest possible time and suggests the necessary degree of PPE protection [206]. The proper PPE vs. the most comfortable PPE has long been a debate. An argument was made by [207] on balancing PPE with a person's clothing's comfort, fit, and style. She said there are times when a full-body coverall isn't the best option because of the additional load of PPE on the worker's compliance, comfort, and functioning. She was referring to the fact that the full-body coverall can sometimes be cumbersome. Human psychological, physiological, cognitive, visual, and psychomotor abilities were studied and analyzed by [208], who examined the impact of several APFs. Different respirators were shown to have a negative impact on these skills, and the topic of discussion shifted to how to choose respirators that do their job while also allowing the users to function normally.

### Discussion

In this review, a significant number of articles related to PPE in industrial and healthcare sectors were reviewed from human factors and ergonomic aspects to spotlight the shadow part of PPE with a primary focus on compliance, adverse effects, double masking, selection strategy, and human limitations and capabilities. Due to the abundance of research on the subject, this review

did not focus on other characteristics of PPE, such as protectiveness and efficiency, besides the standards and regulations for controlling their application.

The review began with a brief overview of the history of personal PPE and the evidence gathered along the chronology of the beginning of its invention for human protection. Before being employed in the workplace, PPE was used for protection in war, such as helmets and coveralls, or in everyday life, such as gloves. Human nature inspired PPE since it was necessary for selfdefense.

Compliance with PPE by workers in the industrial or healthcare sectors is the first PPE component to be reviewed. It can be seen from the literature that despite the hazards and risks that face the workers, compliance still occurs when they put their lives under threat. Monitoring worker compliance and the causes of compliance deficiency were discussed. The literature demonstrates that researchers exerted considerable effort in monitoring construction workers' adherence to wearing assigned and suitable PPE. The researchers used manual and automated (sensor-based and vision-based) approaches (to monitor compliance). Despite their limited success, both systems are costly and time-consuming to install and maintain. In addition, they expanded their attempts to apply AI to monitor PPE presence and face identification in construction zones using various techniques. However, these methods were not evaluated for use in the healthcare sector, nor were their efficacy studies conducted outside the construction sector. Approaches in the healthcare sector were often basic and time-consuming, such as paper-based monitoring by a nurse in a position of authority to verify employee compliance.

On the other hand, compliance issues with PPE were being probed in both sectors. Reasons may be classified according to the perspectives of management and employees. Both perspectives were described in depth above. Insufficient training, inadequate supervision, employees' experience, comfortability, improper fit, and the desire to compete and demonstrate skill are a few of these factors. Compliance in health care sectors differs in what needs to be complied with.

The adverse effect of PPE is the second component of the review. Extensive research was conducted on the impact of PPE on the wearers. The influence on the physiological, psychological, psychological, or cognitive, visual, and skin aspects was investigated. In several fields of PPE use, their adverse effects and subsequent impacts on the wearers, such as noncompliance and performance, have been shown. There was a wealth of studies on this topic in the healthcare realm, especially on the effects of face masks. Despite the tremendous efforts in this field, additional study is required to integrate different forms of PPE in situations outside of healthcare. In addition, none of the examined studies in this context indicated or urged these effects to be mitigated.

The practice of wearing two masks simultaneously became a prominent fad during the COVID-19 epidemic. The researchers mainly focused on the efficacy of double masking. While the adverse impacts of wearing a single mask on numerous aspects of human health have been shown, the possible negative consequences of double masking have not been examined. This is crucial since it might lead to an increase in non-compliance.

Human limitations and capabilities are other aspects covered in this review. The purpose of this investigation was to show and assess that the performance and capabilities of people begin to deteriorate at a particular point after they have been subjected to a certain degree of external and environmental stimuli. While personal protective equipment (PPE) is believed to be a physical barrier to people, the findings of this section provide credence to the conclusions of the research about the impact of PPE on capacities.

The efforts in selecting the PPE are the last aspect reviewed. The PPE selection largely depends on the dangers found during the evaluation. This makes it particularly important that the

PPE be chosen with caution and reason. However, businesses should also consider the fit and comfort of PPE when picking suitable goods for each individual. PPE that fits properly and is pleasant to wear will increase employee compliance with PPE usage. Most protective equipment is available in numerous sizes, and care should be taken to pick the correct size for each worker. Despite these attempts, a clear and practical approach still needs to be developed, and the current methods need to be investigated and applied to a more extensive range of situations. In addition, the balance between safety and comfort remains unresolved, contributing to the decreased efficacy of more protective PPE due to comfort.

## **Conclusion and Future Work**

This article is a review of current research that has been undertaken on personal protective equipment across various industries. The research conducted and evaluated for this article focuses on the effects of PPE on the individuals who wear it. The PPE was analyzed from a different perspective in this review. PPE Compliance, Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) Adverse Effects, Double Masking, Human Limitations and Capabilities, and Strategies to Choose Personal Protective Equipment were the primary categories used to classify the articles.

In the future, efforts must be made to find ways to cover the gap between the adverse effects of PPE, double masking, and compliance difficulties. As we observed from the evaluation, it is still challenging to allocate the appropriate PPE to each user because of the burden that PPE imposes. Therefore, there is an urgent need to make the experience of wearing PPE more effective and comfortable. This can be accomplished in several ways, including assigning PPE while maintaining a balance between safety and performance, developing efficient break schedules, or estimating the risk of wearing a particular PPE based on compliance and contamination. In summary, workers may be exposed to low to high risks, necessitating protective measures. Elimination, substitution, engineering controls, administrative controls, and personal protective equipment are the five levels that comprise the hierarchy of controls that have traditionally been used to minimize or eliminate hazards in the workplace effectively. This hierarchy of controls was followed to control the hazards. Even though PPE is the final step in the hierarchy and is utilized when other controls fail to eliminate or decrease exposure to risks, PPE is crucial in protecting users in many industries. Because of the vital function that PPE has always played and continues to play, even when expanded to the public during pandemics, the area of PPE is rife with obstacles and gaps. These obstacles provide possibilities for merging efforts from several disciplines and fields to overcome the gaps experienced by PPE users. These challenges will be handled, and gaps will be bridged to provide consumers with more comfortable and safer PPE. It became necessary once PPE became a part of our lives in times of sickness and epidemics.

#### **Disclosure Statement**

The authors reported no potential conflict of interest.

#### References

- [1] "Personal Protective Equipment Overview | Occupational Safety and Health Administration." Accessed: Feb. 07, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.osha.gov/personal-protective-equipment
- [2] Global Times, "The evolution of face masks ." Accessed: Sep. 19, 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.globaltimes.cn/content/1179358.shtml
- [3] P. Tubino and E. Alves, "Evolução Histórica da Vestimenta do Médico," *Rev Med Pesq*, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 87–102, 2009.
- [4] J. A. Gandhi, J. J. Churiwala, P. H. Shinde, and S. N. Chaudhari, "Surgical Mask-the Saviour: from its Invention to the COVID-19 Era," *Indian Journal of Surgery*, vol. 82, no. 3, pp. 278–279, 2020, doi: 10.1007/s12262-020-02438-x.

- [5] B. J. Strasser and T. Schlich, "A history of the medical mask and the rise of throwaway culture," *The Lancet*, vol. 396, no. 10243, pp. 19–20, 2020, doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31207-1.
- [6] BY MARK WILSON, "The N95 mask: The untold origin story." Accessed: Sep. 19, 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.fastcompany.com/90479846/the-untold-originstory-of-the-n95-mask
- [7] V. R. O'donnell, L. A. Chinelatto, C. Rodrigues, and F. C. Hojaij, "A brief history of medical uniforms: From ancient history to the covid-19 time," *Rev Col Bras Cir*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 1–4, 2020, doi: 10.1590/0100-6991e-20202597.
- [8] "Personal Protective Equipment Throughout the Ages | Sutori." Accessed: Jun. 30, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.sutori.com/en/story/personal-protective-equipmentthroughout-the-ages--3bQZKFjuwYGiZRAi18r1VWzv
- [9] "Progress is fine, but it's gone on for too long.: Eye protectors." Accessed: Jun. 30, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://progress-is-fine.blogspot.com/2013/05/eye-protectors.html
- [10] "OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH IN CONSTRUCTION."
- [11] O. Ameh and B. Shokumbi, "Effectiveness of Non-Financial Motivational Scheme on Construction Workers Output in Nigeria," *Ethiopian Journal of Environmental Studies and Management*, vol. 6, no. 3, May 2013, doi: 10.4314/ejesm.v6i3.6.
- [12] R. Sehsah, A. H. El-Gilany, and A. M. Ibrahim, "Personal protective equipment (Ppe) use and its relation to accidents among construction workers," *Medicina del Lavoro*, vol. 111, no. 4, pp. 285–295, Jul. 2020, doi: 10.23749/mdl.v111i4.9398.
- [13] A. M. Vukicevic, M. Djapan, V. Isailovic, D. Milasinovic, M. Savkovic, and P. Milosevic, "Generic compliance of industrial PPE by using deep learning techniques," *Saf Sci*, vol. 148, Apr. 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.ssci.2021.105646.
- [14] B. E. Mneymneh, M. Abbas, and H. Khoury, "Vision-Based Framework for Intelligent Monitoring of Hardhat Wearing on Construction Sites," *Journal of Computing in Civil Engineering*, vol. 33, no. 2, p. 04018066, 2019, doi: 10.1061/(asce)cp.1943-5487.0000813.
- [15] J. Song, ; Carl, T. Haas, and C. H. Caldas, "Tracking the Location of Materials on Construction Job Sites", doi: 10.1061/ASCE0733-93642006132:9911.
- [16] E. Ergen, B. Akinci, and R. Sacks, "Tracking and locating components in a precast storage yard utilizing radio frequency identification technology and GPS," *Autom Constr*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 354–367, May 2007, doi: 10.1016/j.autcon.2006.07.004.
- [17] D. Grau, C. H. Caldas, C. T. Haas, P. M. Goodrum, and J. Gong, "Assessing the impact of materials tracking technologies on construction craft productivity," *Autom Constr*, vol. 18, no. 7, pp. 903–911, Nov. 2009, doi: 10.1016/j.autcon.2009.04.001.

- [18] A. Kelm *et al.*, "Mobile passive Radio Frequency Identification (RFID) portal for automated and rapid control of Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) on construction sites," *Autom Constr*, vol. 36, pp. 38–52, 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.autcon.2013.08.009.
- [19] B. Naticchia, M. Vaccarini, and A. Carbonari, "A monitoring system for real-time interference control on large construction sites," *Autom Constr*, vol. 29, pp. 148–160, Jan. 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.autcon.2012.09.016.
- [20] S. Barro-Torres, T. M. Fernández-Caramés, H. J. Pérez-Iglesias, and C. J. Escudero,
   "Real-time personal protective equipment monitoring system," *Comput Commun*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 42–50, Dec. 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.comcom.2012.01.005.
- [21] I. Brilakis, M. W. Park, and G. Jog, "Automated vision tracking of project related entities," *Advanced Engineering Informatics*, vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 713–724, Oct. 2011, doi: 10.1016/j.aei.2011.01.003.
- [22] C. Andolfo and F. Sadeghpour, "REAL-TIME ACCIDENT DETECTION USING UWB TRACKING."
- [23] K. Li, X. Zhao, J. Bian, and M. Tan, "Automatic Safety Helmet Wearing Detection," 2017 IEEE 7th Annual International Conference on CYBER Technology in Automation, Control, and Intelligent Systems, CYBER 2017, pp. 617–622, 2018, doi: 10.1109/CYBER.2017.8446080.
- [24] J. Wu, N. Cai, W. Chen, H. Wang, and G. Wang, "Automatic detection of hardhats worn by construction personnel: A deep learning approach and benchmark dataset," *Autom Constr*, vol. 106, no. July, p. 102894, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.autcon.2019.102894.
- [25] T. Lan Le, H. Hoang Si, Q.-H. Tran, T.-L. Le, and S.-H. Hoang, "A fully automated vision-based system for real-time personal protective detection and monitoring Surveillance video indexing and retrieval View project Localization for Blind people View project A fully automated vision-based system for real-time personal," no. August 2020, 2019, [Online]. Available: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/337705605
- [26] V. S. K. Delhi, R. Sankarlal, and A. Thomas, "Detection of Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) Compliance on Construction Site Using Computer Vision Based Deep Learning Techniques," *Front Built Environ*, vol. 6, no. September, 2020, doi: 10.3389/fbuil.2020.00136.
- [27] F. Zhafran, E. S. Ningrum, M. N. Tamara, and E. Kusumawati, "Computer Vision System Based for Personal Protective Equipment Detection, by Using Convolutional Neural Network," *IES 2019 - International Electronics Symposium: The Role of Techno-Intelligence in Creating an Open Energy System Towards Energy Democracy, Proceedings*, pp. 516–521, 2019, doi: 10.1109/ELECSYM.2019.8901664.
- [28] N. D. Nath, A. H. Behzadan, and S. G. Paal, "Deep learning for site safety: Real-time detection of personal protective equipment," *Autom Constr*, vol. 112, no. July 2019, p. 103085, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.autcon.2020.103085.

- [29] B. Balakreshnan, G. Richards, G. Nanda, H. Mao, R. Athinarayanan, and J. Zaccaria, "PPE compliance detection using artificial intelligence in learning factories," *Procedia Manuf*, vol. 45, pp. 277–282, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.promfg.2020.04.017.
- [30] Z. Jing, R. Mariani, and J. Wu, "Glasses detection for face recognition using Bayes rules," *Lecture Notes in Computer Science (including subseries Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence and Lecture Notes in Bioinformatics)*, vol. 1948, pp. 127–134, 2000, doi: 10.1007/3-540-40063-X\_17/COVER/.
- [31] P. Nagrath, R. Jain, A. Madan, R. Arora, P. Kataria, and J. Hemanth, "SSDMNV2: A real time DNN-based face mask detection system using single shot multibox detector and MobileNetV2," *Sustain Cities Soc*, vol. 66, no. December 2020, p. 102692, 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.scs.2020.102692.
- [32] A. H. M. Rubaiyat et al., "Automatic detection of helmet uses for construction safety," Proceedings - 2016 IEEE/WIC/ACM International Conference on Web Intelligence Workshops, WIW 2016, pp. 135–142, 2017, doi: 10.1109/WIW.2016.10.
- [33] A. M. Vukicevic, M. Djapan, V. Isailovic, D. Milasinovic, M. Savkovic, and P. Milosevic,
   "Generic compliance of industrial PPE by using deep learning techniques," *Saf Sci*, vol. 148, no. November 2021, p. 105646, 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.ssci.2021.105646.
- [34] J. Chen, J. F. Cremer, K. Zarei, A. M. Segre, and P. M. Polgreen, "Using computer vision and depth sensing to measure healthcare worker-patient contacts and personal protective equipment adherence within hospital rooms," *Open Forum Infect Dis*, vol. 3, no. 1, Jan. 2016, doi: 10.1093/ofid/ofv200.
- [35] Q. Fang *et al.*, "Detecting non-hardhat-use by a deep learning method from far-field surveillance videos," *Autom Constr*, vol. 85, pp. 1–9, Jan. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.autcon.2017.09.018.
- [36] Y. Wang et al., A convolutional neural network based approach towards real-time hard hat detection. doi: 10.1109/PIC.2018.8706269.
- [37] S. Du, M. Shehata, and W. Badawy, "Hard hat detection in video sequences based on face features, motion and color information," in *ICCRD2011 - 2011 3rd International Conference on Computer Research and Development*, 2011, pp. 25–29. doi: 10.1109/ICCRD.2011.5763846.
- [38] M. W. Park and I. Brilakis, "Construction worker detection in video frames for initializing vision trackers," *Autom Constr*, vol. 28, pp. 15–25, Dec. 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.autcon.2012.06.001.
- [39] M.-W. Park, N. Elsafty, and Z. Zhu, "Hardhat-Wearing Detection for Enhancing On-Site Safety of Construction Workers," *J Constr Eng Manag*, vol. 141, no. 9, p. 04015024, Sep. 2015, doi: 10.1061/(asce)co.1943-7862.0000974.

- [40] S. Dong, Q. He, ; Heng Li, and Q. Yin, "Automated PPE Misuse Identification and Assessment for Safety Performance Enhancement."
- [41] T. Kalischko and R. Riedl, "Electronic Performance Monitoring in the Digital Workplace: Conceptualization, Review of Effects and Moderators, and Future Research Opportunities," *Front Psychol*, vol. 12, May 2021, doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.633031.
- [42] D. Jeske and A. M. Santuzzi, "Monitoring what and how: psychological implications of electronic performance monitoring," 2015.
- [43] L. A. McNall and J. M. Stanton, "Private Eyes Are Watching You: Reactions to Location Sensing Technologies," *J Bus Psychol*, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 299–309, Sep. 2011, doi: 10.1007/s10869-010-9189-y.
- [44] K. A. Hennessy and J. Dynan, "Improving compliance with personal protective equipment use through the model for improvement and staff champions," *Clin J Oncol Nurs*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 497–500, 2014, doi: 10.1188/14.CJON.497-500.
- [45] G. Prakash *et al.*, "Compliance and perception about personal protective equipment among health care workers involved in the surgery of COVID-19 negative cancer patients during the pandemic," *J Surg Oncol*, vol. 122, no. 6, pp. 1013–1019, 2020, doi: 10.1002/jso.26151.
- [46] M. Shehab, S. Shuaibi, I. Qadhi, and A. Alfadhli, "Effectiveness of inspectors' team in increasing compliance with personal protective equipment use and reducing COVID19 infection spread among healthcare workers," *Infection Prevention in Practice*, vol. 3, no. 2, Jun. 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.infpip.2021.100137.
- [47] E. S. Abdelall, R. T. Stone, L. Rajana Nedved, and C. Fales, "Bend the Tool, Not the Wrist: An Ergonomic Investigation of Medical Suturing Needle Holder Design and Medical Engineering Solution," *Surg Innov*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 62–70, 2021, doi: 10.1177/1553350620950896.
- [48] C. Fales, R. T. Stone, E. S. Abdelall, and S. Baumann, "Development and evaluation of an Agricultural Cumulative Risk Evaluation System (ACRES): An ergonomic tool usability study across various lifting and postural assessment systems for novice users," *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society*, vol. 65, no. 1, pp. 951–955, 2021, doi: 10.1177/1071181321651341.
- [49] D. Schweiger, R. Stone, and U. Genschel, "Nondominant hand computer mouse training and the bilateral transfer effect to the dominant hand," *Sci Rep*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 1–10, 2021, doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-83770-4.
- [50] A. Ebekozien, "Construction companies' compliance to personal protective equipment on junior staff in Nigeria: issues and solutions," *International Journal of Building Pathology and Adaptation*, 2021, doi: 10.1108/IJBPA-08-2020-0067.

- [51] F. B. Setyawan, S. Supriyanto, E. Ernawaty, and R. Lestari, "Developing a holisticcomprehensive assessment model: Factors contributing to personal protective equipment compliance among Indonesian cement workers," *Indian J Occup Environ Med*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 19–24, Jan. 2020, doi: 10.4103/ijoem.IJOEM\_115\_19.
- [52] T. K. M. Wong, S. S. Man, and A. H. S. Chan, "Critical factors for the use or non-use of personal protective equipment amongst construction workers," *Saf Sci*, vol. 126, no. February, p. 104663, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.ssci.2020.104663.
- [53] J. Reason, *Human Error*. Cambridge University Press, 1990. doi: 10.1017/CBO9781139062367.
- [54] M. N. Vinodkumar and M. Bhasi, "Safety management practices and safety behaviour: Assessing the mediating role of safety knowledge and motivation," *Accid Anal Prev*, vol. 42, no. 6, pp. 2082–2093, Nov. 2010, doi: 10.1016/J.AAP.2010.06.021.
- [55] C. Pilbeam, N. Doherty, R. Davidson, and D. Denyer, "Safety leadership practices for organizational safety compliance: Developing a research agenda from a review of the literature," *Safety Science*, vol. 86. Elsevier B.V., pp. 110–121, Jul. 01, 2016. doi: 10.1016/j.ssci.2016.02.015.
- [56] E. W. de Kwaadsteniet, T. Kiyonari, W. E. Molenmaker, and E. van Dijk, "Do people prefer leaders who enforce norms? Reputational effects of reward and punishment decisions in noisy social dilemmas," *J Exp Soc Psychol*, vol. 84, Sep. 2019, doi: 10.1016/J.JESP.2019.03.011.
- [57] R. U. Farooqui, S. M. Ahmed, K. Panthi, and S. Azhar, "Addressing the Issue of Compliance with Personal Protective Equipment on Construction Worksites : A Workers' Perspective," *International Proceedings of the 45th Annual Conference, Associated Schools of Construction*, vol. 2005, no. 2005, pp. 1–10, 2009.
- [58] T. K. M. Wong, S. S. Man, and A. H. S. Chan, "Exploring the acceptance of PPE by construction workers: An extension of the technology acceptance model with safety management practices and safety consciousness," *Saf Sci*, vol. 139, p. 105239, Jul. 2021, doi: 10.1016/J.SSCI.2021.105239.
- [59] S. S. Budhathoki *et al.*, "Awareness of occupational hazards and use of safety measures among welders: a cross-sectional study from eastern Nepal," *Open*, vol. 4, p. 4646, 2014, doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2013.
- [60] R. Sehsah, A. H. El-Gilany, and A. M. Ibrahim, "Personal protective equipment (Ppe) use and its relation to accidents among construction workers," *Medicina del Lavoro*, vol. 111, no. 4, pp. 285–295, 2020, doi: 10.23749/mdl.v111i4.9398.
- [61] D. A. Lombardi, S. K. Verma, M. J. Brennan, and M. J. Perry, "Factors influencing worker use of personal protective eyewear," *Accid Anal Prev*, vol. 41, no. 4, pp. 755–762, Jul. 2009, doi: 10.1016/J.AAP.2009.03.017.

- [62] X. Huang and J. Hinze, "Analysis of Construction Worker Fall Accidents," J Constr Eng Manag, vol. 129, no. 3, pp. 262–271, Jun. 2003, doi: 10.1061/(ASCE)0733-9364(2003)129:3(262).
- [63] S. Ulubeyli, A. Kazaz, and B. Er, "Health and safety perception of workers in turkey: A survey of construction sites," *International Journal of Occupational Safety and Ergonomics*, vol. 20, no. 2, pp. 323–338, 2014, doi: 10.1080/10803548.2014.11077043.
- [64] V. Kaskutas, A. M. Dale, H. Lipscomb, and B. Evanoff, "Fall prevention and safety communication training for foremen: Report of a pilot project designed to improve residential construction safety," *J Safety Res*, vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 111–118, Feb. 2013, doi: 10.1016/J.JSR.2012.08.020.
- [65] L. C. Onyebeke *et al.*, "Access to properly fitting personal protective equipment for female construction workers," *Am J Ind Med*, vol. 59, no. 11, pp. 1032–1040, Nov. 2016, doi: 10.1002/ajim.22624.
- [66] R. Sacks, A. Perlman, and R. Barak, "Construction safety training using immersive virtual reality," *http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/01446193.2013.828844*, vol. 31, no. 9, pp. 1005–1017, Sep. 2013, doi: 10.1080/01446193.2013.828844.
- [67] A. Darda'u Rafindadi, M. Napiah, I. Othman, H. Alarifi, U. Musa, and M. Muhammad, "Significant factors that influence the use and non-use of personal protective equipment (PPE) on construction sites—Supervisors' perspective," *Ain Shams Engineering Journal*, vol. 13, no. 3, p. 101619, 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.asej.2021.10.014.
- [68] W. Afif, P. Huor, P. Brassard, and V. G. Loo, "Compliance with methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus precautions in a teaching hospital," *Am J Infect Control*, vol. 30, no. 7, pp. 430–433, 2002, doi: 10.1067/mic.2002.125174.
- [69] S. Dhar *et al.*, "Contact Precautions More Is Not Necessarily Better," *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol*, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 213–219, Mar. 2014, doi: 10.1086/675294.
- [70] K. Nichol, P. Bigelow, L. O'Brien-Pallas, A. McGeer, M. Manno, and D. L. Holness, "The individual, environmental, and organizational factors that influence nurses' use of facial protection to prevent occupational transmission of communicable respiratory illness in acute care hospitals," *Am J Infect Control*, vol. 36, no. 7, pp. 481–487, Sep. 2008, doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2007.12.004.
- [71] D. J. Weber *et al.*, "Compliance With Isolation Precautions at a University Hospital," *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 358–361, Mar. 2007, doi: 10.1086/510871.
- [72] E. Yanke, C. Zellmer, S. Van Hoof, H. Moriarty, P. Carayon, and N. Safdar,
  "Understanding the current state of infection prevention to prevent Clostridium difficile infection: A human factors and systems engineering approach," *Am J Infect Control*, vol. 43, no. 3, pp. 241–247, Mar. 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2014.11.026.

- [73] C. Zellmer, S. van Hoof, and N. Safdar, "Variation in health care worker removal of personal protective equipment," *Am J Infect Control*, vol. 43, no. 7, pp. 750–751, Jul. 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2015.02.005.
- [74] M. E. Tomas *et al.*, "Contamination of health care personnel during removal of personal protective equipment," *JAMA Intern Med*, vol. 175, no. 12, pp. 1904–1910, Dec. 2015, doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.4535.
- [75] R. Mitchell *et al.*, "Are health care workers protected? An observational study of selection and removal of personal protective equipment in Canadian acute care hospitals," *Am J Infect Control*, vol. 41, no. 3, pp. 240–244, 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2012.04.332.
- [76] J. H. Kwon *et al.*, "Assessment of Healthcare Worker Protocol Deviations and Self-Contamination during Personal Protective Equipment Donning and Doffing," *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol*, vol. 38, no. 9, pp. 1077–1083, Sep. 2017, doi: 10.1017/ice.2017.121.
- [77] M. Doll *et al.*, "Acceptability and necessity of training for optimal personal protective equipment use," *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol*, vol. 38, no. 2, pp. 226–229, Feb. 2017, doi: 10.1017/ice.2016.252.
- [78] S. L. Krein *et al.*, "Identification and characterization of failures in infectious agent transmission precaution practices in hospitals: A qualitative study," *JAMA Intern Med*, vol. 178, no. 8, pp. 1016–1022, Aug. 2018, doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2018.1898.
- [79] M. Harrod *et al.*, "A qualitative study of factors affecting personal protective equipment use among health care personnel," *Am J Infect Control*, vol. 48, no. 4, pp. 410–415, Apr. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2019.08.031.
- [80] D. J. Seibert, K. G. Speroni, K. M. Oh, M. C. Devoe, and K. H. Jacobsen, "Knowledge, perceptions, and practices of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus transmission prevention among health care workers in acute-care settings," in *American Journal of Infection Control*, Mar. 2014, pp. 254–259. doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2013.09.005.
- [81] D. J. Seibert, K. G. Speroni, K. M. Oh, M. C. Devoe, and K. H. Jacobsen, "Preventing transmission of MRSA: A qualitative study of health care workers' attitudes and suggestions," *Am J Infect Control*, vol. 42, no. 4, pp. 405–411, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2013.10.008.
- [82] E. Yanke, C. Zellmer, S. van Hoof, H. Moriarty, P. Carayon, and N. Safdar,
  "Understanding the current state of infection prevention to prevent Clostridium difficile infection: A human factors and systems engineering approach," *Am J Infect Control*, vol. 43, no. 3, pp. 241–247, Mar. 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2014.11.026.
- [83] T. A. Herlihey, S. Gelmi, J. A. Cafazzo, and T. N. T. Hall, "The Impact of Environmental Design on Doffing Personal Protective Equipment in a Healthcare Environment: A Formative Human Factors Trial," *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol*, vol. 38, no. 6, pp. 712– 717, Jun. 2017, doi: 10.1017/ice.2017.68.

- [84] J. Randle and M. Clarke, "Infection control nurses' perceptions of the code of hygiene," J Nurs Manag, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 218–225, Mar. 2011, doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2834.2010.01147.x.
- [85] V. Erasmus *et al.*, "A Qualitative Exploration of Reasons for Poor Hand Hygiene Among Hospital Workers Lack of Positive Role Models and of Convincing Evidence That Hand Hygiene Prevents Cross-Infection," *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol*, vol. 30, no. 5, pp. 415–419, May 2009, doi: 10.1086/596773.
- [86] E. Drehmer de Almeida Cruz, F. Cristina Pimenta, M. Hayashida, M. Eidt, and E. Gir, "Artigo Original Endereço para correspondência: Detecção de Staphylococcus aureus na boca de trabalhadores da limpeza hospitalar." [Online]. Available: www.eerp.usp.br/rlae
- [87] M. Eveillard *et al.*, "Using a Qualitative Study to Understand the Failure of a Strategy Implemented for Improving Hand Hygiene Adherence in 4 Intensive Care Units," *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol*, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 447–448, Apr. 2013, doi: 10.1086/669875.
- [88] T.-H. Jang *et al.*, "Focus Group Study of Hand Hygiene Practice among Healthcare Workers in a Teaching Hospital in Toronto, Canada," *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol*, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 144–150, Feb. 2010, doi: 10.1086/649792.
- [89] K. J. Ferguson, H. Waitzkin, S. E. Beekmann, and B. N. Doebbeling, "Critical Incidents of Nonadherence with Standard Precautions Guidelines Among Community Hospital-based Health Care Workers."
- [90] P. W. Stone, S. P. Clarke, J. Cimiotti, and R. Correa-De-Araujo, "Nurses' Working Conditions: Implications for Infectious Disease," 2004. [Online]. Available: www.cdc.gov/eid
- [91] D. Pittet, P. Mourouga, and T. v. Perneger, "Compliance with handwashing in a teaching hospital. Infection Control Program," *Ann Intern Med*, vol. 130, no. 2, pp. 126–130, Jan. 1999, doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-130-2-199901190-00006.
- [92] E. Larson, "Compliance with isolation technique," *Am J Infect Control*, vol. 11, no. 6, pp. 221–225, 1983, doi: 10.1016/0196-6553(83)90004-4.
- [93] A. Nichols and B. Badger, "An investigation of the division between espoused and actual practice in infection control and of the knowledge sources that may underpin this division," *British Journal of Infection Control*, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 11–15, Jul. 2008, doi: 10.1177/1469044608088621.
- [94] S. Dhar *et al.*, "Contact Precautions More Is Not Necessarily Better," *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol*, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 213–219, Mar. 2014, doi: 10.1086/675294.
- [95] D. L. Rivers, L. A. Aday, R. F. Frankowski, S. Felknor, D. White, and B. Nichols,
  "Predictors of nurses' acceptance of an intravenous catheter safety device," *Nurs Res*, vol. 52, no. 4, pp. 249–255, 2003, doi: 10.1097/00006199-200307000-00007.

- [96] P. M. McGovern, D. Vesley, L. Kochevar, R. R. M. Gershon, F. S. Rhame, and E. Anderson, "Factors affecting universal precautions compliance," *J Bus Psychol*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 149–161, 2000, doi: 10.1023/A:1007727104284.
- [97] World Health Organization, "Infection prevention and control of epidemic-and pandemic prone acute respiratory infections in health care." Accessed: Jul. 10, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/infection-prevention-and-control-of-epidemic-and-pandemic-prone-acute-respiratory-infections-in-health-care
- [98] J. A. Bielicki *et al.*, "Monitoring approaches for health-care workers during the COVID-19 pandemic," *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, vol. 20, no. 10. Lancet Publishing Group, pp. e261–e267, Oct. 01, 2020. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30458-8.
- [99] R. H. El-Sokkary *et al.*, "Compliance of healthcare workers to the proper use of personal protective equipment during the first wave of COVID-19 pandemic," *J Infect Public Health*, vol. 14, no. 10, pp. 1404–1410, 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.jiph.2021.07.017.
- [100] I. Gunawan and D. Chalidyanto, "Analysis of Determinant Factors for Hospital Staff Adherence to The Use of PPE The Care of COVID-19 Patients," *JMMR (Jurnal Medicoeticolegal dan Manajemen Rumah Sakit)*, vol. 9, no. 3, 2020, doi: 10.18196/jmmr.93130.
- [101] M. Talal Theyab Abed Alah, S. Abdeen, N. Selim, E. Tayar, and I. Bougmiza, "Occupational Prevention of COVID-19 Among Healthcare Workers in Primary Healthcare Settings: Compliance and Perceived Effectiveness of Personal Protective Equipment," 2022. [Online]. Available: www.journalpatientsafety.com
- [102] S. K. Brooks, N. Greenberg, S. Wessely, and G. J. Rubin, "Factors affecting healthcare workers' compliance with social and behavioural infection control measures during emerging infectious disease outbreaks: rapid evidence review," *BMJ Open*, vol. 11, no. 8, Aug. 2021, doi: 10.1136/BMJOPEN-2021-049857.
- [103] L. E. Smith, D. Serfioti, D. Weston, N. Greenberg, and G. J. Rubin, "Adherence to protective measures among healthcare workers in the UK: a cross-sectional study," *Emergency Medicine Journal*, vol. 39, no. 2, pp. 100–105, Feb. 2022, doi: 10.1136/EMERMED-2021-211454.
- [104] S. Morioka, T. Tajima, Y. Sugiki, K. Hayakawa, and N. Ohmagari, "Adherence to personal protective equipment use among nurses in Japanese tertiary care hospitals: what determines variability?," *J Hosp Infect*, vol. 104, no. 3, pp. 344–349, Mar. 2020, doi: 10.1016/J.JHIN.2019.11.019.
- [105] D. S. Fram *et al.*, "Personal protective equipment: Shortage or waste?," *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol*, vol. 42, no. 6, p. 1, Jun. 2021, doi: 10.1017/ICE.2020.354.

- [106] M. E. Ashinyo *et al.*, "Infection prevention and control compliance among exposed healthcare workers in COVID-19 treatment centers in Ghana: A descriptive crosssectional study," *PLoS One*, vol. 16, no. 3 March, Mar. 2021, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0248282.
- [107] N. Michel-Kabamba *et al.*, "Occupational COVID-19 Prevention among Congolese Healthcare Workers: Knowledge, Practices, PPE Compliance, and Safety Imperatives," *Trop Med Infect Dis*, vol. 6, no. 1, 2020, doi: 10.3390/TROPICALMED6010006.
- [108] S. Wotherspoon and S. Conroy, "COVID-19 personal protective equipment protocol compliance audit," *Infect Dis Health*, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 273–275, Nov. 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.idh.2021.06.002.
- [109] E. M. Diana, A. W. Widayanti, and Satibi, "Compliance with personal protective equipment use among non-medical healthcare professionals during Covid-19 pandemic," *Indonesian Journal of Pharmacy*, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. 258–266, 2021, doi: 10.22146/ijp.1365.
- [110] J. Fan *et al.*, "Barriers to using personal protective equipment by healthcare staff during the COVID-19 outbreak in China," *Medicine*, vol. 99, no. 48, p. e23310, Nov. 2020, doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000023310.
- [111] A. Çağlar, İ. Kaçer, M. Hacımustafaoğlu, B. Öztürk, and K. Öztürk, "Symptoms associated with personal protective equipment among frontline healthcare professionals during the COVID-19 pandemic," *Disaster Med Public Health Prep*, 2020, doi: 10.1017/dmp.2020.455.
- [112] E. C. H. Lim, R. C. S. Seet, K. H. Lee, E. P. V. Wilder-Smith, B. Y. S. Chuah, and B. K. C. Ong, "Headaches and the N95 face-mask amongst healthcare providers," *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*, vol. 113, no. 3. pp. 199–202, Mar. 2006. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0404.2005.00560.x.
- [113] J. J. Y. Ong *et al.*, "Headaches Associated With Personal Protective Equipment A Cross-Sectional Study Among Frontline Healthcare Workers During COVID-19," *Headache*, vol. 60, no. 5, pp. 864–877, May 2020, doi: 10.1111/head.13811.
- [114] J. M. Ramirez-Moreno *et al.*, "Mask-associated 'de novo' headache in healthcare workers during the COVID-19 pandemic," *Occup Environ Med*, vol. 78, no. 8, pp. 541–547, Aug. 2021, doi: 10.1136/oemed-2020-106956.
- [115] E. S. Abdelall, M. C. Frank, and R. T. Stone, "Design for Manufacturability-Based Feedback to Mitigate Design Fixation," *Journal of Mechanical Design*, vol. 140, no. 9, Sep. 2018, doi: 10.1115/1.4040424/473026.
- [116] R. T. Stone, A. M. Bisantz, J. Llinas, and V. Paquet, "Augmented Multisensory Interface Design (AMID): A Human-Centric Approach to Unisensory and Multisensory Augmented Reality Design," *J Cogn Eng Decis Mak*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 362–388, 2009, doi: 10.1518/155534309X12599553478872.

- [117] T. M. Schnieders and R. T. Stone, "Current Work in the Human-Machine Interface for Ergonomic Intervention with Exoskeletons," *International Journal of Robotics Applications and Technologies*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 1–19, 2017, doi: 10.4018/ijrat.2017010101.
- [118] V. Louhevaara, T. Tuomi, O. Korhonen, and J. Jaakkola, "Cardiorespiratory effects of respiratory protective devices during exercise in well-trained men," *Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol*, vol. 52, no. 3, pp. 340–345, 1984, doi: 10.1007/BF01015224.
- [119] S. Bansal *et al.*, "Respirator Physiological Effects under Simulated Work Conditions," *https://doi.org/10.1080/15459620902729218*, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 221–227, Apr. 2009, doi: 10.1080/15459620902729218.
- [120] R. James, F. Dukes-Dobos, and R. Smith, "Effects of respirators under heat/work conditions," *Am Ind Hyg Assoc J*, vol. 45, no. 6, pp. 399–404, Jun. 1984, doi: 10.1080/15298668491400016.
- [121] J. G. Jones, "The physiological cost of wearing a disposable respirator," Am Ind Hyg Assoc J, vol. 52, no. 6, pp. 219–225, Jun. 1991, doi: 10.1080/15298669191364631.
- [122] N. J. Zimmerman, C. Eberts, G. Salvendy, and G. McCabe, "Effects of respirators on performance of physical, psychomotor and cognitive tasks," *Ergonomics*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 321–334, 1991, doi: 10.1080/00140139108967316.
- [123] N. Ruth, L. G. Berglund, A. R. Gwosdow, and A. B. Dubois, "Thermal sensation of the body as influenced by the thermal microclimate in a face mask," *Ergonomics*, vol. 30, no. 12, pp. 1689–1703, 1987, doi: 10.1080/00140138708966058.
- [124] Y. Li *et al.*, "Effects of wearing N95 and surgical facemasks on heart rate, thermal stress and subjective sensations," *Int Arch Occup Environ Health*, vol. 78, no. 6, pp. 501–509, 2005, doi: 10.1007/s00420-004-0584-4.
- [125] B. Khodarahmi, M. Motamedzadeh, M. Zeinodini, and S. Hosseini, "Effect of respiratory protection equipments wear on heart rate in different workload," *Int J Environ Health Eng*, vol. 2, no. 1, p. 26, 2013, doi: 10.4103/2277-9183.113216.
- [126] C. Hayashi and H. Tokura, "The effects of two kinds of mask (with or without exhaust valve) on clothing microclimates inside the mask in participants wearing protective clothing for spraying pesticides," *Int Arch Occup Environ Health*, vol. 77, no. 1, pp. 73– 78, 2004, doi: 10.1007/s00420-003-0472-3.
- [127] M. K. White, T. K. Hodous, and M. Vercruyssen, "Effects of thermal environment and chemical protective clothing on work tolerance, physiological responses, and subjective ratings," *Ergonomics*, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 445–457, 1991, doi: 10.1080/00140139108967328.

- [128] L. J. Radonovich, J. Cheng, B. v. Shenal, M. Hodgson, and B. S. Bender, "Respirator tolerance in health care workers," *JAMA - Journal of the American Medical Association*, vol. 301, no. 1. JAMA, pp. 36–38, Jan. 07, 2009. doi: 10.1001/jama.2008.894.
- [129] A. Schlegtendal *et al.*, "To Mask or Not to Mask—Evaluation of Cognitive Performance in Children Wearing Face Masks during School Lessons (MasKids)," *Children*, vol. 9, no. 1, Jan. 2022, doi: 10.3390/children9010095.
- [130] J. F. Tornero-Aguilera, A. Rubio-Zarapuz, and V. J. Clemente-Suárez, "Implications of surgical mask use in physical education lessons," *Physiol Behav*, vol. 239, p. 113513, Oct. 2021, doi: 10.1016/J.PHYSBEH.2021.113513.
- [131] R. Elisheva, "Adverse Effects of Prolonged Mask Use among Healthcare Professionals during COVID-19," *Journal of Infectious Diseases and Epidemiology*, vol. 6, no. 3, Jun. 2020, doi: 10.23937/2474-3658/1510130.
- [132] K. Shubhanshu and A. Singh, "Prolonged Use of n95 Mask a Boon or Bane to Healthcare Workers During Covid–19 Pandemic," *Indian Journal of Otolaryngology and Head and Neck Surgery*, 2021, doi: 10.1007/s12070-021-02396-0.
- [133] S. L. Davey, B. J. Lee, T. Robbins, H. Randeva, and C. D. Thake, "Heat stress and PPE during COVID-19: impact on healthcare workers' performance, safety and well-being in NHS settings," *Journal of Hospital Infection*, vol. 108, pp. 185–188, Feb. 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.jhin.2020.11.027.
- [134] N. B. Morris, J. F. Piil, L. Christiansen, A. D. Flouris, and L. Nybo, "Prolonged facemask use in the heat worsens dyspnea without compromising motor-cognitive performance," *Temperature*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 160–165, 2021, doi: 10.1080/23328940.2020.1826840.
- [135] D. M. Caretti, "Cognitive performance and mood during respirator wear and exercise," *Am Ind Hyg Assoc J*, vol. 60, no. 2, pp. 213–218, Mar. 1999, doi: 10.1080/00028899908984438.
- [136] E. Giovanelli, C. Valzolgher, E. Gessa, M. Todeschini, and F. Pavani, "Unmasking the Difficulty of Listening to Talkers With Masks: lessons from the COVID-19 pandemic," *Iperception*, vol. 12, no. 2, 2021, doi: 10.1177/2041669521998393.
- [137] T. Hampton *et al.*, "The negative impact of wearing personal protective equipment on communication during coronavirus disease 2019," *Journal of Laryngology and Otology*, vol. 134, no. 7, pp. 577–581, 2020, doi: 10.1017/S0022215120001437.
- [138] D. J. Carragher and P. J. B. Hancock, "Surgical face masks impair human face matching performance for familiar and unfamiliar faces," *Cogn Res Princ Implic*, vol. 5, no. 1, Dec. 2020, doi: 10.1186/s41235-020-00258-x.
- [139] A. A. AlGhamri, S. L. Murray, and V. A. Samaranayake, "The effects of wearing respirators on human fine motor, visual, and cognitive performance," *Ergonomics*, vol. 56, no. 5, pp. 791–802, May 2013, doi: 10.1080/00140139.2013.767383.

- [140] C. Yánez Benítez *et al.*, "Impact of Personal Protective Equipment on Surgical Performance During the COVID-19 Pandemic," *World J Surg*, vol. 44, no. 9, pp. 2842– 2847, Sep. 2020, doi: 10.1007/s00268-020-05648-2.
- [141] F. Z. Mgaedeh, "Human factors impact of COVID-19 face mask usage for essential Human factors impact of COVID-19 face mask usage for essential workers: Engineering evaluation of mask usage workers: Engineering evaluation of mask usage." [Online]. Available: https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/etd
- [142] A. T. Johnson, C. R. Dooly, M. S. Sahota, K. M. Coyne, and M. B. Benjamin, "Effect of altered vision on constant load exercise performance while wearing a respirator," *Am Ind Hyg Assoc J*, vol. 58, no. 8, pp. 578–582, 1997, doi: 10.1080/15428119791012504.
- [143] S. D. Zelnick, R. T. McKay, and J. E. Lockey, "Visual field loss while wearing full-face respiratory protection," *Am Ind Hyg Assoc J*, vol. 55, no. 4, pp. 315–321, Apr. 1994, doi: 10.1080/15428119491018952.
- [144] M. Loibner, S. Hagauer, G. Schwantzer, A. Berghold, and K. Zatloukal, "Limiting factors for wearing personal protective equipment (PPE) in a health care environment evaluated in a randomised study," *PLoS One*, vol. 14, no. 1, Jan. 2019, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0210775.
- [145] F. Mgaedeh, R. Stone, E. Abdelall, and E. Helton, "Retail Workers during COVID-19: Face Mask Effects on Performance, Productivity, and Perception under Different Workloads," *https://doi.org/10.1177/1071181322661419*, vol. 66, no. 1, pp. 1340–1344, Oct. 2022, doi: 10.1177/1071181322661419.
- [146] R. Stone, M. Wang, T. Schnieders, and E. Abdelall, "Exploring The Effect of Visual Information Degradation on Human Perception and Performance In A Human-Telerobot System," *https://doi.org/10.1177/1071181320641310*, vol. 64, no. 1, pp. 1302–1307, Feb. 2021, doi: 10.1177/1071181320641310.
- [147] A. M. Bisantz et al., "Visual Representations of Meta-Information," J Cogn Eng Decis Mak, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 67–91, 2009, doi: 10.1518/155534309X433726.
- [148] J. D. Waugh and P. W. K~ilduff, "MISSILE COMPONENT REPAIR WHILE WEARING NBC PROTECTIVE CLOTHING," 1984.
- [149] E. S. Abdelall *et al.*, "The Interaction Between Physical and Psychosocial Stressors," *Front Behav Neurosci*, vol. 14, May 2020, doi: 10.3389/FNBEH.2020.00063.
- [150] T. Montero-Vilchez, C. Cuenca-Barrales, A. Martinez-Lopez, A. Molina-Leyva, and S. Arias-Santiago, "Skin adverse events related to personal protective equipment: a systematic review and meta-analysis," *Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology*, vol. 35, no. 10, pp. 1994–2006, 2021, doi: 10.1111/jdv.17436.

- [151] S. Jose, M. C. Cyriac, and M. Dhandapani, "Health problems and skin damages caused by personal protective equipment: Experience of frontline nurses caring for critical COVID-19 patients in intensive care units," *Indian Journal of Critical Care Medicine*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 134–139, 2021, doi: 10.5005/jp-journals-10071-23713.
- [152] A. F. Parlin *et al.*, "Effect of Double Masking with Silk or Cotton Over-masks on the Source Control Capabilities of a Surgical Mask," *Aerosol Air Qual Res*, vol. 22, no. 6, Jun. 2022, doi: 10.4209/aaqr.220036.
- [153] V. Arumuru, S. S. Samantaray, and J. Pasa, "Double masking protection vs. comfort—A quantitative assessment," *Physics of Fluids*, vol. 33, no. 7, p. 77120, Jul. 2021, doi: 10.1063/5.0058571.
- [154] S. Sankhyan *et al.*, "Filtration performance of layering masks and face coverings and the reusability of cotton masks after repeated washing and drying," *Aerosol Air Qual Res*, vol. 21, no. 11, 2021, doi: 10.4209/AAQR.210117.
- [155] J. D. Ramsey, "Task performance in heat: A review," *Ergonomics*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 154– 165, 1995, doi: 10.1080/00140139508925092.
- [156] E. C. Poulton, "Arousing environmental stresses can improve performance, whatever people say. - PsycNET," *Aviat Space Environ Med*, vol. 47, pp. 1193–1204, 1976, Accessed: Aug. 27, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://psycnet.apa.org/record/1980-24251-001
- [157] J. D. Ramsey, D. Dayal, and B. Ghaharamani, "Heat Stress Limits for the Sedentary Worker," *http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/0002889758507245*, vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 259–265, Apr. 2010, doi: 10.1080/0002889758507245.
- [158] E. LastNameO. G., "Heat acclimatization studied in the laboratory and... Google Scholar," *Ergonomics*, vol. 6, pp. 304–305, 1963, Accessed: Aug. 27, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&as\_sdt=0%2C16&q=Heat+acclimatization+stu died+in+the+laboratory+and+the+field+a+multidisciplinary+approach&btnG=
- [159] K. A. Provins, "Environmental heat, body temperature and behaviour: An hypothesis1," *Aust J Psychol*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 118–129, Aug. 1966, doi: 10.1080/00049536608255722.
- [160] D. P. Wyon, "Studies of children under imposed noise and heat stress," *Ergonomics*, vol. 13, no. 5, pp. 598–612, 1970, doi: 10.1080/00140137008931185.
- [161] E. C. Poulton, *Environment and Human Efficiency*. Springfield: Charles C. Thomas., 1970.
- [162] M. C. ROBINSON and P. BISHOP, "Influence of thermal stress and cooling on fine motor and decoding skills," *International Journal of Sports Medicine Abstracts*, vol. 9, no. 148, 1988.

- [163] P. S. RAY, P. A. BISHOP, and G. SMITH, "Effects of fatigue and heat stress on vigilance of workers in protective clothing," *Proceedings 35th Annual Meeting of the Human Factors Society*, pp. 885–889, 1991.
- [164] R. Nielsen and K. Jorgensen, Eds., "Heat and clothing 'effects on stay," in *Advances in Industrial Ergonomics and Safety V*, London : Taylor & Francis, 1993, pp. 435–441.
- [165] C. R. Bell and K. A. Provins, "Effects of High Temperature Environmental Conditions on Human Performance Author(s," 1962. [Online]. Available: https://about.jstor.org/terms
- [166] N. H. MACKWORTH, "Researches on the measurement of human performance," New York: Dover, 1961.
- [167] M. Loeb and G. Jeantheau, "The influence of noxious environmental stimuli on vigilance," *Journal of Applied Psychology*, vol. 42, no. 1, pp. 47–49, Feb. 1958, doi: 10.1037/H0042580.
- [168] S. Lahiri, C. A. Weitz, J. S. Milledge, M. C. Fishman, and M. C. Fish-, "Effects of hypoxia, heat, and humidity on physical performance," 1976.
- [169] B. J. Fine and J. L. Kobrick, "Effects of Altitude and Heat on Complex Cognitive Tasks:," *Human Factors*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 115–122, Jul. 2016, doi: 10.1177/001872087802000115.
- [170] P. A. Bell, "Effects of Noise and Heat Stress on Primary and Subsidiary Task Performance," *Human Factors: The Journal of Human Factors and Ergonomics Society*, vol. 20, no. 6, pp. 749–752, Jul. 1978, doi: 10.1177/001872087802000614.
- [171] E. C. Poulton and R. S. Edwards, "Interactions and range effects in experiments on pairs of stresses: Mild heat and low-frequency noise," *J Exp Psychol*, vol. 102, no. 4, pp. 621– 628, Apr. 1974, doi: 10.1037/H0036319.
- [172] E. C. Poulton, R. S. Edwards, and W. P. Colquhoun, "The Interaction of the Loss of a Night's Sleep with Mild Heat :Task Variables," *Ergonomics*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 59–73, 2010, doi: 10.1080/00140137408931313.
- [173] R. D. DEAN and C. L. MCGLOTHLEN, "Effects of combined heat and noise on human performance, physiology, and subjective estimates of comfort and performance," in *Institute of Environmental Science, Annual Technical Meeting Proceedings*, 1965, pp. 55– 64.
- [174] H. A. HAFEZ and M. Y. BESHIR, "Effects of thermostat temperature on human performance," in *Trends in Ergonomics/Human Factors IV*, S. S. Asfour, Ed., Amsterdam),: Elsevier North Holland, 1987, pp. 325–332.
- [175] S. P. Reddy and J. D. Ramsey, "Thermostat variations and sedentary job performance. [At 68, 78, and 84/sup 0/F] (Journal Article) | OSTI.GOV," ASHRAE J, pp. 32–36, 1976, Accessed: Aug. 27, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.osti.gov/biblio/7353354

- [176] P. O. Fanger, *Thermal comfort. Analysis and applications in environmental engineering.* New York : McGraw-Hili, 1970.
- [177] ASHRAE, "Physiological principles, comfort, and health," in *Handbook of Fundamentals*, New York: American Society Heating, Refrigerating, and Air Conditioning Engineers, pp. 8.1-8.36.
- [178] I. D. Griffiths, P. R. Boyce, D. Griffiths, and P. R. Boyoe, "Performance and Thermal Comfort," *http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00140137108931266*, vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 457–468, 2007, doi: 10.1080/00140137108931266.
- [179] D. P. Wyon, P. O. Fanger, B. W. Olesen, and C. J. Pedersen, "The Mental Performance of Subjects Clothed for Comfort at Two Different Air Temperatures," *https://doi.org/10.1080/00140137508931470*, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 359–374, 2007, doi: 10.1080/00140137508931470.
- [180] A. CARPENTER, "The effect of room temperature of the resistance box test: A performance test of intelligence," England, 1946.
- [181] P. A. HANCOCK, "Task categorization and the limits of human performance in extreme heat," *HANCOCK*, *P. A.*, vol. 53, pp. 778–784, 1982.
- [182] S. A. NUNNELEY, D. C. READER, and R. J. MALDONADO, "Head-temperature effects on physiology, comfort, and performance during hyperthermia," *Aviat Space Environ Med*, vol. 53, pp. 623–628, 1982.
- [183] R. T. Wilkinson, R. H. Fox, R. Goldsmith, I. F. G Hampton, and H. E. Lewis, "Psychological and physiological responses to raised body temperature."
- [184] C. R. Bell, K. A. Provins, and R. W. Hiorns, "VISUAL AND AUDITORY VIGILANCE DURING EXPOSURE TO HOT AND HUMID CONDITIONS," *Ergonomics*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 279–288, Jul. 2007, doi: 10.1080/00140136408930747.
- [185] R. D. Pepler, "Warmth and performance: An investigation in the tropics," *Ergonomics*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 63–88, 1958, doi: 10.1080/00140135808930403.
- [186] R. H. Fox, R. GOWSMITH, I. F. G. HAMPTON, and R. T. WILKINSON, "The effects of a raised body temperature on the performance of mental tasks," *Journal of Physiology*, vol. 167, pp. 22–23, 1963.
- [187] E. SHVARTZ, A. MEROZ, A. MECHTINGER, and H. BIRNFELD, "Simple reaction time during exercise, heat exposure, and heat acclimation. - PsycNET," *Aviat Space Environ Med*, vol. 47, pp. 1168–1170, 1976, Accessed: Aug. 27, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://psycnet.apa.org/record/1980-22874-001
- [188] D. BENOR and E. SHVARTZ, "Effect of body cooling on vigilance in hot environments -PubMed," Aerosp Med, vol. 42, pp. 727–730, 1971, Accessed: Aug. 27, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/5162437/

- [189] NIOSH, "Occupational exposure to hot environments," Apr. 1986.
- [190] O. Seppänen, W. J. Fisk, and Q. H. Lei, "Effect of temperature on task performance in office environment," 2006.
- [191] L. Lan, P. Wargocki, and Z. Lian, "Quantitative measurement of productivity loss due to thermal discomfort," in *Energy and Buildings*, May 2011, pp. 1057–1062. doi: 10.1016/j.enbuild.2010.09.001.
- [192] N. Nishihara, M. Haneda, S.-I. Tanabe, M. Ueki, A. Kawamura, and K. Obata, "Human thermal comfort model View project [JST CREST] Development of distributed cooperative EMS methodologies for multiple scenarios by using versatile demonstration platform View project Effect of Overcooling on Productivity Evaluated by the Long Term Field Study," 2014. [Online]. Available: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/229042675
- [193] L. Lan, Z. Lian, and L. Pan, "The effects of air temperature on office workers' well-being, workload and productivity-evaluated with subjective ratings," *Appl Ergon*, vol. 42, no. 1, pp. 29–36, 2010, doi: 10.1016/j.apergo.2010.04.003.
- [194] L. Lan and Z. Lian, "Use of neurobehavioral tests to evaluate the effects of indoor environment quality on productivity," *Build Environ*, vol. 44, no. 11, pp. 2208–2217, Nov. 2009, doi: 10.1016/J.BUILDENV.2009.02.001.
- [195] O. Seppänen, W. J. Fisk, and Q. H. Lei, "Ventilation and performance in office work," *Indoor Air*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 28–36, Feb. 2006, doi: 10.1111/J.1600-0668.2005.00394.X.
- [196] "Subjective perceptions, symptom intensity and performance: a comparison of two independent studies, both changing similarly the pollution load in an office." [Online]. Available: http://www.blackwellmunksgaard.com
- [197] P. Wargocki and D. P. Wyon, "Productivity is affected by the air quality in offices Thermal and IAQ effects on performance View project Annex68 View project," 2000. [Online]. Available: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/239923331
- [198] Z. Bakó-Biró, P. Wargocki, C. J. Weschler, and P. O. Fanger, "Effects of pollution from personal computers on perceived air quality, SBS symptoms and productivity in offices," *Indoor Air*, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 178–187, Jun. 2004, doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0668.2004.00218.x.
- [199] Z. Bakó-Biró, "Human Perception, SBS Symptoms and Performance of Office Work during Exposure to Air Polluted by Building Materials and Personal Computers," 2004.
- [200] J. G. Allen, P. MacNaughton, U. Satish, S. Santanam, J. Vallarino, and J. D. Spengler, "Associations of cognitive function scores with carbon dioxide, ventilation, and volatile organic compound exposures in office workers: A controlled exposure study of green and conventional office environments," *Environ Health Perspect*, vol. 124, no. 6, pp. 805–812, Jun. 2016, doi: 10.1289/ehp.1510037.

- [201] "Guidance for the Selection and Use of Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) in Healthcare Settings."
- [202] "PPE-Info Guidance for PPE selection." Accessed: Aug. 17, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://wwwn.cdc.gov/PPEInfo/RG#/ergwizard/exposure
- [203] "Personal Protective Equipment."
- [204] R. M. Jones, S. C. Bleasdale, D. Maita, and L. M. Brosseau, "A systematic risk-based strategy to select personal protective equipment for infectious diseases," *Am J Infect Control*, vol. 48, no. 1, pp. 46–51, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2019.06.023.
- [205] I. Desjardins-David, "Evaluation of personal protective equipment used for work : considerations and proposal methodology," p. 203, 2010, [Online]. Available: http://www.safetylit.org/citations/index.php?fuseaction=citations.viewdetails&citationIds[ ]=citthesis\_11\_8
- [206] T. Jordan and R. Dolata, "Electric arc protection PPE, selection of PPE, high performance PPE beyond class 2," in *ICOLIM 2014 - 11th International Conference on Live Maintenance*, Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., Oct. 2014. doi: 10.1109/ICOLIM.2014.6934365.
- [207] D. Mcpherson, "Balancing PPE Protection with Comfort, Fit & Style," 2008.
- [208] A. AlGhamri and S. Murray, "Respirator Selection: Considerations for Worker Protection & Productivity," *Prof Saf*, vol. 58, no. 10, pp. 42–48, 2013.

# CHAPTER 3. THE IMPACT OF DIFFERENT MASK TYPES ON HUMAN PERFORMANCE: A STUDY ON SURGICAL, COTTON, AND DOUBLE MASKS FOR COVID-19 PROTECTION

Fatima Mgaedeh<sup>a b\*</sup>, Mohammad Al-Daraghmeh<sup>a</sup>, and Richard T. Stone<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Industrial and Manufacturing Systems Engineering, Iowa State University, Ames IA 50011, United States; <sup>b</sup> Department of Industrial Engineering, Jordan University of Science and technology, Irbid, Jordan.

#### Abstract

Although vaccines prevent severe COVID-19 outcomes, mask-wearing is still recommended for transmission control, and considering the impact of mask choice on performance is crucial for different settings. With the increasing trend of double masking, this study aimed to investigate the effect of double masking on various aspects of human performance, including fine and gross motor skills and cognitive abilities. Fourteen participants participated in this study, engaging in distinct scenarios during four sessions: without a mask, with a cotton mask, with a surgical mask, and with both a cotton mask and a surgical mask, while undertaking varied tests measuring dexterity and cognitive abilities. Wearing single surgical, cotton, or combined masks led to more cognitive test errors than the no-mask control, indicating masks' impact on cognitive performance. Nevertheless, the research revealed that employing a double mask increased participants' perceptions of difficulty, discomfort, and anxiety after completing motor and cognitive tasks.

# Keywords

COVID-19, double masking, fine motor task, visual task, cognitive task, surgical mask, cotton mask.

### Introduction

Due to the ongoing evolution of COVID-19 variants since 2019, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) still recommends wearing face masks to reduce transmission [1]. Many studies have explored different aspects of face masks and their effects on people's daily lives and work. However, most of these studies have focused on a single type of face mask, such as surgical, N-95, or cloth masks. Only a few studies have investigated the impact of surgical masks on human cognitive abilities. In healthcare settings, Elisheva found that prolonged use of N95 and surgical masks during COVID-19 impaired cognition in some healthcare professionals [2]. Morris et al. found no differences in physiological strain, motor-cognitive performance, or thermal discomfort during facemask use in a simulated healthcare environment [3]. Kienbacher et al. showed that wearing FFP2 masks did not harm paramedics' dexterity performance [4]. Tornero-Aguilera and Clemente-Suárez found that surgical masks did not significantly affect university students' mental fatigue perception, reaction time, frequency, or heart rate variability during class [5]. However, another study by Tornero-Aguilera et al. showed that surgical masks increased stress perception, sympathetic modulation, cardiovascular response, and face temperature while decreasing blood oxygen saturation in physical education students [6]. Schlegtendal et al. found no significant differences in cognitive performance between pupils wearing surgical and FFP2 facemasks during regular school lessons [7]. The results of Schlegtendal et al. are consistent with the findings reported by Zimmerman et al., who explored three different types of respirators in their research conducted in 1991 [8]. However, it is crucial to highlight that Zimmerman et al. found a significant effect of wearing respirators compared to not on the performance of psychomotor tasks.

Mgaedeh et al. concluded that wearing facemasks could reduce retail workers' motion response [9]. Even though the cloth mask equipped with an exhalation valve has demonstrated

the least temperature and humidity accumulation within the mask [10], it has been observed that individuals experience discomfort while wearing cloth masks. This discomfort can be attributed to factors such as breathability and the level of tightness against the face and head [11]. Furthermore, the act of wearing masks has been associated with an increase in anxiety levels and a decrease in work tolerability [12], [13]. A recent study on healthcare workers examined two sets of different PPE, varying in quantity and protection level. The findings indicated a significant impact on heart rate, energy expenditure, core body temperature, microclimate temperature, and humidity with increased levels of protection and number of PPE [14]. Regarding the body temperature ratings, the kind of face mask had a significant effect [15].

New research has indicated that using two facemasks instead of one can provide greater protection against COVID-19 and its more contagious variants [16]. Recent studies have examined using cotton materials for double masking combined with surgical masks to explore this further. For example, Arumuru et al. found that wearing a two-layer cotton mask over a surgical mask with a knot significantly reduced the leakage of droplets [17]. Similarly, Sankhyan et al. found that layering a cotton cloth mask over a surgical mask was more beneficial than wearing a single surgical mask, especially when the surgical mask had lower filtration efficiency [18].

To the best of the authors' knowledge, no research has examined how double masking may affect human psychomotor and cognitive. Therefore, this study has the potential to offer a more complete and reliable recommendation on the use of double masks that considers important human factors such as motor skills and cognitive abilities, in addition to health protection and reducing the spread of COVID-19.

The primary aim of this study is to examine how wearing different types of masks,

including a single surgical mask, a cotton cloth mask, and a combination of a surgical mask and cotton cloth mask, can affect human performance in terms of fine and gross motor skills, visual abilities, and cognitive functions. The study's hypotheses are as follows:

- I. The mask type would affect human fine and gross motor performance.
- II. The mask type would affect human cognitive performance.

#### Methodology

## **Ethics statement**

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at Iowa State University. Upon arrival on the first day of the study, participants provided informed consent (Appendix: IRB approval memo).

## **Participants**

A total of 14 individuals took part in the study, consisting of 11 males and 3 females, with an average age of 28.3 years and a standard deviation of 4.5. The eligibility criteria for participants involved being in a normal physical condition and not having any chronic respiratory illnesses, injuries, fatigue, or musculoskeletal disorders. Participants who reported having no allergies or skin irritations from surgical masks made of polypropylene or cotton and no current cognitive or visual impairments were included. However, individuals who did not meet these criteria were excluded from the study.

# Independent and dependent variables

This study examined one independent variable: the type of facemask used. Four different levels of facemasks were considered, including no facemasks, a single surgical mask, a single

cotton cloth mask, and a surgical mask combined with a cotton cloth mask. These three levels were compared to a control group that did not use face masks.

Five dependent variables were employed to evaluate the effects of various mask types on humans. These included fine motor dexterity, gross motor dexterity, cognitive performance, comfort level, and perceived anxiety associated with wearing the facemask.

The study used the Lafayette Purdue pegboard test (Model 32020A) to evaluate fine motor dexterity of fingertips and gross motor dexterity of fingers, hands, and arms [1]. The Purdue Pegboard Test was used to assess and record the total number of assemblies completed per minute. The board features two parallel rows of 25 holes each, totaling 50 pins. The participant was required to place as many pins as possible in the holes using the dominant hand, non-dominant hand, and both hands within 30 seconds in the first three subtests. The fourth subtest required the participant to alternate using both hands to assemble a pin, a washer, a collar, and another washer, completing as many assemblies as possible within one minute. A visual of the Purdue pegboard test set is displayed in Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1. The Purdue pegboard test

The standardized Lafayette hand tool dexterity test is used to assess fine motor skills using ordinary mechanics tools [13] by recording the completion time in seconds. The test includes 12 bolts, four of each size, and a U-shaped apparatus with bolt heads inside the two uprights shown in Figure 3.2. The objective is to disassemble all the bolts using tools to loosen them first, then fingers to remove them, and then reassemble them on corresponding rows of the other upright with the heads of the bolts inside. The test requires tightening the bolts so they cannot be removed with the fingers.



Figure 3.2. The Hand Tool Dexterity Test

The Lafayette Minnesota dexterity test measured gross motor skills of the arm and hand using a folding board and sixty blocks [14]. The test includes two tasks: placing and turning. For the placing test, the participant fills the board's holes with disks using their dominant hand as fast as possible. In the turning test, the participant picks up a block, turns it, and returns it to its original position. The score is the total number of seconds taken to complete the task. Figure 3.3 illustrates the turning subtest's starting position and sequence of rows. The total completion time of two trials for the turning test was evaluated.



Figure 3.3. The Minnesota Dexterity Test

The Serial Sevens Test is a well-known method for measuring cognitive abilities by subtracting seven repeatedly from a four-digit starting number [15]. Participants were asked to subtract seven from the starting number 15 times, with time starting when the examiner announced the number and ending with the last subtraction. Errors are recorded for each miscalculation but not for correct answers.

The level of comfort provided by the facemask was evaluated using a Likert scale ranging from 1 to 5, where 1 indicated a very comfortable experience, and 5 indicated a highly uncomfortable experience. The level of anxiety induced by wearing a facemask was evaluated subjectively on a Likert scale ranging from 1 to 5, where 1 indicated low anxiety, and 5 indicated high anxiety. Task Perceived Difficulty Level was assessed subjectively on a Likert scale between 1 and 5. Where 1 is easy and 5 is highly difficult.

#### **Experimental tasks and procedure**

The study was performed in a laboratory at Iowa State University with an average temperature of 70°F, where participants were briefed and given questionnaires to determine their eligibility and demographic information. Participants then underwent training and performed three dexterity tests to determine their dexterity level. The experiment consisted of four sessions, in which participants were randomly assigned to wear different types of masks (single surgical mask, single cotton cloth mask, a surgical mask doubled with a cotton cloth mask, or no mask) and asked to perform the formerly stated tasks while wearing the assigned mask. They were also asked to rate each mask type's comfort, perceived difficulty, and anxiety level.

## **Statistical analysis**

The statistical analysis in this study was conducted using the R Project for Statistical Computing Software, version 4.2.2. The Repeated Measures ANOVA technique was used to determine the effect of mask type on the different dependent variables. Their normality was checked to ensure that the dependent variables were approximately normally distributed. A significance level of 0.05 was set for all statistical analyses.

## Results

The study's objective was to investigate the effect of no face mask, face mask type, and double masking on human fine motor, gross motor, and cognitive performance.

## **Fine motor dexterity**

The study measured fine motor dexterity using two metrics: the total number of assemblies completed per minute and the time it took to complete the task in seconds. The statistical analysis showed that wearing a face mask statistically significantly affected the total number of assemblies per minute (with a p-value of 0.005). The obtained p-value indicated that one or more types of facemasks significantly impact the total number of parts assembled per minute. Thus, additional post-hoc analysis was performed using pairwise t-test comparison to determine which facemask had the most significant effect, as presented in Table 3.1. According to the pairwise t-test comparison shown in Table 3.1, the surgical mask was doubled with a cotton mask, and the control conditions were found to be significantly different from each other in terms of their effect on the total number of assemblies per minute.

Similarly, the single cotton mask and the control condition were also found to be significantly different from each other. The statistical analysis showed no significant effect of wearing a facemask on the completion time in seconds (p=0.585). This means the time to complete the dexterity tasks was not significantly different among the facemask types and the control condition.

	Single Cotton mask	A surgical mask doubled with a cotton mask	No Mask
A surgical mask doubled with a cotton mask	1.00	-	-
No mask	0.025	0.044	-
Single Surgical mask	0.722	0.254	0.913

Table 3.1. Pairwise comparisons using paired t-tests for fine motor dexterity

## Gross motor dexterity

The repeated measures one-way ANOVA results showed no statistically significant effect of wearing different types of face masks on gross motor dexterity performance (p=0.217). This means that the choice of face mask did not significantly impact the gross motor dexterity tasks

performed by the participants. The p-value of 0.217 suggests a 21.7% chance that the observed differences in gross motor dexterity performance between the face mask conditions could have occurred by chance alone. Therefore, based on these results, it can be concluded that the type of face mask worn does not affect gross motor dexterity performance.

## The cognitive test

The repeated measured one-way ANOVA results on the cognitive test response variable (error) indicated a statistically significant effect of different face mask conditions (p=0.000614). This means that the type of face mask worn during the cognitive test significantly impacted the number of errors made by the participants. To determine which face mask condition produced the most significant change, post-hoc analysis using pairwise t-test comparison was conducted, and the results are presented in Table 3.2.

Table 3.2. Pairwise comparisons using paired t-tests for cognitive test

	Single Cotton mask	surgical mask doubled with a cotton mask	No Mask
surgical mask doubled with a cotton mask	0.811	-	-
No mask	0.046	0.014	-
Single Surgical mask	0.765	1.00	0.022

According to the pairwise t-test comparison shown in Table 3.2, the results suggest that the Surgical mask doubled with a cotton mask. The control conditions were significantly different from each other, indicating that wearing a combination of surgical and cotton masks or not wearing a mask at all resulted in significantly fewer errors compared to wearing a single surgical mask. The comparison also showed that the single cotton mask and the control condition were significantly different, indicating that wearing a single cotton mask or not wearing a mask at all resulted in significantly fewer errors compared to wearing a mask at all resulted in significantly fewer errors compared to wearing no mask. Finally, the comparison showed that the single surgical mask and the control condition differed significantly, indicating that wearing a single surgical mask resulted in significantly more errors than not wearing a mask.

## Subjective feedback analysis

Each participant completed all the tasks four times, once for each face mask condition. After each task, participants were asked to report their comfort level regarding the face mask they were wearing, their anxiety level, and how difficult they found the task to be while wearing the face mask. This was done in each of the four sessions.

A Likert scale is a commonly used rating scale that measures the degree of agreement or disagreement with a statement or question. In this case, the Likert scale was used to measure the level of comfort provided by the facemask. The scale ranged from 1 to 5, with 1 indicating a very comfortable experience and 5 indicating a highly uncomfortable experience. Participants were likely asked to rate their comfort level after each task performed with each face mask condition. The results of the ratings can be used to compare the comfort level provided by each type of facemask. According to the tables provided, the average uncomfortably rating was consistently higher for the Single surgical double with a single cotton mask condition across all tasks performed by the participants. This suggests that participants found this particular mask condition to be the least comfortable among all the conditions tested in the study. This information is important as it highlights the importance of considering not only the effectiveness of the mask but also its comfort level, as the discomfort can potentially lead to reduced compliance with wearing masks in real-world scenarios.

The level of anxiety induced by wearing a facemask was evaluated subjectively by the participants using a Likert scale. The scale ranged from 1 to 5, with 1 indicating low anxiety and five indicating high anxiety. Participants were asked to report their anxiety level after each task

was completed with a different facemask condition. Based on the data collected and analyzed, the average anxiety rating was higher when participants wore a double mask after performing the Purdue dexterity tasks, turning dexterity tasks, and cognition tasks. However, the average anxiety rating was higher when wearing a single cotton mask while performing the hand tool dexterity task. This suggests that the type of task being performed and the type of mask being worn can have an impact on the level of anxiety experienced by the individual. It is important to note that these results are based on subjective self-report measures, and other factors may also contribute to the level of anxiety experienced by individuals wearing face masks.

Task Perceived Difficulty Level refers to the subjective perception of how difficult a task is for the participant. This was assessed on a Likert scale ranging from 1 to 5, where 1 indicated a very easy task, and 5 indicated a highly difficult task. As shown in the tables below, Participants reported higher difficulty perceptions for the single cotton mask while performing the Purdue dexterity and hand tool dexterity tasks. On the other hand, double masking caused higher difficulty perceptions of the task while performing the turning dexterity tasks and cognitive tasks. These results suggest that face masks may affect different types of tasks differently.

	Difficulty	Comfortability	Anxiety Level
		Mean ± SD	
No mask	$1.29 \pm 0.59$	$1.07 \pm 0.26$	$1.14 \pm 0.35$
Single Cotton	$1.57\pm0.62$	$1.71 \pm 0.70$	$1.5 \pm 0.63$
Single Surgical	$1.43\pm0.62$	$1.5 \pm 0.63$	$1.5 \pm 0.63$
Single surgical double with a single cotton	$1.5\pm0.73$	$2.14\pm0.86$	1.86 ± 1.12

Table 3.3. Subjective feedback from participants after completing the Purdue dexterity tasks

	Difficulty	Comfortability	Anxiety Level
		Mean ± SD	1
No mask	$1.57\pm0.98$	$1.21 \pm 0.41$	$1.29\pm0.45$
Single Cotton	$2.07\pm0.88$	$2.14 \pm 0.74$	$2.07 \pm 1.16$
Single Surgical	$1.76 \pm 1.15$	$1.86 \pm 1.06$	$2 \pm 1.07$
Single surgical double	$1.93\pm0.88$	$2.64\pm0.81$	$1.86\pm0.91$
with a single cotton			

Table 3.4. Subjective feedback from participants after completing the hand tool dexterity task

Table 3.5. Subjective feedback from participants after completing the turning dexterity tasks

	Difficulty	Comfortability	Anxiety Level
	Mean ± SD		
No mask	$1.14\pm0.35$	$1.14\pm0.35$	$1.29\pm0.45$
Single Cotton	$1.57\pm0.62$	$2\pm0.76$	$1.79\pm0.77$
Single Surgical	$1.71\pm0.96$	$2\pm0.76$	$1.86\pm0.91$
Single surgical double with a single cotton	$2.21 \pm 1.08$	$2.14 \pm 0.9$	2.14 ± 1.12

Table 3.6. Subjective feedback from participants after completing the cognition task

	Difficulty	Comfortability	Anxiety Level
		Mean ± SD	
No mask	$2.07 \pm 1.49$	$1.79 \pm 1.32$	$1.64\pm0.97$
Single Cotton	$2.71 \pm 1.16$	$2.29 \pm 1.16$	$2.36 \pm 1.11$
Single Surgical	$3.14 \pm 1.19$	$1.93\pm0.88$	$2.71 \pm 1.33$
Single surgical double	$3.71\pm0.88$	$2.86 \pm 0.91$	$2.93 \pm 1.53$
with a single cotton			

# Discussion

The hypothesis that different types of masks would affect human fine and gross motor performance was only partially rejected, as the only significant effect was observed with the cotton or surgical doubled with a cotton mask on the total number of assemblies per minute
during Purdue's fine motor performance task. There was enough evidence not to reject the hypothesis that masks would affect cognitive performance. However, these findings suggest that individuals should be cautious when performing tasks that require facemasks and high working memory loads, such as those in STEM-related fields. Furthermore, individuals who work in jobs requiring fine motor skills, such as surgery, dentistry, jewelry making, data entry, and musical instrument repair and tuning, should also be cautious when wearing cloth or double masks.

Studies have shown that wearing face masks can increase facial skin temperature, impacting thermal sensations throughout the body and causing discomfort [23], emphasizing the need to understand this effect in order to assess the impact of different mask types on human performance. Studies have shown that wearing masks can increase skin temperature and affect the perception of thermal discomfort. Recent research has compared the effects of surgical and N95 masks on facial skin temperature and found that surgical masks produce less of an increase [24]. Studies have also examined the relationship between thermal stress, discomfort, and human performance and found that even mild stress can affect performance, with task characteristics being a key factor [25]. Cognitive load may affect Fine motor skills more than gross motor skills [26], which could explain the different effects of masks on the Purdue and Minnesota dexterity tests.

The effect of different face mask types on the completion time of the hand tool dexterity test is insignificant; this result is consistent with AlGhamri et al., results [27], despite increased discomfort and difficulty, according to the study's results. However, factors such as age, gender, hand size, and hand skin temperature may be more critical in determining hand tool dexterity scores [28]. To better understand the impact of mask type on performance, measuring the total

63

number of errors and completion time during the hand tool dexterity task while wearing each mask type is recommended.

Wearing a single surgical, single cotton, or surgical mask doubled with a cotton facemask significantly increases the number of errors in the Serial Seven test and perceived difficulty, discomfort, and anxiety. These results conflict with recent studies on the effect of wearing facemasks on cognitive performance. According to [29], analyzing almost three million chess moves played by over 8500 individuals in eighteen countries before and during the COVID-19 pandemic shows that wearing a face mask can significantly decrease the average quality of player decisions, which could lead to a temporary impact on cognitive performance during a demanding mental task that requires a high working memory load. However, the decrease in cognitive performance can be attributed to the annoyance caused by the face masks rather than physiological factors like cerebral oxygenation. This is supported by the dramatic increase in reported perceived difficulty, discomfort, and anxiety by participants after completing the cognitive task while wearing facemasks compared to the control condition of not wearing a facemask. However, these findings contrast with other studies, such as those by [5] and [30], which reported no significant impact of wearing a surgical facemask on cognitive performance. Additionally, [31] found that wearing a non-woven fabric cloth facemask during warm-up could actually enhance cognitive function.

#### Limitations

To the best of the authors' knowledge, this is the first study that examined the effect of double masking. Thus, this study had several limitations.

First, this study was conducted over short periods, reflecting the immediate impact of double masking. Hence, comprehending the long-term effects of double masking and generalizing becomes complicated. Therefore, a longitudinal study is necessary to examine the

64

potential adverse effect of double masking and the level of adherence and compliance among wearers.

Second, this study investigated cotton cloth masks and level 1 surgical masks. Further research is needed to include the many variants of cloth and surgical masks. In addition, further research may include other face mask types with combinations such as N95, KN95, and FFP 1.

#### Conclusion

To the best of the authors' knowledge, this study is the first to explore the influence of double masking on human psychomotor and cognitive performance and the first research to analyze how surgical and cotton masks impact human manual dexterity skills. The study showed that using a surgical mask along with a cotton mask can lead to higher levels of anxiety, discomfort, and difficulty during tasks. Wearing either a surgical mask or a surgical mask doubled with a cotton mask can notably impact human cognitive performance. This suggests that using face masks during mental tasks that require a high working memory load may compromise the quality of work and decision-making. Further research is needed to examine the total time required to complete cognitive tasks and the number of errors associated with wearing each type of mask.

## **Disclosure Statement**

The authors reported no potential conflict of interest.

#### References

- [1] "People with Certain Medical Conditions | CDC." Accessed: Jun. 24, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/need-extra-precautions/peoplewith-medical-conditions.html
- [2] R. Elisheva, "Adverse Effects of Prolonged Mask Use among Healthcare Professionals during COVID-19," Journal of Infectious Diseases and Epidemiology, vol. 6, no. 3, Jun. 2020, doi: 10.23937/2474-3658/1510130.
- [3] N. B. Morris, J. F. Piil, L. Christiansen, A. D. Flouris, and L. Nybo, "Prolonged facemask use in the heat worsens dyspnea without compromising motor-cognitive performance," Temperature, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 160–165, 2021, doi: 10.1080/23328940.2020.1826840.

- [4] C. L. Kienbacher et al., "The use of personal protection equipment does not negatively affect paramedics' attention and dexterity: a prospective triple-cross over randomized controlled non-inferiority trial," Scand J Trauma Resusc Emerg Med, vol. 30, no. 1, Dec. 2022, doi: 10.1186/s13049-021-00990-3.
- [5] J. F. Tornero-Aguilera and V. J. Clemente-Suárez, "Cognitive and psychophysiological impact of surgical mask use during university lessons," Physiol Behav, vol. 234, May 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2021.113342.
- [6] J. F. Tornero-Aguilera, A. Rubio-Zarapuz, and V. J. Clemente-Suárez, "Implications of surgical mask use in physical education lessons," Physiol Behav, vol. 239, p. 113513, Oct. 2021, doi: 10.1016/J.PHYSBEH.2021.113513.
- [7] A. Schlegtendal et al., "To Mask or Not to Mask—Evaluation of Cognitive Performance in Children Wearing Face Masks during School Lessons (MasKids)," Children, vol. 9, no. 1, Jan. 2022, doi: 10.3390/children9010095.
- [8] N. J. Zimmerman, C. Eberts, G. Salvendy, and G. McCabe, "Effects of respirators on performance of physical, psychomotor and cognitive tasks," Ergonomics, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 321–334, 1991, doi: 10.1080/00140139108967316.
- [9] F. Mgaedeh, R. Stone, E. Abdelall, and E. Helton, "Retail Workers during COVID-19: Face Mask Effects on Performance, Productivity, and Perception under Different Workloads," Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting, vol. 66, no. 1, pp. 1340–1344, Sep. 2022, doi: 10.1177/1071181322661419.
- [10] F. Z. Mgaedeh, R. T. Stone, M. AlZwateen, C. Fales, and E. S. Abdelall, "Mask usage: a mechanical investigation of COVID-19 mask design," Int J Hum Factors Ergon, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 331–349, 2023, doi: 10.1504/IJHFE.2023.135482.
- [11] J. M. Mumma et al., "Development and validation of the discomfort of cloth Masks-12 (DCM-12) scale," Appl Ergon, vol. 98, Jan. 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.apergo.2021.103616.
- [12] S. Wu, P. Harber, D. Yun, S. Bansal, Y. Li, and S. Santiago, "Anxiety during respirator use: Comparison of two respirator types," J Occup Environ Hyg, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 123– 128, Mar. 2011, doi: 10.1080/15459624.2011.549780.
- [13] A. T. Johnson, C. R. Dooly, C. A. Blanchard, and E. Y. Brown, "Influence of anxiety level on work performance with and without a respirator mask," Am Ind Hyg Assoc J, vol. 56, no. 9, pp. 858–865, 1995, doi: 10.1080/15428119591016485.
- [14] H. Jahangiri, Z. Zamanian, H. Daneshmandi, M. Seif, and H. Jamshidi, "Investigating the short-term effects of using full-body hospital personal protective equipment and changes in physical workload intensity on human physiological and cognitive performance," Ergonomics, vol. 66, no. 9, pp. 1295–1309, 2023, doi: 10.1080/00140139.2022.2145375.

- [15] F. Mgaedeh, R. Stone, A. Pulley, and M. Y. Al-Daraghmeh, "The Effects of Face Mask Types, Athletic Levels, and Caffeine Intake on Employee Performance, Productivity, and Perception," Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting, Sep. 2023, doi: 10.1177/21695067231192182.
- [16] A. F. Parlin et al., "Effect of Double Masking with Silk or Cotton Over-masks on the Source Control Capabilities of a Surgical Mask," Aerosol Air Qual Res, vol. 22, no. 6, Jun. 2022, doi: 10.4209/aaqr.220036.
- [17] V. Arumuru, S. S. Samantaray, and J. Pasa, "Double masking protection vs. comfort—A quantitative assessment," Physics of Fluids, vol. 33, no. 7, p. 77120, Jul. 2021, doi: 10.1063/5.0058571.
- [18] S. Sankhyan et al., "Filtration performance of layering masks and face coverings and the reusability of cotton masks after repeated washing and drying," Aerosol Air Qual Res, vol. 21, no. 11, 2021, doi: 10.4209/AAQR.210117.
- [19] T. McLellan, "Purdue Pegboard Dexterity Test," Encyclopedia of Child Behavior and Development, pp. 1202–1203, 2011, doi: 10.1007/978-0-387-79061-9\_2322.
- [20] "Hand Tool Dexterity Test Owner's / Operator's Manual Model 32521 MAN195," 2011.
- [21] "THE MINNESOTA DEXTERITY TEST THE MINNESOTA MANUAL DEXTERITY TEST (MMDT) #32023." [Online]. Available: www.lafayetteinstrument.com
- [22] A. B. Scholey, S. Harper, and D. O. Kennedy, "Cognitive demand and blood glucose," Physiol Behav, vol. 73, no. 4, pp. 585–592, 2001, doi: 10.1016/S0031-9384(01)00476-0.
- [23] I. S. Laird, R. Goldsmith, R. J. Pack, and A. Vitalis, "The effect on heart rate and facial skin temperature of wearing respiratory protection at work," Annals of Occupational Hygiene, vol. 46, no. 2, pp. 143–148, 2002, doi: 10.1093/annhyg/mef015.
- [24] A. Scarano, F. Inchingolo, and F. Lorusso, "Facial skin temperature and discomfort when wearing protective face masks: Thermal infrared imaging evaluation and hands moving the mask," Int J Environ Res Public Health, vol. 17, no. 13, pp. 1–9, Jul. 2020, doi: 10.3390/ijerph17134624.
- [25] A. Enander, "Effects of thermal stress on human performance.," Scand J Work Environ Health, 1989.
- [26] I. M. J. van der Fels, S. C. M. te Wierike, E. Hartman, M. T. Elferink-Gemser, J. Smith, and C. Visscher, "The relationship between motor skills and cognitive skills in 4-16 year old typically developing children: A systematic review," J Sci Med Sport, vol. 18, no. 6, pp. 697–703, Nov. 2015, doi: 10.1016/J.JSAMS.2014.09.007.
- [27] A. A. AlGhamri, S. L. Murray, and V. A. Samaranayake, "The effects of wearing respirators on human fine motor, visual, and cognitive performance," Ergonomics, vol. 56, no. 5, pp. 791–802, 2013, doi: 10.1080/00140139.2013.767383.

- [28] Y. T. Prasetyo, "Factors Affecting Fine Dexterity: A Structural Equation Modeling Approach," in ACM International Conference Proceeding Series, Association for Computing Machinery, Apr. 2020, pp. 304–308. doi: 10.1145/3396743.3396776.
- [29] D. Smerdon, "The effect of masks on cognitive performance," Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, vol. 119, no. 49, Dec. 2022, doi: 10.1073/pnas.2206528119.
- [30] J. F. Tornero-Aguilera, A. Rubio-Zarapuz, and V. J. Clemente-Suárez, "Implications of surgical mask use in physical education lessons," Physiol Behav, vol. 239, Oct. 2021, doi: 10.1016/J.PHYSBEH.2021.113513.
- [31] M. Slimani et al., "Effect of a warm-up protocol with and without facemask-use against covid-19 on cognitive function: A pilot, randomized counterbalanced, cross-sectional study," Int J Environ Res Public Health, vol. 18, no. 11, Jun. 2021, doi: 10.3390/ijerph18115885.

## **Appendix: IRB approval memo**

	STATE UNIVERSITY	Institutional Review Board Office of Research Ethics Vice President for Research 2420 Lincoln Way, Suite 202 Ames, Iowa 50014 515 294-4566
Date:	10/31/2022	
То:	Mohammad Al-Daraghmeh	Richard T Stone
From:	Office of Research Ethics	
Title: Psy	Investigating the effect of Double Masking with Cl chomotor, Visual, and Cognitive Performance	oth Over-masks on the Human
IRB ID:	22-335	
Submission Typ	e: Initial Submission	Exemption Date: 10/31/2022

The project referenced above has been declared exempt from most requirements of the human subject protections regulations as described in 45 CFR 46.104 or 21 CFR 56.104 because it meets the following federal requirements for exemption:

2018 - 2 (ii): Research that only includes interactions involving educational tests (cognitive, diagnostic, aptitude, achievement), survey procedures, interview procedures, or observation of public behavior (including visual or auditory recording) when any disclosure of the human subjects' responses outside the research would not reasonably place the subjects at risk of criminal or civil liability or be damaging to the subjects' financial standing, employability, educational advancement, or reputation. 2018 - 3 (i.B): Research involving benign behavioral interventions in conjunction with the collection of information from an adult subject through verbal or written responses or audiovisual recording when the subjects' responses outside the research would not reasonably place the subjects at risk of criminal or civil liability or be the human subjects' responses outside the research would not reasonably place the subjects at risk of criminal or civil liability or be damaging to the human subjects' responses outside the research would not reasonably place the subjects at risk of criminal or civil liability or be damaging to the subjects' financial standing, employability, educational advancement, or reputation. - 3 (ii) If research involves deception, it is prospectively authorized by the subject.

The determination of exemption means that:

- You do not need to submit an application for continuing review. Instead, you will receive a request
  for a brief status update every three years. The status update is intended to verify that the study is
  still ongoing.
- You must carry out the research as described in the IRB application. Review by IRB staff is required prior to implementing modifications that may change the exempt status of the research. In general, review is required for any modifications to the research procedures (e.g., method of data collection, nature or scope of information to be collected, nature or duration of behavioral interventions, use of deception, etc.), any change in privacy or confidentiality protections, modifications that result in the inclusion of participants from vulnerable populations, removing plans for informing participants about the study, any change that may increase the risk or discomfort to participants, and/or any change such

IRB 07/2020

that the revised procedures do not fall into one or more of the <u>regulatory exemption categories</u>. The purpose of review is to determine if the project still meets the federal criteria for exemption.

- All changes to key personnel must receive prior approval.
- Promptly inform the IRB of any addition of or change in federal funding for this study. Approval of
  the protocol referenced above applies <u>only</u> to funding sources that are specifically identified in the
  corresponding IRB application.

Detailed information about requirements for submitting modifications for exempt research can be found on our <u>website</u>. For modifications that require prior approval, an amendment to the most recent IRB application must be submitted in IRBManager. A determination of exemption or approval from the IRB must be granted <u>before</u> implementing the proposed changes.

Non-exempt research is subject to many regulatory requirements that must be addressed prior to implementation of the study. Conducting non-exempt research without IRB review and approval may constitute non-compliance with federal regulations and/or academic misconduct according to ISU policy.

#### Additionally:

- All research involving human participants must be submitted for IRB review. Only the IRB or its
  designees may make the determination of exemption, even if you conduct a study in the future that is
  exactly like this study.
- Please inform the IRB if the Principal Investigator and/or Supervising Investigator end their role or involvement with the project with sufficient time to allow an alternate PI/Supervising Investigator to assume oversight responsibility. Projects must have an <u>eligible PI</u> to remain open.
- Immediately inform the IRB of (1) all serious and/or unexpected <u>adverse experiences</u> involving risks to subjects or others; and (2) any other <u>unanticipated problems</u> involving risks to subjects or others.
- Approval from other entities may also be needed. For example, access to data from private records (e.g., student, medical, or employment records, etc.) that are protected by FERPA, HIPAA or other confidentiality policies requires permission from the holders of those records. Similarly, for research conducted in institutions other than ISU (e.g., schools, other colleges or universities, medical facilities, companies, etc.), investigators must obtain permission from the institution(s) as required by their policies. An IRB determination of exemption in no way implies or guarantees that permission from these other entities will be granted.
- Your research study may be subject to <u>post-approval monitoring</u> by Iowa State University's Office of Research Ethics. In some cases, it may also be subject to formal audit or inspection by federal agencies and study sponsors.
- Upon completion of the project, transfer of IRB oversight to another IRB, or departure of the PI and/or Supervising Investigator, please initiate a Project Closure in IRBManager to officially close the project.
   For information on instances when a study may be closed, please refer to the IRB Study Closure Policy.

Please don't hesitate to contact us if you have questions or concerns at 515-294-4566 or IRB@iastate.edu.

IRB 07/2020

# CHAPTER 4. MODEL OF PREDICTING PERSONAL PROTECTIVE EQUIPMENT NON-COMPLIANCE (MPENC)

Fatima Mgaedeh<sup>a b\*</sup>, Richard T. Stone<sup>a</sup>, Kris De Brabanter<sup>a</sup>, Zahra Khalilzadeh<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Industrial and Manufacturing Systems Engineering, Iowa State University, Ames IA 50011, United States; <sup>b</sup> Department of Industrial Engineering, Jordan University of Science and technology, Irbid, Jordan

#### Abstract

Compliance poses a significant challenge in the application of Personal Protective Equipment (PPE), notably among healthcare workers (HCWs). Adherence to guidelines, particularly in refraining from touching or manipulating PPE, is vital for protecting those vulnerable to infectious disease exposure. A simulation study was carried out in which the combinations of PPE and workloads were varied. Volunteer students donned either an N95 or surgical mask, complemented by a face shield or goggles, and undertook various tasks under low or high workload conditions. Data on comfort levels, PPE impact evaluation, temperature, and relative humidity were gathered during and at the conclusion of the simulation. Sixteen volunteers participated in the study; fourteen participants were included in building the predictive model due to missing data. The predictive model included the itchy, tight, hot, humid, unfit, maximum comfort, maximum anxiety, maximum difficulty, fatigue, odor, salty, mode dew point, heating up slope, PPE, and workload. The Random Forest (RF) model demonstrated superior performance compared to Linear model regression and LASSO in terms of RMSE and MAE. This study not only sheds light on the factors affecting PPE compliance but also underscores the effectiveness of the Random Forest model in navigating the complexities of PPE use in healthcare settings, offering insights for future strategies to enhance compliance and protect healthcare workers and patients alike.

# Keywords

Compliance, Workloads, Protection level, Face Mask, Temperature, Relative humidity

## Introduction

While personal protective equipment (PPE) is considered the last line of defense in the hierarchy of controls for hazard prevention, it remains an essential tool for protecting workers when all other controls have been exhausted or are not feasible. Elimination, substitution, engineering controls, and administrative controls are all preferred over PPE because they can potentially eliminate or reduce hazards at the source. However, in some cases, such as when workers are exposed to airborne contaminants or infectious diseases, PPE may be the most effective means of protecting them. When selecting and using PPE, it is essential to ensure that the equipment is appropriate for the specific hazard and task, fits properly, and is used and maintained correctly. Failure to do so can result in inadequate protection and increase the risk of injury or illness.

Compliance with wearing PPE is one of the significant challenges faced by PPE users. Complying with PPE regulations entails verifying that the gear is being worn correctly, fits properly, and is suitable for the specific hazards encountered in the workplace. Additionally, it involves appropriately maintaining, storing, and disposing of the equipment. Ensuring compliance with PPE regulations is crucial in safeguarding the health and safety of employees, and violating these regulations can lead to severe injuries, illnesses, and even fatalities.

Several factors contribute to poor compliance with PPE use and can be categorized into organizational, individual, and work-related factors. Organizational factors such as management policy had the most significant impact on employees' compliance by the absence of incentives for compliance [2], [3], [4], punishments for noncompliance [3], [5], [6], [7], inadequate training on the proper use of PPE [3], [7], [8], enforcement and reinforcement make the [3], [8], [9], [10],

[11], safety training [2], [12], [13] and an inadequate safety performance review [8], [14], [15].
Individual factors include work experience [7], [16], [17], [18], [19] discomfort [8], [20], [21],
Poor fit [8], [20], [21], compete and proving expertise in front of coworkers [2], workload
imposed on workers [22], [23], [24], [25], [26], [27], [28], [29], [30], [31], gender, occupations
[17], [32], [18], and perceptions of the PPE's effectiveness [33], [34].

Research has shown that HCWs tend to have low compliance with PPE regulations [9], [35], [36], [37], [38], which is worrying because they are often exposed to infectious diseases and other hazards in the workplace. Targeted interventions and education to improve PPE compliance among HCWs could help lower the risk of workplace injuries and illnesses. Face masks and respirators are frequently researched types of PPE due to their critical function in protecting workers in various occupations. These devices are intended to protect against airborne hazards and infectious diseases, making their effectiveness in preventing illness transmission a significant focus of research. Wearing a face mask for extended periods can cause discomfort and have physiological, psychological, and cognitive effects, which can result in decreased mask-wearing compliance by the end of a shift [39], [40], [41], [42], [43], [44], [45], [46], [47], [48]. This can lead to a reduction in the effectiveness of face masks. The primary cause of discomfort experienced by subjects when wearing face masks was the thermal stress burden [49], [50]. In addition to heat build-up inside face masks, researchers have identified several other factors contributing to discomfort and tolerability issues for mask wearers. These include facial pressure or pain, skin irritation, difficulty breathing, and difficulty communicating [9], [51], [52]. These issues can make wearing masks for extended periods challenging, particularly in highstress or high-intensity work environments. Different varieties of face masks, which offer differing degrees of protection, can also vary in terms of comfort and thermal stress, according to studies. N95 respirators, for example, have been found to be more uncomfortable and cumbersome to wear than surgical masks, presumably due to their tighter fit and increased respiration resistance [50], [53]. Depending on the material used and the number of layers, the degree of protection of cloth masks can differ. However, they are generally considered less cumbersome to wear than N95 respirators and surgical masks. When selecting a face mask for a particular situation, it is crucial to consider the trade-offs between protection and comfort, considering factors such as the level of risk, duration of use, workloads, and individual comfort and tolerance to reduce discomfort and promote compliance. The studies investigating the effects of different types of face masks on compliance and wear time did not reach a clear conclusion or measure as to which type of face mask is worn for a more extended period of time or with greater compliance by workers. Further research is needed in this area to understand better the factors that affect compliance and wear time for different types of face masks.

Consequently, this study aims to assess and measure the degree of compliance with various types of PPE ensembles in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, taking into account different levels of protection and workloads. The study also aims to develop a prediction model for compliance based on the collected data. Also, temperature and relative humidity will be measured. We hypothesized that:

- I. Increasing the level of protection will decrease PPE compliance
- II. Increasing the workload will decrease PPE compliance
- III. Higher temperatures will be built up while wearing a higher level of protection
- IV. Higher temperatures will be built up under a high workload
- V. No change in the relative humidity under different workloads or protection levels

74

# Methodology

# **Design of experiment**

#### **Ethics statement**

The study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at Iowa State University (23-220) (Approval memo found in Appendix 1), and the corresponding approval memorandum is available in Appendix 1. The participant signed the informed consent on the first day of the study.

#### **Infection disease and PPE requirements**

During the COVID-19 pandemic, personal protective equipment (PPE) has been crucial in protecting healthcare workers and others from infection. Face masks, respirators, mittens, hoods, and face barriers are examples of PPE. In healthcare contexts, PPE prevents virus transmission from patients to healthcare professionals and vice versa. PPE is also recommended in environments where physical distance cannot be maintained, such as public transportation and grocery stores. PPE is accompanied by guidelines and recommendations from health organizations and governments to ensure the appropriate use and disposal of PPE to reduce the possibility of infection. The information presented in Figure 4.1 provides guidelines by the CDC [54] for using personal protective equipment (PPE) when attending confirmed or suspected COVID-19 patients. The N95 face mask is preferred, although a surgical mask is considered acceptable. A face shield or goggles can be used to cover the face.



Figure 4.1. Preferred and Accepted PPE by the CDC when caring for suspected or confirmed patients with COVID-19

# **Participants**

Participants were recruited from the Iowa State University campus using flyers and email. Participants were undergraduate and graduate student volunteers.

The inclusion criteria for participation in this study required individuals to be at least 18

years old and proficient in English.

Exclusion criteria included current cardiovascular or respiratory diseases (such as asthma, COPD, pulmonary fibrosis, pneumonia, and lung cancer), current injuries, fatigue, or musculoskeletal disorders (including Epicondylitis, Carpal tunnel syndrome, Repetitive strain injury (RSI), De Quervain's syndrome, Tendinitis of the shoulder, Biceps tendinitis, Tennis elbow, Golfer's elbow, Patellar Tendinitis, Achilles tendinitis, Tension neck syndrome, Lower back pain, etc., or individuals who are suffering from current cognitive disorders such as Alzheimer's disease, Attention deficit disorder, Fronto-temporal dementia, and Epilepsy-related cognitive dysfunction).

Furthermore, individuals with allergies or skin irritations triggered by surgical masks (polypropylene), N95 masks, goggles, and face shields were excluded from the study. Pregnant individuals and those experiencing physical pain that may hinder focus or performance were also excluded from enrollment.

Individuals were encouraged to participate in the study if they maintained good health throughout the study sessions, displaying the absence of symptoms such as headache, nausea, dizziness, lightheadedness, or recent illness, and are not presently afflicted with contagious conditions including flu, hangover, pinkeye, or head lice.

## Independent and dependent variables

For the purpose of the study, this investigation uses two independent variables that are distinct from one another (Table 4.2).

The first independent variable is the protection level of the PPE ensemble. Each ensemble has two PPE: a face mask and face covering. Each PPE had two levels of protection: level 1 and level 2; details are in Table 4.1.

The workload is the second independent variable, and it is broken down into two categories: low and high. The exercise consisted of walking on a treadmill at a speed of 1.34 m/s with no grade at the light (30 min) workload and with a 10% grade at the high (20 min) workload [55].

On the other hand, this investigation has four dependent variables: temperature, relative humidity, the count of times the face mask and face cover are touched (to adjust, modify, or else), and the comfortability of each ensemble.

Table 4.1. PPE ensemble

PPE level	Face mask	Face cover
Level 1	Surgical mask	Face shield
Level 2	N95	Goggle

Table 4.2. Factors, levels, and treatment combination yields (Yij)

Workload, j →	Low	High
Protection Level, i ↓	1	2
1 Surgical mask – Face shield	Y11	Y12
2 Surgical mask – Goggle	Y21	Y22
3 N95 – Face shield	Y31	Y32
4 N95 – Goggle	Y41	Y42

# Apparatus

In our investigation, to augment the authenticity of the simulation and replicate the actual conditions encountered in emergency procedures and everyday healthcare activities requiring proximate healthcare worker-patient interaction, we employed two specialized medical simulation devices: an IV access hand mannequin (Figure 4.2) and an intubation mannequin (Figure 4.3).

The IV arm, constructed from premium plastic and latex materials, ensures the reliability of this IV practice kit. It comes with an adjustable metal infusion stand for added convenience. Modeled closely after a human arm, this phlebotomy kit offers a highly realistic simulation. Featuring two venous vessels with an accurate vein system and several puncture sites, it provides an ideal setup for practicing venipuncture techniques.

The intubation manikin is crafted to mimic the anatomical structure of the human body, featuring lifelike textures, consistent skin tone, and a realistic appearance. Successful intubation is indicated by lung expansion, accompanied by a light display and sound. Incorrect insertion into the esophagus triggers an alarm and light due to stomach inflation. Additionally, compressing the teeth activates a light-based warning. The manikin also allows for observation of pupil size differences between the normal side and the side with dilated pupils.



Figure 4.2. IV practice arm [59]. Figure 4.3. Intubation mannequin [60].

In this research, the face masks investigated included N95 masks, specifically focusing on the 3M 1860 (Cup) model and Level 1 surgical masks. Additionally, the study assessed the effectiveness of Clear Plastic Face Shields and Anti-Fog Protective Safety Goggles as types of face covers.

## Experimental tasks and procedure

Participants visited the laboratory on nine distinct occasions spanning three weeks. One day was allocated for training, while the remaining visits corresponded to each experimental condition. The scheduling of participant sessions was designed to allow for adequate recovery periods and minimize the potential for carryover effects.

On the first day of the study, participants underwent a comprehensive session wherein the study protocol and objectives were elucidated. Following this, participants signed the consent form and completed a demographic survey. Subsequently, participants were familiarized with two simulated tasks, intubation and IV access, which they would be performing. The participants viewed a demonstration video detailing the intubation process, which was elucidated by the research team, and a hands-on demonstration on a manikin conducted by the research personnel. Subsequently, each participant engaged in ten intubation attempts, with the duration of each attempt and any errors incurred being meticulously recorded. This was succeeded by an instructional session on IV access, which included a video presentation and a detailed explanation by the research staff, culminating in a practical demonstration on a manikin hand. Finally, participants attempted IV access for twenty-five minutes, during which all errors were documented.

For the rest of the eight days, the session started with providing the participants with the PPE ensemble and sensor to stick inside the face mask. During this, the research staff started the sensor to begin logging data. The participants then provided their baseline comfort, difficulty, and anxiety.

Then, the participant went through a simulation session for one hour and a half or one hour and 20 minutes. The participants were asked to watch a video for 10 minutes, then walk on the treadmill (low, high), which ended with intubation and IV access procedures

80

(counterbalance). After each task, the participants were asked to rate their comfort, difficulty, and anxiety. In addition, participants were given a break of two minutes between tasks.

Before and after each task was performed, the research team visually checked the face mask fitting. The total time for the experiment while wearing a face mask was 90 minutes for a low workload and 80 minutes for a high workload.

The study was video recorded for counting analysis and time estimation (take off the mask, touch it, modify it, etc.).

#### **Data analysis**

#### Data set

The data set that was included in model development is described below.

- PPE levels: four levels of PPE were included in the models, presented in table (4.1).
- Workload: The data set included two workloads (low and high) for each PPE level.
- Sensor components: for each PPE level and workload, temperature, relative humidity, and dew point. In addition, heat index and heating up slope were calculated and added to this category. (temperature; 3 components, humidity; 2 components, dew point; 2 components, heat index; 2 components).
- Sensation of discomfort: Participants were requested to assess their experiences of nine different discomfort sensations: humidity, heat, breathing resistance, itchiness, tightness, saltiness, feeling unfit, odor, and fatigue.
- PPE Impact Assessments: Participants were requested to evaluate their comfort, difficulty, and anxiety following each task to demonstrate the influence of PPE on

their ease, task difficulty, and task-related anxiety. These attributes comprise six components, encompassing average and maximum values for comfort, difficulty, and anxiety.

• Non-compliance: Non-compliance is measured by the number of instances of interaction between the PPE and the wearer.

Table 4.3. Summary statistics of non-compliance data. The non-compliance is a count.

Summary Statistics*	Value
Total number of subjects	14
Mean non-compliance	18.69
Standard deviation of non-compliance	15.11
Standard error mean of non-compliance	1.43
25 <sup>th</sup> percentile of non-compliance	9
Median	14.5
75 <sup>th</sup> percentile of non-compliance	23.75
Minimum non-compliance	0
Maximum non-compliance	86
PPE levels	4
Workload components	2
Number of sensation of discomfort	9
PPE Impact Assessments	6
Number of sensor components	9
Number of observations	112
*before modeling	

\*before modeling

# **Data preprocessing**

Data preprocessing was conducted to ensure the data is meaningful and in a useful and efficient format for fitting machine learning models.

*One-hot encoding*. In this study, there is one categorical variable, which is the PPE level. Categorical variables were one-hot encoded. In the one-hot encoding method, each distinct category within a categorical variable is transformed into a distinct binary attribute within a newly formed column. Consequently, within every observation, a binary indicator of 1 is allocated to the attribute correlating with its original categorization, with all remaining attributes receiving a binary value of 0. This approach engenders the creation of a novel binary attribute for each potential category, thereby enhancing the precision of modeling and predictive analysis.

*Z-score normalization*. Given the wide variety of sensor data (encompassing temperature, relative humidity, dew point, heat index, and statistical measures such as average, standard deviation, maximum, minimum, mode, and median), it is critical to mitigate bias stemming from individual features. To this end, the z-score normalization method (Equation 1) was employed to standardize the values of all sensor-related variables. This normalization process rescales the variables to fit a standard normal distribution. This technique serves a dual purpose: it not only reduces bias but also enhances the numerical robustness of the model and expedites the training process. The formula rescales each variable to have a mean of 0 and a standard deviation of 1.

$$S_{i,j} = \frac{s_{i,j} - \bar{s}_j}{\sigma_j} \tag{1}$$

Where:

 $S_{i,j}$ : the standardized value of the *i*th observation of the *j*th sensor variable,

 $s_{i,j}$ : the original value of the *i*th observation of the *j*th sensor variable,

 $\overline{s_i}$ : mean of the *j*th sensor variable,

 $\sigma_i$ : the standard deviation of the *j*th sensor variable,

*j* ranges from 1 to K, where K represents the total number of sensor variables, which in this case is 1008 (9 variables \* 112 time periods).

*Added features.* New features were added to the data set. First, the heating-up slope was calculated and added to the data to represent the trend in the temperature data in the first few minutes after donning the PPE, which was not presented by the average, SD, mode, median, or maximum. The second feature is the heat index, calculated from temperature and relative

humidity. Heat index, often called the "apparent temperature," is how hot it feels to the human body.

*Missing values*. In the data set, there was only one row of missing values related to one subject where the sensor failed to collect the corresponding data. The SimpleImputer class offers fundamental techniques for filling in missing values. It allows for replacing missing values with either a specified constant or by utilizing the statistics (mean, median, or mode) of each column where the missing values occur. In our study, missing values were imputed using the statistical method of mean.

*Feature selection*. Given the limited number of data points and the extensive array of input variables or predictors, it is crucial to employ feature selection to prevent overfitting and construct machine learning models that can generalize well. A two-step approach was adopted to identify the most vital and decisive features for predicting the target variable: initially, feature selection was conducted based on domain knowledge, followed by permutation feature selection using random forest.

#### Multicollinearity

The variance inflation factor (VIF) approach was employed to detect the degree of multicollinearity in a set of regression variables. Multicollinearity manifests when a regression model's independent variables display significant correlations, thereby potentially diminishing the statistical relevance of an individual independent variable. In scenarios where no predictors are correlated, the VIF values will uniformly be 1. VIF values greater than five are often considered multicollinear and may need further investigation or removal from the model. VIF is calculated using the following formula:

$$VIF_j = \frac{1}{1 - R_I^2} \qquad (2)$$

*b<sub>j</sub>*: estimated regression coefficient,

 $R_j^2$ : the  $R^2$ -value obtained by regressing the *j*th predictor on the remaining predictors, VIF<sub>j</sub>: the factor by which the variance of  $b_j$  is "inflated" by the existence of correlation among the predictor variables in the model.

# Model development

This study employed linear regression, LASSO regression, and Random Forest to predict non-compliance.

*Linear regression*. Linear regression is a statistical and machine learning technique designed to predict a measurable outcome using one or more predictors based on the assumption of a linear relationship between the predictors (independent variables) and the response (dependent variable). It presupposes normal distribution of variables, absence of multicollinearity, and homoscedasticity (constant variance of error terms). This method is favored across various domains for predictive analysis, elucidating variable relationships, and trend identification, owing to its straightforwardness, ease of interpretation, and robust theoretical framework supporting it.

LASSO regression. LASSO regression, standing for Least Absolute Shrinkage and Selection Operator, is a linear regression method that incorporates regularization to prevent overfitting and simplify models, especially when dealing with data characterized by many features. This technique introduces an L1 penalty to the linear regression loss function, aiming to shrink some coefficients towards zero. Such regularization constrains coefficient estimates towards zero and facilitates in-built feature selection by excluding certain variables altogether, effectively setting their coefficients to zero. The strength of the L1 penalty, governed by the alpha parameter in sklearn's Lasso function, plays a pivotal role in the model's complexity and interpretability; a higher alpha generally results in more coefficients being reduced to zero. In our research, we experimented with a spectrum of alpha values spanning [0.0, 10.01, 0.01]. Our findings indicated that setting alpha to 10 yielded the most favorable outcome.

*Random forest.* RF is an ensemble learning algorithm in machine learning that enhances prediction accuracy by combining the outcomes of multiple decision trees through a technique known as bagging. Bagging involves creating numerous subsets of the dataset through random sampling with replacement, allowing each tree to learn from a different data subset. This process is repeated multiple times, with the final prediction being an average of all tree predictions. This dual focus on reducing prediction bias and variance establishes the random forest as a robust and effective machine-learning algorithm. Our study identified that utilizing 150 trees within the RF model optimized prediction accuracy. Notably, further increasing the number of trees did not enhance accuracy and instead significantly extended training time. Additionally, our investigation into tree depth revealed that a maximum depth of 15 was ideal for achieving precise predictions. Adjusting tree depth profoundly affected accuracy, where increasing depth risked overfitting, and decreasing depth led to reduced accuracy.

Optimizing the hyperparameters of machine learning models and identifying the most effective models with the optimal settings of these parameters are essential for achieving superior prediction accuracy.

Hyperparameter settings leading to the highest performance on the validation set were chosen, and the associated model was then assessed on the test set to evaluate its capacity for generalization. Table 4.4 presents the hyperparameters tested and the optimal estimates achieved for the predictive models.

86

Method	Hyperparameter	<b>Best Parameter</b>
LR	-	-
LASSO	α (alpha)	10
RF	Maximum depth	15
	Number of estimators	150
	Min- sample split	2
	Min-sample-leaf	4

Table 4.4. Hyperparameters of the machine learning models employed to predict Noncompliance.

#### **Performance metrics**

In this study, the performance of our prediction models was evaluated using two widely used metrics: MAE and RMSE. Both metrics measure our models' accuracy and the deviation from the actual values. MAE measures the mean of the absolute difference between the predicted values and the actual values of the target variable (Equation 3). RMSE is the square root of the average of the squares of all errors (Equation 4). RMSE and MAE allowed us to assess the accuracy of the models and compare their performance relative to one another. Together, these metrics provide estimates of the error (RMSE, MAE).

$$MAE = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} |y_i - \hat{y}_i|$$
(3)

$$RMSE = \sqrt{\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_i - \hat{y}_i)^2} \quad (4)$$

Where:

n: the total number of data points,

- $y_i$ : the true value of the *i*th data point,
- $\hat{y}_i$ : the predicted value of the *i*th data point.

# Results

# Participants

Table 4.5. Participants' characteristic

Characteristic	Values
Participants (total)	14
Age (years)	
Mean	31.07
SD	7.16
Height (cm)	
Mean	177.71
SD	5.13
Weight (kg)	
Mean	88.69
SD	26.23
Gender (%)	
Male	92.86%
Female	7.14%
Other	0
Prefer not to respond	0
Hand dominating side (%)	
Right side	100
Left side	0
Both	0
<b>Class standing</b> (%)	
Freshman	0
Sophomore	0
Junior	0
Senior	14.3
Masters/Doctoral	85.7
Professional Student	0
Continuing Education Student	0
Non-degree seeking	0
Note: SD – Standard deviation	

**Note**: SD = Standard deviation

In this study, sixteen individuals volunteered to participate. However, data from two participants were omitted from the analysis due to incomplete data, which was attributed to their inability to attend all nine sessions and their failure to complete the treadmill walking task at the designated time and speed.

The analysis comprised a total of 14 participants, predominantly male. The average age of the participants was 31.07 years, with a standard deviation (SD) of 7.16 years. Regarding physical characteristics, the mean height was 177.71 cm (SD = 5.13 cm), and the average weight was 88.69 kg (SD = 26.23 kg). All participants identified their hand dominance as right-sided, with no individuals reporting left-sided or ambidextrous hand dominance. The characteristics of the participants are detailed in Table 4.5.

#### Initial screening (ANOVA model)

An initial evaluation was conducted to assess the impact of PPE, workload, and their combined effect on non-compliance. The normality of the non-compliance data was evaluated and did not meet the criteria (Figure 4.4). Consequently, the data was transformed to achieve normality. After transformation, the non-compliance data conformed to the normal distribution, as evidenced by a p-value > 0.05.

The findings indicated that the individual differences among subjects (as a random effect) did not have a significant impact on the log-transformed non-compliance (log(noncompliance+1)), as detailed in Table 4.7. Moreover, PPE, workload, and interaction effects were statistically non-significant, with all p-values > 0.05 (table 4.8).

Figure 4.5 represented the interaction plots of the workload and PPE. Based on the graphs, it shown that there are no significant effects of workload on non-compliance. Also, the PPE showed that it had no effect on non-compliance. However, it is shown that there is an interaction between N95-Faceshield and surgical mask-Face shield with the same interaction while wearing goggles.



Figure 4.4. Normality check for Non-compliance (right) and log(Non-compliance+1) (left)

Table 4.6. Random effect predictions

Term	BLUP	Std Error	DFDen	t Ratio	Prob> t
subject	-0.016232	0.01291	2.491	-1.26	.3136

Table 4.7. REML variance component estimate
---

Random	Var Ratio	Var	Std Error	95% Lower	95% Upper	Wald p-	Pct of Total
Effect		Component				Value	
subject	0.0008687	0.0004301	0.0009938	-0.001518	0.002378	.6651	0.087
Residual		0.4951741	0.0690008	0.3835537	0.6640263		99.913
Total		0.4956042	0.0689701	0.3840074	0.6643281		100.000

Table 4.8. Fixed effect tests

Source	Nparm	DF	DFDen	F Ratio	Prob > F
PPE	3	3	103	1.6078	.1921
workload	1	1	103	2.7833	.0983
PPE*workload	3	3	103	0.8172	.4872



Figure 4.5. Least Square Mean Plots by Workload (Top) and by PPE (Down)

The effect of PPE, workload, and their combined influence on temperature was evaluated to examine our hypothesis. The normality of the temperature data was analyzed and found to comply with the required criteria, as depicted in Figure 4.6.

The findings indicated that the individual differences among subjects (as a random effect) did not significantly impact the temperature as detailed in Table 4.9. Moreover, workload and interaction effects of PPE and workload were statistically non-significant, with all p-values > 0.05 (table 4.10). PPE significantly impacted temperature accumulation inside various face masks, with a p-value < 0.05 indicating statistical significance.

Figure 4.7 represented the interaction plots of the workload and PPE. Based on the graphs, it shown that there are significant effects of PPE on temperature. Also, the workload showed that it does not affect temperature. Table 4.11 illustrates that there is a significant difference in temperature accumulation when wearing an N95 mask compared to a surgical mask, regardless of whether it is combined with a face shield or goggles, for both low and high workloads.



Figure 4.6. Histograms, boxplot, and Normal quantile plot of temperature

Random	Var Ratio	Var	Std Error	95% Lower	95% Upper	Wald p-	Pct of Total
Effect		Component				Value	
subject	0.0289241	0.0168189	0.0242373	-0.030685	0.0643232	.4877	2.811
Residual		0.581482	0.0810275	0.4504064	0.7797649		97.189
Total		0.5983009	0.0845322	0.4618963	0.805852		100.000

Table 4.9. REML variance component estimates

Table 4.10. Fixed effect tests

Source	Nparm	DF	DFDen	F Ratio	Prob > F
PPE	3	3	103	28.9912	<.0001*
workload	1	1	103	1.6020	0.2085
PPE*workload	3	3	103	0.1957	0.8991



Figure 4.7. Least Square Mean Plots by Workload (Right) and by PPE (Left)

					LSMean[j]				
	Mean[i]-Mean[j]	N95-	N95-	N95-	N95-	Surgical	Surgical	Surgical	Surgical
	Std Err Dif	Faceshiel	Faceshiel	Goggle,L	Goggle,H	mask-	mask-	Mask-	Mask-
	Lower CL Dif	d,Low	d,High	ow	igh	Faceshiel	Faceshiel	Goggle, L	Goggle,H
	Upper CL Dif				-	d,Low	d,High	ow	igh
	N95-Faceshield, Low	0	0.1234	-0.018	0.23677	1.6421	1.67646	2.08834	2.40542
		0	0.28822	0.28822	0.28822	0.28822	0.28822	0.28822	0.28822
		0	-0.7684	-0.9098	-0.655	0.75031	0.78467	1.19655	1.51363
		0	1.01519	0.8738	1.12856	2.53389	2.56825	2.98013	3.29721
	N95-Faceshield, High	-0.1234	0	-0.1414	0.11337	1.5187	1.55306	1.96494	2.28202
		0.28822	0	0.28822	0.28822	0.28822	0.28822	0.28822	0.28822
		-1.0152	0	-1.0332	-0.7784	0.62691	0.66127	1.07315	1.39023
		0.76839	0	0.7504	1.00516	2.41049	2.44485	2.85673	3.17381
	N95-Goggle,Low	0.01799	0.14139	0	0.25476	1.66009	1.69445	2.10633	2.42341
		0.28822	0.28822	0	0.28822	0.28822	0.28822	0.28822	0.28822
		-0.8738	-0.7504	0	-0.637	0.7683	0.80266	1.21454	1.53162
		0.90978	1.03318	0	1.14655	2.55188	2.58624	2.99812	3.3152
$\equiv$	N95-Goggle,High	-0.2368	-0.1134	-0.2548	0	1.40533	1.43969	1.85157	2.16865
-SMean[i]		0.28822	0.28822	0.28822	0	0.28822	0.28822	0.28822	0.28822
ž		-1.1286	-1.0052	-1.1465	0	0.51354	0.5479	0.95978	1.27686
5		0.65502	0.77842	0.63703	0	2.29712	2.33148	2.74336	3.06044
	Surgical mask-	-1.6421	-1.5187	-1.6601	-1.4053	0	0.03436	0.44624	0.76332
	Faceshield, Low	0.28822	0.28822	0.28822	0.28822	0	0.28822	0.28822	0.28822
		-2.5339	-2.4105	-2.5519	-2.2971	0	-0.8574	-0.4456	-0.1285
		-0.7503	-0.6269	-0.7683	-0.5135	0	0.92615	1.33803	1.65511
	Surgical mask-	-1.6765	-1.5531	-1.6944	-1.4397	-0.0344	0	0.41188	0.72896
	Faceshield, High	0.28822	0.28822	0.28822	0.28822	0.28822	0	0.28822	0.28822
		-2.5682	-2.4448	-2.5862	-2.3315	-0.9262	0	-0.4799	-0.1628
		-0.7847	-0.6613	-0.8027	-0.5479	0.85743	0	1.30367	1.62075
	Surgical Mask-	-2.0883	-1.9649	-2.1063	-1.8516	-0.4462	-0.4119	0	0.31708
	Goggle,Low	0.28822	0.28822	0.28822	0.28822	0.28822	0.28822	0	0.28822
		-2.9801	-2.8567	-2.9981	-2.7434	-1.338	-1.3037	0	-0.5747
		-1.1965	-1.0731	-1.2145	-0.9598	0.44555	0.47991	0	1.20887
	Surgical Mask-	-2.4054	-2.282	-2.4234	-2.1687	-0.7633	-0.729	-0.3171	0
	Goggle,High	0.28822	0.28822	0.28822	0.28822	0.28822	0.28822	0.28822	0
		-3.2972	-3.1738	-3.3152	-3.0604	-1.6551	-1.6207	-1.2089	0
		-1.5136	-1.3902	-1.5316	-1.2769	0.12847	0.16283	0.57471	0
			Leas	t					
Lev	rel		Sq Mea	n					
N9	5-Goggle,Low	Α	33.77327	0					
	N95-Faceshield, Low N95-Faceshield, High		33.75528	1					
			33.63188	0					
	5-Goggle,High	A A	33.51851						
	gical mask-Faceshield, L		32.11318						
	Surgical mask-Faceshield, LOW		32.07882						
	urgical Mask-Goggle,Low		31.66694						
	gical Mask-Goggle,Low gical Mask-Goggle,Higł		31.34986						
	gical Mask-Goggle, Higr				-				

# Table 4.11. LSMeans Differences Tukey HSD

Levels not connected by same letter are significantly different.

An initial analysis was conducted to investigate the effects of PPE, workload, and their joint impact on relative humidity. The normality of the relative humidity data was evaluated and confirmed to satisfy the established criteria, as shown in Figure 4.8.

The findings indicated that the individual differences among subjects (as a random effect) did not significantly impact the relative humidity, as detailed in Table 4.12. Moreover, PPE, workload, and interaction effects of PPE and workload were statistically non-significant, with all p-values > 0.05 (table 4.13).

Figure 4.9 represented the workload and PPE interaction plots on relative humidity. It showed that relative humidity is higher for all PPE ensembles at a high workload than a low one.



Figure 4.8. Histograms, boxplot, and Normal quantile plot of humidity

Table 4.12. REML variance component estimates

Random	Var Ratio	Var	Std Error	95% Lower	95% Upper	Wald p-	Pct of Total
Effect		Component				Value	
subject	0.0011145	0.1012067	0.213803	-0.31784	0.5202529	.6360	0.111
Residual		90.808692	12.653883	70.338918	121.77406		99.889
Total		90.909898	12.648735	70.442881	121.8514		100.000

Source	Nparm	DF	DFDen	F Ratio	Prob > F
PPE	3	3	103	2.1664	.0965
workload	1	1	103	1.3961	.2401
PPE*workload	3	3	103	1.5795	.1989

Table 4.13. Fixed effect tests



Figure 4.9. Least Square Mean Plots by Workload (Right) and by PPE (Left)

# Multicollinearity

The initial analysis with 28 predictors revealed significant correlations, as indicated by a VIF greater than 5, detailed in Table (4.14). Subsequent iterations were conducted to remove highly correlated predictors, resulting in a refined list of 21 predictors. Notably, a strong correlation was observed between maximum temperature, dew point mode, and heat index mode, which was anticipated since the heat index calculations incorporate both temperature and humidity. Both scenarios were incorporated during the later stages of model development to ascertain the more effective model in predicting non-compliance. All VIF iterations are shown in Appendix 2.

Feature	VIF		
workload	1.564081		
humid	4.358498		
hot	4.956056		
breathresistance	3.318861		
itchy	2.908397		
tight	3.14755		
salty	3.627457		
unfit	2.301397		
odour	4.084409		
fatigue	2.960623		
maximumcomfort	6.36205		
averagecomfort	6.736292		
maximumdifficulty	5.559783		
averagedifficulty	6.971667		
maximumanxiety	10.58905		
averageanxiety	10.09255		
averagetemperature	29.88692		
maximumtemperature	21.30715		
heatingupslope	1.392605		
averagehumidity	12.4573		
sdhimidity	2.240044		
averageheatindex	35.1564		
modeheatindex	4.257549		
averagedewpoint	40.58915		
modedewpoint	17.16978		
PPE_N95-Faceshield	inf		
PPE_N95-Goggle	inf		
PPE_Surgical Mask-	inf		
Goggle			
PPE_Surgical mask-	inf		
Faceshield			

Table 4.14. VIF results for all predictors

Table 4.15. VIF results after removing correlated variables

Feature	VIF
Workload	1.517981
Humid	4.103396
Hot	4.29843
breathresistance	3.092679
Itchy	2.667624
Tight	2.816349
Salty	3.494716
Unfit	2.200021
Odour	3.658835

Feature	VIF
Fatigue	2.540361
maximumcomfort	3.062811
maximumdifficulty	2.59394
maximumanxiety	1.98079
averagetemperature	3.619553
heatingupslope	1.2322
sdhimidity	1.456364
modedewpoint	1.606444
PPE_N95-Faceshield	inf
PPE_N95-Goggle	inf
PPE_Surgical Mask-	inf
Goggle	
PPE_Surgical mask-	inf
Faceshield	

Table 4.15. Continued

# **Prediction results**

Table 4.16. Performance analysis for different models on test data

Predictors	Metrics		Regression models	
		LR	LASSO	RF
	_		Mean (SD)	
All predicators	RMSE	16.809 (3.98)	14.177(3.71)	13.582 (3.23)
	MAE	12.257 (2.35)	9.935 (1.76)	9.477 (1.71)
Removing 1	RMSE	16.806 (3.97)	14.177 (3.7)	13.591 (3.17)
	MAE	11.988 (2.27)	9.934 (1.77)	9.464 (1.74)
Removing 2	RMSE	16.202 (3.38)	14.177 (3.71)	13.71 (3.17)
	MAE	11.850 (2.10)	9.935 (1.77)	9.709 (1.71)
Removing 3 + 2	RMSE	14.905 (2.61)	14.177 (3.71)	13.714 (3.14)
U	MAE	10.964 (1.75)	9.935 (1.77)	9.702 (1.76)
Removing 4 + 2	RMSE	14.904 (2.611)	14.177 (3.71)	13.828 (3.17)
-	MAE	10.974 (1.75)	9.935 (1.77)	9.838 (1.77)
Removing $4 + 2 + SD$ humidity	RMSE	14.979 (2.48)	14.177 (3.71)	14.022 (3.19)
	MAE	11.156 (1.76)	9.935 (1.77)	9.998 (1.74)
Removing $3 + 2 + \max$ difficulty	RMSE	14.798 (2.72)	14.177 (3.711)	13.655 (3.18)
	MAE	10.865 (1.77)	9.934 (1.77)	9.655 (1.77)
Feature selected	RMSE	14.245 (2.81)	14.177 (3.71)	13.501 (3.22)
	MAE	10.126 (1.17)	9.935 (1.17)	9.445 (1.17)

1 'maximumcomfort', 'maximumdifficulty', 'maximumanxiety'

2 'averagecomfort', 'averagedifficulty', 'averageanxiety' 3'averagedewpoint', 'modedewpoint', 'averageheatindex', 'averagetemperature',

'maximumtemperature','averagehumidity'

4 'modeheatindex', 'averagedewpoint', 'averageheatindex', 'averagetemperature', 'averagehumidity'
The optimal hyperparameters identified through tuning were used to train and evaluate three models. Their performance in predicting non-compliance was assessed using the test metrics RMSE and MAE, with the findings in Table 4.16.

Table 4.16 outlines the performance of eight trials, arranging the results in descending order from models that include all predictors to the final model with the selected predictors. In all trials, RF outperformed the LR and LASSO models in lower RMSE and MAE.

Figure (4.10) illustrated a comparison of actual versus predicted values through scatter plots for the LR, LASSO, and RF models. The scatter plot of the LR model displayed a wide dispersion of data points, signifying it has the most prediction error out of the three. On the other hand, the LASSO model showed a moderate scatter, placing it between the LR and RF models in terms of prediction accuracy. The scatter plot for the RF model demonstrated data points that are most densely clustered around the prediction line, indicating superior predictive performance and a closer agreement between predicted and actual values. This comparison leads to the inference that the Random Forest model is likely the most accurate in predicting non-compliance, followed by the LASSO model, with the Linear Regression model showing the least accuracy in this specific dataset.

This comparison leads to the inference that the Random Forest model is likely the most accurate in predicting non-compliance, followed by the LASSO model, with the Linear Regression model showing the least accuracy in this specific dataset.



Figure 4.10. Comparison of Actual vs. Predicted Values for Three Regression Models. LR (top), LASSO (middle), and RF (bottom).



Figure 4.11. Feature Importance of the best RF model

The bar chart (Figure 4.11) represented the sorted feature importances determined by the best-performing RF model. The most influential feature appears to be 'itchy,' with relative importance significantly higher than the others, indicating that it plays a crucial role in the model's predictions. Other notable features include 'sdhumidity', 'maximumtemperature', and 'fatigue', which exhibit moderate importance. Features such as 'odour', 'salty', and 'maximumcomfort' also contribute to the model's decision-making but to a lesser extent. Noteworthy is the presence of several types of PPE, like 'PPE\_N95-Goggle', 'PPE\_Surgical Mask-Goggle', and 'PPE\_N95-Faceshield', which suggests their relevance in the context of the model's application. The importance of 'workload' is relatively lower but still relevant. Collectively, this model's feature importance profile assists in understanding the predictors that most significantly impact non-compliance, which can be valuable for refining the model and focusing on key variables for future data collection and analysis.

## **One-way ANOVA of MAE**

Figure 4.12 presented a Normal Quantile Plot (or Q-Q plot) paired with a histogram and box plot, utilized to evaluate the normality of the MAE from a dataset. From the Q-Q plot, it suggested that the MAE values are normally distributed.

The p-value is 0.0232, which is < 0.05, suggesting a statistically significant difference between the mean responses for the different model types (Table 4.17). A post hoc analysis using Dunnett's test (Table 4.19) revealed that the MAE for the LR model differs significantly from the RF model. However, the MAEs of the RF and LASSO models did not show any significant differences.



Figure 4.12. Normality checks of the MAE

Source	DF	Sum of	Mean Square	F Ratio	Prob > F
		Squares			
Model type	2	24.68885	12.3444	3.8111	.0232*
Error	297	961.99779	3.2390		
C. Total	299	986.68664			

Level	Number	Mean	Std Error	Lower 95%	Upper 95%
LASSO	100	9.9348	0.17997	9.5806	10.289
LR	100	10.1269	0.17997	9.7727	10.481
RF	100	9.4455	0.17997	9.0913	9.800

Table 4.18. Means of One-way ANOVA

Table 4.19. LSD threshold matrix (Dunnett's Method)

Level	Abs(Dif)-	p-Value
	LSD	
LR	0.116	.0149*
LASSO	-0.08	.1002
RF	-0.57	1.00



Figure 4.13. Boxplot of MAE means for different models for 100 iterations

The boxplot in Figure (4.13) illustrates the distribution of MAE values for the LR, LASSO, and RF models for 100 iterations. From the boxplots, it seems that the LASSO and RF models have a similar range of MAE scores, with the median for LASSO being slightly higher than for RF, indicating that the RF model may have a slight edge in predictive accuracy. The LR model shows a broader interquartile range, suggesting more variability in its MAE scores across different trials. All models have outliers indicating instances where the MAE was notably higher than typical for the model.

#### Discussion

We introduced a predictive model for non-compliance among healthcare personnel in direct patient contact. Prior to the model development, we investigated the effect of the PPE and workload on non-compliance and found no statistical significance. Later in the model, we added other variables besides the PPE and workload to predict the non-compliance.

The findings indicate that non-compliance with protective gear was unaffected by the level of protection or workload. This could be attributed to several factors. For instance, goggles and face shields might fog up, and masks may slip, compromising visibility and communication. Consequently, individuals may frequently adjust their personal PPE to ensure clear sight and effective communication, particularly in critical areas like healthcare settings. The performance of PPE is not only contingent on its quality but also on its fit. Ill-fitting masks, goggles, or face shields may require regular adjustments to remain secure or provide a proper seal. This underscores the necessity for PPE that fits various face shapes and sizes. In scenarios with high workloads, individuals might focus more on completing tasks rather than the minor discomforts caused by PPE, leading to fewer adjustments. Those working in demanding or stressful environments typically build resilience and adaptability, learning to manage any discomfort from PPE without neglecting compliance. Ultimately, job requirements might encourage a culture of compliance and adaptation out of necessity.

In addition, it shown that the temperature builds up inside the mask significantly affected by the protection level, which coincided with the previous research [56], [57], [58]. A higher temperature level was significantly built up inside the N95 compared to surgical masks for both low and high workloads. No effect of PPE protection level and workload was found on the relative humidity.

To the best of our knowledge, this research is pioneering in that it designs a simulated experiment, gathers data, characterizes non-compliance, and then constructs a model to predict it. This research revealed that factors influencing non-compliance extend beyond using PPE and workload. It was found that the perceived comfort of PPE and sensation of discomfort, including feelings of itchiness, fatigue, odour, saltiness, and tightness, significantly contribute to non-compliance behavior. Moreover, the study highlighted that the build-up of temperature and relative humidity within the confines of a face mask contributes to the likelihood of non-compliance. In addition, the results showed that the temperature was statistically significantly higher in higher PPE levels but not affected by the workload. On the other hand, there was no significant humidity build-up inside the face mask under different workloads.

In expanding upon this, it is noteworthy that the study underscores the multifaceted nature of non-compliance determinants, suggesting that an interplay of physical discomfort, sensory perception, and environmental conditions within PPE can influence healthcare workers' adherence to safety protocols. The findings indicate the necessity for designing PPE that balances protective function with wearer comfort to mitigate these issues and enhance compliance rates.

The Random Forest model consistently outperformed the LR and LASSO models in all metrics across 100 iterations. The RF model provides more accurate predictions (as shown by RMSE and MAE).

Literature underscores that extended wear of face masks can lead to discomfort and both physiological and psychological effects, potentially reducing compliance towards the end of a

shift ([199], [200], [201], [202]). The figure corroborates this, with 'maximum emperature' being a significant predictor, aligning with thermal stress burden identified as a primary cause of discomfort ([118], [120]). Other sensory discomforts such as 'itchy,' 'fatigue,' 'odour,' and 'salty' are reflected in the figure as factors of importance, which could relate to the additional discomfort factors cited in the literature, like skin irritation and difficulty in breathing ([67], [203], [204]).

Further literature review reveals individual factors like work experience ([48], [56], [97], [96]), discomfort ([54], [57], [58]), poor fit ([54], [57], [58]), and the need to compete and prove expertise ([49]), which may not be directly reflected in the figure but are crucial for understanding compliance. Workload, indicated as 'workload' in the figure, has also been shown to influence PPE compliance significantly ([78], [82], [84], [85], [86], [87], [88], [89], [90], [91]), suggesting that high-stress environments can compromise PPE adherence. Gender, occupation ([97], [96]), and perceptions of PPE's effectiveness ([99], [100]) are additional factors that shape compliance but may not be captured in the feature importance graph.

When combining the empirical data from the graph with the insights from the literature, it is evident that both sources highlight the role of discomfort and sensory challenges as critical factors in PPE non-compliance. The importance of temperature-related discomfort is particularly noteworthy, as it is a significant factor in the model and is emphasized in the literature as a primary cause of discomfort. Thus, addressing the physical and sensory discomfort associated with PPE, especially in high-stress work environments, is essential for improving compliance rates. This could involve developing PPE with better breathability, enhanced comfort, or features that mitigate heat buildup and sensory irritation, fostering a more tolerable and compliant usage of protective gear.

#### Conclusion

In summary, our MPENC effectively predicts instances of non-compliance with PPE, encompassing face masks and face shields, among healthcare workers (HCWs) operating in environments requiring close patient interaction under varying workloads. The model emphasizes the significance of sensory discomfort and thermal stress as key influencers of PPE adherence. This highlights the critical baseline factors associated with PPE non-compliance, offering valuable insights for developing strategies to enhance compliance. These findings could steer interventions to mitigate discomfort and manage thermal burden, promoting sustained PPE usage and enhancing protective measures among HCWs.

## Application

The findings of this research, specifically the prediction of non-compliance, are relevant across various healthcare domains that involve close patient interaction and necessitate the use of PPE like face masks and covers. For instance, in nearly all surgical procedures, face masks and face shields are essential to safeguard the medical team from blood-borne pathogens. Similarly, face masks and shields are crucial for protecting dentists from aerosols and splatter during dental treatments, particularly those involving drilling or oral surgery. The ability to predict non-compliance extends beyond the operating room to potentially urgent and high-risk situations such as cricothyrotomy or emergency tracheostomy.

Additionally, face masks and coverings can be essential even in tasks that do not involve direct patient interaction, such as when technicians handle and process blood, urine, sputum, or other body fluids in a laboratory setting, offering protection against potentially infectious or hazardous substances.

#### References

- [1] T. McLellan, "Purdue Pegboard Dexterity Test," *Encyclopedia of Child Behavior and Development*, pp. 1202–1203, 2011, doi: 10.1007/978-0-387-79061-9\_2322.
- [2] T. K. M. Wong, S. S. Man, and A. H. S. Chan, "Critical factors for the use or non-use of personal protective equipment amongst construction workers," *Saf Sci*, vol. 126, no. February, p. 104663, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.ssci.2020.104663.
- [3] J. Reason, *Human Error*. Cambridge University Press, 1990. doi: 10.1017/CBO9781139062367.
- [4] M. N. Vinodkumar and M. Bhasi, "Safety management practices and safety behaviour: Assessing the mediating role of safety knowledge and motivation," *Accid Anal Prev*, vol. 42, no. 6, pp. 2082–2093, Nov. 2010, doi: 10.1016/J.AAP.2010.06.021.
- [5] C. Pilbeam, N. Doherty, R. Davidson, and D. Denyer, "Safety leadership practices for organizational safety compliance: Developing a research agenda from a review of the literature," *Safety Science*, vol. 86. Elsevier B.V., pp. 110–121, Jul. 01, 2016. doi: 10.1016/j.ssci.2016.02.015.
- [6] E. W. de Kwaadsteniet, T. Kiyonari, W. E. Molenmaker, and E. van Dijk, "Do people prefer leaders who enforce norms? Reputational effects of reward and punishment decisions in noisy social dilemmas," *J Exp Soc Psychol*, vol. 84, Sep. 2019, doi: 10.1016/J.JESP.2019.03.011.
- [7] F. B. Setyawan, S. Supriyanto, E. Ernawaty, and R. Lestari, "Developing a holisticcomprehensive assessment model: Factors contributing to personal protective equipment compliance among Indonesian cement workers," *Indian J Occup Environ Med*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 19–24, Jan. 2020, doi: 10.4103/ijoem.IJOEM\_115\_19.
- [8] R. U. Farooqui, S. M. Ahmed, K. Panthi, and S. Azhar, "Addressing the Issue of Compliance with Personal Protective Equipment on Construction Worksites : A Workers' Perspective," *International Proceedings of the 45th Annual Conference, Associated Schools of Construction*, vol. 2005, no. 2005, pp. 1–10, 2009.
- [9] K. Nichol, P. Bigelow, L. O'Brien-Pallas, A. McGeer, M. Manno, and D. L. Holness, "The individual, environmental, and organizational factors that influence nurses' use of facial protection to prevent occupational transmission of communicable respiratory illness in acute care hospitals," *Am J Infect Control*, vol. 36, no. 7, pp. 481–487, Sep. 2008, doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2007.12.004.
- [10] D. L. Rivers, L. A. Aday, R. F. Frankowski, S. Felknor, D. White, and B. Nichols, "Predictors of nurses' acceptance of an intravenous catheter safety device," *Nurs Res*, vol. 52, no. 4, pp. 249–255, 2003, doi: 10.1097/00006199-200307000-00007.

- [11] P. M. McGovern, D. Vesley, L. Kochevar, R. R. M. Gershon, F. S. Rhame, and E. Anderson, "Factors affecting universal precautions compliance," *J Bus Psychol*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 149–161, 2000, doi: 10.1023/A:1007727104284.
- [12] T. K. M. Wong, S. S. Man, and A. H. S. Chan, "Exploring the acceptance of PPE by construction workers: An extension of the technology acceptance model with safety management practices and safety consciousness," *Saf Sci*, vol. 139, p. 105239, Jul. 2021, doi: 10.1016/J.SSCI.2021.105239.
- [13] J. Fan *et al.*, "Barriers to using personal protective equipment by healthcare staff during the COVID-19 outbreak in China," *Medicine*, vol. 99, no. 48, p. e23310, Nov. 2020, doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000023310.
- [14] S. Baumann, R. T. Stone, U. Genschel, and F. Mgaedeh, "The Pi-CON Methodology Applied: Operator Errors and Preference Tracking of a Novel Ubiquitous Vital Signs Sensor and Its User Interface," *Int J Hum Comput Interact*, vol. 0, no. 0, pp. 1–23, 2023, doi: 10.1080/10447318.2023.2201552.
- [15] R. Stone, M. Wang, T. Schnieders, and E. Abdelall, "Exploring The Effect of Visual Information Degradation on Human Perception and Performance In A Human-Telerobot System," *https://doi.org/10.1177/1071181320641310*, vol. 64, no. 1, pp. 1302–1307, Feb. 2021, doi: 10.1177/1071181320641310.
- [16] S. S. Budhathoki *et al.*, "Awareness of occupational hazards and use of safety measures among welders: a cross-sectional study from eastern Nepal," *Open*, vol. 4, p. 4646, 2014, doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2013.
- [17] I. Gunawan and D. Chalidyanto, "Analysis of Determinant Factors for Hospital Staff Adherence to The Use of PPE The Care of COVID-19 Patients," *JMMR (Jurnal Medicoeticolegal dan Manajemen Rumah Sakit)*, vol. 9, no. 3, 2020, doi: 10.18196/jmmr.93130.
- [18] R. H. El-Sokkary *et al.*, "Compliance of healthcare workers to the proper use of personal protective equipment during the first wave of COVID-19 pandemic," *J Infect Public Health*, vol. 14, no. 10, pp. 1404–1410, 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.jiph.2021.07.017.
- [19] C. Middelcoop, C. Fales, R. T. Stone, J. Kim, K. Schaffhausen, and F. Mgaedeh, "Effects of Experience on Gymnasts' Kinematics and Performances," *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society*, vol. 65, no. 1, pp. 1280–1285, 2021, doi: 10.1177/1071181321651339.
- [20] R. Sehsah, A. H. El-Gilany, and A. M. Ibrahim, "Personal protective equipment (Ppe) use and its relation to accidents among construction workers," *Medicina del Lavoro*, vol. 111, no. 4, pp. 285–295, 2020, doi: 10.23749/mdl.v111i4.9398.
- [21] D. A. Lombardi, S. K. Verma, M. J. Brennan, and M. J. Perry, "Factors influencing worker use of personal protective eyewear," *Accid Anal Prev*, vol. 41, no. 4, pp. 755–762, Jul. 2009, doi: 10.1016/J.AAP.2009.03.017.

- [22] D. J. Seibert, K. G. Speroni, K. M. Oh, M. C. Devoe, and K. H. Jacobsen, "Preventing transmission of MRSA: A qualitative study of health care workers' attitudes and suggestions," *Am J Infect Control*, vol. 42, no. 4, pp. 405–411, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2013.10.008.
- [23] V. Erasmus *et al.*, "A Qualitative Exploration of Reasons for Poor Hand Hygiene Among Hospital Workers Lack of Positive Role Models and of Convincing Evidence That Hand Hygiene Prevents Cross-Infection," *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol*, vol. 30, no. 5, pp. 415–419, May 2009, doi: 10.1086/596773.
- [24] M. Eveillard *et al.*, "Using a Qualitative Study to Understand the Failure of a Strategy Implemented for Improving Hand Hygiene Adherence in 4 Intensive Care Units," *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol*, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 447–448, Apr. 2013, doi: 10.1086/669875.
- [25] T.-H. Jang *et al.*, "Focus Group Study of Hand Hygiene Practice among Healthcare Workers in a Teaching Hospital in Toronto, Canada," *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol*, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 144–150, Feb. 2010, doi: 10.1086/649792.
- [26] A. Nichols and B. Badger, "An investigation of the division between espoused and actual practice in infection control and of the knowledge sources that may underpin this division," *British Journal of Infection Control*, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 11–15, Jul. 2008, doi: 10.1177/1469044608088621.
- [27] S. Dhar *et al.*, "Contact Precautions More Is Not Necessarily Better," *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol*, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 213–219, Mar. 2014, doi: 10.1086/675294.
- [28] K. J. Ferguson, H. Waitzkin, S. E. Beekmann, and B. N. Doebbeling, "Critical Incidents of Nonadherence with Standard Precautions Guidelines Among Community Hospitalbased Health Care Workers."
- [29] P. W. Stone, S. P. Clarke, J. Cimiotti, and R. Correa-De-Araujo, "Nurses' Working Conditions: Implications for Infectious Disease," 2004. [Online]. Available: www.cdc.gov/eid
- [30] D. Pittet, P. Mourouga, and T. v. Perneger, "Compliance with handwashing in a teaching hospital. Infection Control Program," *Ann Intern Med*, vol. 130, no. 2, pp. 126–130, Jan. 1999, doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-130-2-199901190-00006.
- [31] E. Larson, "Compliance with isolation technique," *Am J Infect Control*, vol. 11, no. 6, pp. 221–225, 1983, doi: 10.1016/0196-6553(83)90004-4.
- [32] C. W. Fales, R. T. Stone, F. Z. Mgaedeh, and J. Y. Kim, "Know thy user, know thy tool: a population review and critique of current ergonomic analysis tools for the agricultural workforce," *Int J Hum Factors Ergon*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 128–142, 2022, doi: 10.1504/IJHFE.2022.122395.

- [33] S. K. Brooks, N. Greenberg, S. Wessely, and G. J. Rubin, "Factors affecting healthcare workers' compliance with social and behavioural infection control measures during emerging infectious disease outbreaks: rapid evidence review," *BMJ Open*, vol. 11, no. 8, Aug. 2021, doi: 10.1136/BMJOPEN-2021-049857.
- [34] L. E. Smith, D. Serfioti, D. Weston, N. Greenberg, and G. J. Rubin, "Adherence to protective measures among healthcare workers in the UK: a cross-sectional study," *Emergency Medicine Journal*, vol. 39, no. 2, pp. 100–105, Feb. 2022, doi: 10.1136/EMERMED-2021-211454.
- [35] W. Afif, P. Huor, P. Brassard, and V. G. Loo, "Compliance with methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus precautions in a teaching hospital," *Am J Infect Control*, vol. 30, no. 7, pp. 430–433, 2002, doi: 10.1067/mic.2002.125174.
- [36] S. Dhar *et al.*, "Contact Precautions More Is Not Necessarily Better," *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol*, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 213–219, Mar. 2014, doi: 10.1086/675294.
- [37] D. J. Weber *et al.*, "Compliance With Isolation Precautions at a University Hospital," *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 358–361, Mar. 2007, doi: 10.1086/510871.
- [38] E. Yanke, C. Zellmer, S. Van Hoof, H. Moriarty, P. Carayon, and N. Safdar, "Understanding the current state of infection prevention to prevent Clostridium difficile infection: A human factors and systems engineering approach," *Am J Infect Control*, vol. 43, no. 3, pp. 241–247, Mar. 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2014.11.026.
- [39] D. Moore, B. Gamage, E. Bryce, R. Copes, and A. Yassi, "Protecting health care workers from SARS and other respiratory pathogens: Organizational and individual factors that affect adherence to infection control guidelines," *American Journal of Infection Control*, vol. 33, no. 2. Mosby Inc., pp. 114–121, 2005. doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2004.12.002.
- [40] B. Pourbohloul, L. A. Meyers, D. M. Skowronski, M. Krajden, D. M. Patrick, and R. C. Brunham, "Modeling control strategies of respiratory pathogens," *Emerg Infect Dis*, vol. 11, no. 8, pp. 1249–1256, 2005, doi: 10.3201/eid1108.040449.
- [41] B. v. Shenal, L. J. Radonovich, J. Cheng, M. Hodgson, and B. S. Bender, "Discomfort and exertion associated with prolonged wear of respiratory protection in a health care setting," *J Occup Environ Hyg*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 59–64, 2012, doi: 10.1080/15459624.2012.635133.
- [42] J. Martel *et al.*, "Respiratory hygiene in emergency departments: Compliance, beliefs, and perceptions," *Am J Infect Control*, vol. 41, no. 1, pp. 14–18, Jan. 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2011.12.019.
- [43] R. T. Stone, F. Z. Mgaedeh, and A. N. Pulley, "Cognitive and physiological evaluation of virtual reality training in nursing," *Ergonomics*, vol. 0, no. 0, pp. 1–13, 2024, doi: 10.1080/00140139.2024.2337842.

- [44] D. Smerdon, "The effect of masks on cognitive performance," *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 119, no. 49, Dec. 2022, doi: 10.1073/pnas.2206528119.
- [45] D. M. Caretti, "Cognitive performance and mood during respirator wear and exercise," *Am Ind Hyg Assoc J*, vol. 60, no. 2, pp. 213–218, Mar. 1999, doi: 10.1080/00028899908984438.
- [46] J. F. Tornero-Aguilera and V. J. Clemente-Suárez, "Cognitive and psychophysiological impact of surgical mask use during university lessons," *Physiol Behav*, vol. 234, May 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2021.113342.
- [47] N. J. Zimmerman, C. Eberts, G. Salvendy, and G. McCabe, "Effects of respirators on performance of physical, psychomotor and cognitive tasks," *Ergonomics*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 321–334, 1991, doi: 10.1080/00140139108967316.
- [48] A. A. Alghamri, "The effects of personal protective respirators on human motor, visual, and cognitive skills," *ProQuest Dissertations and Theses*, p. 75, 2012, [Online]. Available: https://manchester.idm.oclc.org/login?url=https://search.proquest.com/docview/11148910 53?accountid=12253%0Ahttp://man-fe.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/openurl/44MAN/44MAN\_services\_page?genre=dissertations +%26+theses&atitle=&author=Alghamri%2C+Anas+Ahmed&volume
- [49] C. Hayashi and H. Tokura, "The effects of two kinds of mask (with or without exhaust valve) on clothing microclimates inside the mask in participants wearing protective clothing for spraying pesticides," *Int Arch Occup Environ Health*, vol. 77, no. 1, pp. 73– 78, 2004, doi: 10.1007/s00420-003-0472-3.
- [50] Y. Li *et al.*, "Effects of wearing N95 and surgical facemasks on heart rate, thermal stress and subjective sensations," *Int Arch Occup Environ Health*, vol. 78, no. 6, pp. 501–509, 2005, doi: 10.1007/s00420-004-0584-4.
- [51] Y. Li *et al.*, "In vivo protective performance of N95 respirator and surgical facemask," *Am J Ind Med*, vol. 49, no. 12, pp. 1056–1065, 2006, doi: 10.1002/ajim.20395.
- [52] R. J. Roberge, A. Coca, W. J. Williams, J. B. Powell, and A. J. Palmiero, "Physiological impact of the n95 filtering facepiece respirator on healthcare workers," *Respir Care*, vol. 55, no. 5, pp. 569–577, 2010.
- [53] F. Z. Mgaedeh, "Human factors impact of COVID-19 face mask usage for essential Human factors impact of COVID-19 face mask usage for essential workers: Engineering evaluation of mask usage workers: Engineering evaluation of mask usage." [Online]. Available: https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/etd
- [54] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Use Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) When Caring for Patients with Confirmed or Suspected COVID-19." Accessed: Apr. 14, 2023. [Online]. Available: www.cdc.gov/coronavirus

- [55] B. Khodarahmi, M. Motamedzadeh, M. Zeinodini, and S. Hosseini, "Effect of respiratory protection equipments wear on heart rate in different workload," *Int J Environ Health Eng*, vol. 2, no. 1, p. 26, 2013, doi: 10.4103/2277-9183.113216.
- [56] F. Z. Mgaedeh, R. T. Stone, M. AlZwateen, C. Fales, and E. S. Abdelall, "Mask usage: a mechanical investigation of COVID-19 mask design," *Int J Hum Factors Ergon*, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 331–349, 2023, doi: 10.1504/IJHFE.2023.135482.
- [57] F. Mgaedeh, R. Stone, E. Abdelall, and E. Helton, "Retail Workers during COVID-19: Face Mask Effects on Performance, Productivity, and Perception under Different Workloads," *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting*, vol. 66, no. 1, pp. 1340–1344, Sep. 2022, doi: 10.1177/1071181322661419.
- [58] F. Mgaedeh, R. Stone, A. Pulley, and M. Y. Al-Daraghmeh, "The Effects of Face Mask Types, Athletic Levels, and Caffeine Intake on Employee Performance, Productivity, and Perception," *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting*, Sep. 2023, doi: 10.1177/21695067231192182.
- [59] V. Amazon, "IV Training Arm." Accessed: Mar. 09, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.amazon.com/gp/product/B097R35B88/ref=ox\_sc\_act\_image\_1?smid=ATVP DKIKX0DER&psc=1
- [60] L. Amazon, "Intubation Manikin Teaching Model." Accessed: Mar. 09, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.amazon.com/dp/B0BSKLBCKG/ref=sspa\_dk\_detail\_1?pd\_rd\_i=B0BSKLB CKG&pd\_rd\_w=EPCpj&content-id=amzn1.sym.f734d1a2-0bf9-4a26-ad34-2e1b969a5a75&pf\_rd\_p=f734d1a2-0bf9-4a26-ad34-2e1b969a5a75&pf\_rd\_r=5EZPFR6BNFPHMMXM03JQ&pd\_rd\_wg=x2zYV&pd\_rd\_r=3 c2a2acc-79f9-4706-b0e7-36e2691b93df&s=industrial&sp\_csd=d2lkZ2V0TmFtZT1zcF9kZXRhaWw&th=1

### Appendix 1: IRB approval memo

10.0110	FATE UNIVE			Institutional Review Board Office of Research Ethics Vice President for Research 2420 Lincoln Way, Suite 202 Ames, Iowa 50014 515 294-4566
Date:	09/12/2023			
To:	Fatima Mgaedeh		Richard	T Stone
From:	Office of Research Ethics			
Title:	ASSESSMENT AND PREDICTION OF COMPLIANCE WITH PROTECTIVE EQUIPMENT AND WORKLOADS AMONG HEALTHCARE WORKERS 23-220			
IRB ID:				
Submission Type:	Initial Submission	Review Type:	Expedited	
Approval Date:	09/12/2023	Approval Expire	ation Date:	N/A

The research project referenced above has received approval from the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at Iowa State University. Please refer to the IRB ID number shown above in all correspondence regarding this study.

To ensure compliance with federal regulations (45 CFR 46 & 21 CFR 56), please be sure to:

- Use only the approved study materials, including the recruitment materials and informed consent documents that have the IRB approval stamp.
- <u>Retain signed informed consent documents</u> for 3 years after study closure when documented consent is required.
- Obtain IRB approval prior to implementing <u>any</u> changes to the study or study materials, including addition or removal of study personnel or changes to their institutional affiliation. Approval of personnel applies only to their institutional affiliation indicated in the most recent approved application.
- Inform the IRB if the Principal Investigator and/or Supervising Investigator end their role or involvement with the project with sufficient time to allow an alternate PI/Supervising Investigator to assume oversight responsibility. Projects must have an eligible PI to remain open.
- Promptly inform the IRB of any addition of or change in federal funding for this study. Approval of this
  project applies <u>only</u> to funding sources that are specifically named in the corresponding IRB application.
- Immediately inform the IRB of (1) all serious and/or unexpected adverse experiences involving risks to subjects or others; and (2) any other <u>unanticipated problems</u> involving risks to subjects or others.
- IRB approval means that you have met the requirements of federal regulations and ISU policies governing human subjects research. Approval from other entities may also be needed. For example,

IRB 03/2023

access to data from private records (e.g., student, medical, or employment records, etc.) that are protected by FERPA, HIPAA, or other confidentiality policies requires permission from the holders of those records. Similarly, for research conducted in institutions other than ISU (e.g., schools, other colleges or universities, medical facilities, companies, etc.), investigators must obtain permission from the institution(s) as required by their policies. IRB approval in no way implies or guarantees that permission from these other entities will be granted.

- Your research study may be subject to <u>post-approval monitoring</u> by lowa State University's Office of Research Ethics. It may also be subject to formal audit or inspection by federal agencies and study sponsors.
- Please initiate an Amendment for Closure in IRBManager upon completion of the project, transfer of IRB oversight to another IRB, or departure of the PI and/or Supervising Investigator. For information on instances when a study may be closed, please refer to the <u>IRB Study Closure Policy</u>.

If your study requires continuing review, indicated by a specific Approval Expiration Date above, you should:

- Stop all human subjects research activity if IRB approval lapses, unless continuation is necessary to
  prevent harm to research participants. Human subjects research activity may resume only after IRB
  approval is re-established.
- Submit an application for Continuing Review at least three to four weeks prior to the Approval Expiration
  Date noted above to provide sufficient time for the IRB to review and approve continuation of the study.
  We will send a courtesy reminder as this date approaches.

If the expiration date above is N/A, your study does not require continuing review. However, a brief status update is required every three years to keep IRB oversight active. You will be notified as this date approaches.

If you have questions or concerns, please do not hesitate to contact us at 515-294-4566 or IRB@iastate.edu.

IRB 03/2023

# Appendix 2: VIF results for all iterations

<b>P</b> (	X / ITT
Feature	VIF
workload	1.517981
humid	4.103396
hot	4.29843
breathresistance	3.092679
itchy	2.667624
tight	2.816349
salty	3.494716
unfit	2.200021
odour	3.658835
fatigue	2.540361
maximumcomfort	3.062811
maximumdifficulty	2.59394
maximumanxiety	1.98079
averagetemperature	3.619553
heatingupslope	1.2322
sdhimidity	1.456364
modedewpoint	1.606444
PPE_N95-Faceshield	inf
PPE_N95-Goggle	inf
PPE_Surgical Mask-	inf
Goggle	
PPE_Surgical mask-	inf
Faceshield	

Feature	VIF
workload	1.486519
humid	4.071998
hot	4.094792
breathresistance	3.075983
itchy	2.63953
tight	2.820047
salty	3.447783
unfit	2.176311
odour	3.614389
fatigue	2.489686
maximumcomfort	3.024352
maximumdifficulty	2.580175
maximumanxiety	1.881043
heatingupslope	1.228338
sdhimidity	1.627829
averageheatindex	2.317429
PPE_N95-Faceshield	inf
PPE_N95-Goggle	inf
PPE_Surgical Mask-	inf
Goggle	
PPE_Surgical mask-	inf
Faceshield	

Feature	VIF
workload	1.485439
humid	4.161536
hot	4.072343
breathresistance	3.073493
itchy	2.57178
tight	2.811266
salty	3.464013
unfit	2.181886
odour	3.663729
fatigue	2.592006
maximumcomfort	3.057707
maximumdifficulty	2.596442
maximumanxiety	1.891837
heatingupslope	1.218085
sdhimidity	1.61751
modeheatindex	1.915354
PPE_N95-Faceshield	inf
PPE_N95-Goggle	inf
PPE_Surgical Mask-Goggle	inf
PPE_Surgical mask- Faceshield	inf

Feature	VIF
workload	1.514955
humid	4.083096
hot	4.255648
breathresistance	3.119661
itchy	2.682759
tight	2.818197
salty	3.497537
unfit	2.210287
odour	3.661012
fatigue	2.484525
maximumcomfort	3.060503
maximumdifficulty	2.62674
maximumanxiety	1.977586
maximumtemperature	3.173392
heatingupslope	1.244369
sdhimidity	1.442839
modedewpoint	1.661227
PPE_N95-Faceshield	inf
PPE_N95-Goggle	inf
PPE_Surgical Mask-	inf
Goggle	
PPE_Surgical mask-	inf
Faceshield	

Feature	VIF
workload	1.504674
humid	4.114739
hot	4.309511
breathresistance	3.096666
itchy	2.666995
tight	2.819002
salty	3.478408
unfit	2.196266
odour	3.668578
fatigue	2.540279
maximumcomfort	3.034384
maximumdifficulty	2.595178
maximumanxiety	1.979368
averagetemperature	3.841536
heatingupslope	1.235274
sdhimidity	1.617107
averagedewpoint	1.94719
PPE_N95-Faceshield	inf
PPE_N95-Goggle	inf
PPE_Surgical Mask-	inf
Goggle	

## CHAPTER 5. GENERAL CONCLUSIONS

This dissertation delved into two critical areas identified through a comprehensive literature review: the emerging practice of double masking and the prevailing attitudes of non-compliance with PPE.

The recent pandemic and evolving COVID variants prompted recommendations for double masking as a preventive measure. However, these recommendations were made without fully considering the potential for lower compliance. This oversight becomes significant in light of existing literature on the adverse effects of single mask use. Research had documented the negative impact of using just one face mask on various aspects of human functioning, including its users' psychological, physiological, visual, motor, and cognitive capabilities. This evidence highlighted the need for a more nuanced approach to PPE compliance. Moreover, while the literature extensively investigated PPE compliance from broad perspectives, including organizational and individual reasons, it often overlooks the initial interaction between the PPE and the user. Such interaction is crucial, as the proven effects of single mask use on user capacities may directly influence compliance rates, especially with intensified measures like double masking.

A within-subject experimental study was designed to investigate the impacts of double masking on individuals' physical and cognitive capabilities, comfort levels, and anxiety spanned over four visits ( no mask, surgical mask, cloth mask, and surgical mask doubled with cloth mask). Findings from this investigation suggested a notable impediment to cognitive performance attributable to donning face masks. Furthermore, it was found that the practice of double masking notably intensified participants' experiences of difficulty, discomfort, and

anxiety. This escalation of negative sensations was primarily observed after participants engaged in tasks that demanded both motor and cognitive effort.

While the intent behind double masking is to improve protection against airborne particles, it increased the perceived discomfort or burden of wearing PPE for some individuals. This added discomfort could lead to higher rates of non-compliance as individuals might seek relief from the heat, moisture, and restricted breathing associated with additional layers of masking.

Thus, this dissertation introduced and quantified the phenomenon of non-compliance by designing an innovative within-subject experimental simulation tailored to a healthcare scenario. This research defined non-compliance in terms of the frequency of PPE interactions with its users. Predictive models were developed using a series of predictors and assessed for accuracy using RMSE, and MAE metrics. The RF model demonstrated superior performance in predicting non-compliance over LR and LASSO models. While PPE and workload emerged as essential predictors, the sensation of discomfort and thermal stress stood out as the most influential factors in predicting non-compliance.

In conclusion, this dissertation introduced a predictive model (MPENC) designed to predict non-compliance among healthcare workers at risk of infection due to their proximity to patients and the necessity of using face masks and covers. Moreover, this work laid the groundwork for predicting non-compliance by examining additional factors that could further refine and expand the model's capabilities. Looking ahead, the research presented here holds significant potential interest for organizations like the CDC and WHO as it offers valuable insights into improving compliance with protective equipment among healthcare professionals, thereby enhancing overall patient and worker safety in healthcare settings.

#### **Future Work**

Future research directions should aim to enhance our findings' generalizability and address the questions that emerged during this study.

- Physiological Impacts: Our MPENC considered physiological impacts through subjective assessments. However, objective physiological indicators like heart rate, respiratory rate, oxygen saturation, muscle mass, bone mass, body fat percentage, and Body Mass Index (BMI) can also be quantitatively measured and included into the predictive model to enhance its accuracy and comprehensiveness.
- 2. Comprehensive PPE Evaluation: While N95 and surgical masks are the most often used PPE, especially in healthcare settings, it would be beneficial to expand the MPENC by looking at how other kinds of face masks, such as KN95, cloth masks, and different models of N95 masks, influence non-compliance. Another aspect that might improve the accuracy of the model is investigating the relationship between an individual's chance of non-compliance and the quantity of PPE they wear via studies introducing different levels and amounts of protective equipment.
- 3. Longitudinal Studies: While participants in this study were exposed to PPE usage eight times, longer-term research is needed to better understand how PPE compliance changes over longer time periods. This will help to understand how adherence practices vary over time. Examining how time affects compliance patterns may add a new predictor to the MPENC and provide a more dynamic view of PPE use.

Addressing and investigating the suggested future research areas can significantly advance our understanding of PPE compliance, ultimately leading to improved protective strategies and safer working environments.